

Year: March 2020

Volume: 7

Issue: 1

ISSN: 2147-9445 E-ISSN: 2587-2478

The Journal of Pediatric Research



Original Articles

Vitamin B12, Infant Dağ et al. Thyroid Function in Obese Children Özlem Korkmaz. Evaluation of Childhood Mastocytosis Akıncı et al. Patient Safety Practices of Nurses Kaleci and Taş Arslan. Surfactant Treatment in Preterm Infants Siyah Bilgin et al. Identification of Substance Abuse Among Children Aladağ Çiftdemir et al. Anxiety Levels and Needs of the Fathers Akçay Didişen et al. Effect of Mother's Lullaby on Physiological Parameters Shafiei et al. Ultrasonography in Screening for DDH

Ürel Demir et al.

Professional Values of Pediatric Nurses Kaya et al.

Mortality Rate and Causes of Death in Children Aged 1-59 Months Safarpour et al.

High-flow Nasal Cannula, Severe Bacterial Pneumonia Yurtseven ve Saz.

Open Globe Injury Sevinç Şahin Atik.

Unexpected Vaccine Reactions in Children with Mastocytosis Abuhay et al.





Official Journal of Ege University Children's Hospital

The Journal of Pediatric Research

FOUNDER

Savaş Kansoy

Ege University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pediatrics, İzmir, Turkey

Özgür Çoğulu

Ege University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pediatrics, İzmir, Turkey E-posta: ozgur.cogulu@ege.edu.tr ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0002-9037-5599

OWNER

Ege Children's Foundation

EDITOR IN CHIEF

Savaş Kansoy

Ege University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pediatrics, İzmir, Turkey

Özgür Çoğulu

Ege University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pediatrics, İzmir, Turkey ozgur.cogulu@ege.edu.tr ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0002-9037-5599

STATISTICS EDITORS

Mehmet Orman

Ege University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Biostatistics and Medical Informatics, İzmir Turkey

Timur Köse Ege University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Bioistatistics, İzmir, Turkey

ENGLISH LANGUAGE EDITOR Brian Sweeney

MANAGING EDITOR Özgür Çoğulu

Ege University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pediatrics, İzmir, Turkey

The Journal of Pediatric Research is the official publication of Ege University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pediatrics and Ege Children's Foundation.

EDITORIAL BOARD ASSOCIATE EDITORS

Özge Altun Köroğlu

Ege University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pediatrics, İzmir, Turkey ozgealtun@yahoo.com ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0001-5998-0742

Feyza Koç Ege University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pediatrics, İzmir, Turkey feyzaumaykoc@yahoo.com ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0002-5891-8506

EDITORS Gülhadiye Akbaş

Balikesir State Hospital, Clinic of Pediatrics Infectious Diseases, Balikesir, Turkey

Serap Aksoylar Ege University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pediatrics, İzmir, Turkey

Güzide Aksu Ege University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pediatrics, İzmir, Turkey

Gül Aktan Ege University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pediatrics, İzmir, Turkey

Özge Altun Köroğlu Ege University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pediatrics, İzmir, Turkey

Aslı Aslan Ege University Faculty of Medicine,Department of Pediatrics, İzmir, Turkey

Tahir Atik Ege University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pediatrics, İzmir, Turkey

Filiz Başak University of Miami Miller School of Medicine, John P. Hussman Institute for Human Genomics, Miami, USA

Zümrüt Başbakkal Ege University Faculty of Nursing, Department of Pediatric Nursing, İzmir, Turkey

Funda Çetin Ege University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pediatrics, İzmir. Turkey

Dilşah Çoğulu Ege University Faculty of Dentistry, Department of Pedodontics, İzmir, Turkey

Urszula Demkow Medical University of Warsaw, Poland Cem Elbi

Bayer HealthCare Pharmaceuticals, Department of Global Clinical Development, Oncology, New York, USA Derya Ercal

Dokuz Eylul University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pediatrics, İzmir, Turkey

Özlem Giray Bozkaya Dokuz Eylul University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pediatrics, İzmir, Turkey

Figen Gülen

Ege University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pediatrics, İzmir, Turkey

Sema Kalkan Uçar

Ege University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pediatrics, İzmir, Turkey semakalkan@hotmail.com

ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0001-9574-7841 Samim Özen

Ege University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pediatrics, İzmir, Turkey

samimozen@gmail.com ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0001-7037-2713

Sema Kalkan Uçar

Ege University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pediatrics, İzmir, Turkey

Ahmet Keskinoğlu Ege University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pediatrics, İzmir, Turkey

Feyza Koç Ege University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pediatrics, İzmir, Turkey

Güldane Koturoğlu Ege University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pediatrics, İzmir, Turkey

Saadet Mahmutoğlu Toronto University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Paediatrics, Division of Clinical and Metabolic Genetics, Toronto, Canada

İlke Nalbantoğlu Washington University, Department of Pathology and Immunology, Missouri, USA

Burcu Özbaran Ege University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Child Psychiatry, İzmir, Turkey

Samim Özen Ege University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pediatrics, İzmir, Turkey

Candan Öztürk Near East University Faculty of Nursing, Department of Pediatric Nursing, Near East Boulevard, Nicosia

Betül Sözeri University of Health Sciences, Ümraniye Education and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

Zümrüt Şahbudak Bal Ege University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pediatrics, Division of Infectious Diseases, İzmir, Turkey

İbrahim Ulman Ege University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pediatrics, İzmir, Turkey

Zülal Ülger Ege University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pediatric Surgery, İzmir, Turkey

Sanem Yılmaz Ege University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pediatrics, Division of Pediatric Neurology, İzmir, Turkey



Official Journal of Ege University Children's Hospital

Scientific Advisory Board

Gülhadiye Akbaş,

Balıkesir State Hospital, Clinic of Pediatrics Infectious Diseases, Balıkesir, Turkey

Serap Aksoylar, Ege University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pediatrics, İzmir, Turkey

Güzide Aksu,

Ege University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pediatrics, İzmir, Turkey Gül Aktan.

Ege University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pediatrics, İzmir, Turkey

Özge Altun Köroğlu, Ege University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pediatrics, İzmir, Turkey

Moshe Arditi, Cedars-Sinai Medical Center, Clinic of Infectious Diseases, Los Angeles, USA

Aslı Aslan, Ege University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pediatrics, İzmir, Turkey

Tahir Atik, Ege University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pediatrics, İzmir, Turkey

Güney Bademci, University of Miami, Miami, USA Soyhan Bağcı,

Bonn University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pediatrics, Bonn, Germany **Filiz Basak**.

University of Miami Miller School of Medicine, John P. Hussman Institute for Human Genomics, Miami, USA

Zümrüt Başbakkal, Ege University Faculty of Nursing, Department of Pediatric Nursing, İzmir, Turkey

Guiseppe Buonocore, Siena University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pediatrics, Siena, İtaly

Funda Çetin, Ege University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pediatrics, İzmir, Turkey

Dilşah Çoğulu, Ege University Faculty of Dentistry, Department of Pedodontics, İzmir, Turkey

Özgür Çoğulu, Ege University Faculty of Medicine,

Department of Pediatrics, İzmir, Turkey

Urszula Demkow,

Warsaw University Faculty of Medicine, Warsaw, Poland

Cem Elbi, Bayer Health Care Pharmaceuticals, Department of Global Clinical Development, Oncology, New York, USA Derva Ercal.

Dokuz Eylül University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pediatrics, İzmir, Turkey

Özlem Giray Bozkaya, Dokuz Eylül University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pediatrics, İzmir, Turkey

Deniz Güngör, Erasmus MC, Lysosomal and Metabolic Diseases, Rotterdam, Netherlands

Figen Gülen, Ege University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pediatrics, İzmir, Turkey

Lena Hellström-Westas, Uppsala University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pediatrics, Uppsala, Sweeden

Eufemia Jacob, UCLA School of Nursing, Los Angeles, USA

Sema Kalkan Uçar, Ege University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pediatrics, İzmir, Turkey

Savaş Kansoy, Ege University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pediatrics, İzmir, Turkey

Ahmet Keskinoğlu, Ege University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pediatrics, İzmir, Turkey

Feyza Koç, Ege University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pediatrics, İzmir, Turkey

Güldane Koturoğlu, Ege University Faculty of Medicine,

Department of Pediatrics, İzmir, Turkey Jos Latour,

Plymouth University School of Nursing and Midwifery, Faculty of Health and Human Sciences, Plymouth, United Kingdom

Saadet Mahmutoğlu,

Toronto University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Paediatrics, Division of Clinical and Metabolic Genetics, Toronto, Canada

Levent Midyat,

Boston Children's Hospital, Boston, USA Neena Modi

Imperial College Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pediatrics, Londra, UK

Guido Moro, President of İtalian Milk Bank Association, Milano, İtaly

İlke Nalbantoğlu, Washington University, Department of Pathology and Immunology, Missouri, USA

Nazmi Narin, Erciyes University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pediatrics, Kayseri, Turkey

Burcu Özbaran, Ege University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Child Psychiatry, İzmir, Turkey

Samim Özen, Ege University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pediatrics, İzmir, Turkey

Candan Öztürk, Near East University Faculty of Nursing, Department of Pediatric Nursing, Near East Boulevard, Nicosia TRNC Mersin 10 – Turkey

Katalin Papp,

Debrecen University, Debrecen, Hungary Betül Sözeri,

University of Health Sciences, Ümraniye Education and Research Hospital, Clinic of Pediatrics Rheumatology, İstanbul, Turkey

Zümrüt Şahbudak Bal,

Ege University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pediatrics. Division of Infectious Diseases, İzmir, Turkey

Ibrahim Ulman, Ege University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pediatric Surgery, İzmir, Turkey

Zülal Ülger,

Ege University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pediatrics, İzmir, Turkey

Saskia Wortmann,

Children's Hospital, Salzburg, Austria Sanem Yılmaz,

Ege University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pediatrics, Division of Pediatric Neurology, İzmir, Turkey



Publisher Contact Address: Molla Gürani Mah. Kaçamak Sk. No: 21/1 34093 İstanbul, Turkey Phone: +90 (212) 621 99 25 Fax: +90 (212) 621 99 27 E-mail: info@galenos.com.tr/yayin@galenos.com.tr Web: www.galenos.com.tr | Publisher Certificate Number: 14521 Printing at: Üniform Basım San. ve Turizm Ltd. Şti. Matbaacılar Sanayi Sitesi 1. Cad. No: 114 34204 Bağcılar, İstanbul, Turkey Phone: +90 (212) 429 10 00 | Certificate Number: 42419 Printing Date: April 2020 ISSN: 2147-9445 E-ISSN: 2587-2478 International scientific journal published quarterly.



Official Journal of Ege University Children's Hospital

About Journal

The Journal of Pediatric Research is the official publication of Ege University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pediatrics and Ege Children's Foundation. It is a peer-reviewed journal published quarterly in March, June, September and December in English language.

The Journal of Pediatric Research is a peer-reviewed, open access journal, which publishes original research articles, invited review articles, clinical reports and case reports in all areas of pediatric research.

The journal publishes original research and review articles, which summarize recent developments about a particular subject based on standards of excellence and expert review and case reports. Target audience includes specialists in general pediatrics and pediatric subspecialties (Emergency Medicine, Allegy and Immunology, Endocrinology, Gastroenterology, Hepatology and Nutrition, Genetics, Cardiology, Hematology-Oncology, Infectious Diseases, Metabolism, Nephrology, Neurology, Rheumatology, Pulmonology, Social Pediatrics, Newborn, Critical Care Medicine, Ethics and Health Service Research), as well as relevant specialties such as Pediatric Surgery, Child and Adolescent Psychiatry, Pedodontics, Pediatric Nursing and Family Physicians. The web page of The Journal of Pediatric Research is http://www.jpedres.org/.

The journal's editorial policies are based on "ICMJE Recommendations" (2016, http://www.icmje.org/) rules.

Statistics Editor evaluates research articles and systematic reviews/metaanalyses for appropriateness of data presentation and correctness of statistical analyses.

All submitted manuscripts are peer reviewed which take on average 6 weeks. Following acceptance of the submission, all authors are required to see and approve the final version of the manuscript and be willing to take responsibility for the entire manuscript. It is strictly expected that submitted manuscripts have not been published elsewhere or even being submitted by another publication. Studies performed on human require ethics committee certificate including approval number. For the manuscripts involving cases, a written informed consent should be obtained from the parents or the responsible persons.

The Journal of Pediatric Research is indexed in Web of Science-Emerging Sources Citation Index (ESCI), Directory of Open Access Journals (DOAJ), EBSCO, British Library, CINAHL Complete Database, ProQuest, Gale/Cengage Learning, Index Copernicus, Tübitak/Ulakbim TR Index, TurkMedline, J-GATE, IdealOnline, ROOT INDEXING, Hinari, GOALI, ARDI, OARE, AGORA, EuroPub and Türkiye Citation Index.

Open Access Policy

This journal provides immediate open access to its content on the principle that making research freely available to the public supports a greater global exchange of knowledge.

Open Access Policy is based on rules of Budapest Open Access Initiative (BOAI) http://www.budapestopenaccessinitiative.org/. By "open access" to [peer-reviewed research literature], we mean its free availability on the public internet, permitting any users to read, download, copy, distribute, print, search, or link to the full texts of these articles, crawl them for indexing, pass them as data to software, or use them for any other lawful

purpose, without financial, legal, or technical barriers other than those inseparable from gaining access to the internet itself. The only constraint on reproduction and distribution, and the only role for copyright in this domain, should be to give authors control over the integrity of their work and the right to be properly acknowledged and cited.

Address for Correspondence

Özgür Çoğulu

Ege University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pediatrics, Bornova, 35100 İzmir, Turkey Phone: +90 232 390 10 05 - 390 10 31

Fax: +90 232 390 13 57 E-mail: ozgur.cogulu@ege.edu.tr

Permissions

Requests for permission to reproduce published material should be sent to the editorial office. Editor: Özgür Çoğulu

Ege University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pediatrics, Bornova, 35100 İzmir, Turkey Phone: +90 232 390 10 05 - 390 10 31 Fax: +90 232 390 13 57

Publishing House

Galenos Yayınevi Tic. Ltd. Şti. Molla Gürani Mah. Kaçamak Sok. No: 21/1 34093, İstanbul, Turkey Phone: +90 212 621 99 25 Fax: +90 212 621 99 27 E-mail: info@galenos.com.tr

Introductions to Authors

Introductions for authors are published in the journal and on the web page www.jpedres.org

Material Disclaimer

The author(s) is (are) responsible from the articles published in the The Journal of Pediatric Research. The editor, editorial board and publisher do not accept any responsibility for the articles.

Subscription Information

Subscription for The Journal of Pediatric Research please contact Galenos Yayinevi (Publishing House).

Subscribers who have not reached the hard copy of the journal within the period should apply to Galenos Publishing House. All issues of the journal with the full texts can be accessed from the journal's address www.jpedres.org.

Cover Photo

Authors are encouraged to send thought-provoking photos which particularly focuses on child theme to be published on the cover page of The Journal of Pediatric Research. Appropriate photos will be published. Photos must send to ozgur.cogulu@ege.edu.tr.

The journal is printed on acid-free paper.



Official Journal of Ege University Children's Hospital

Instructions to Authors

The Journal of Pediatric Research is an official peer-reviewed publication of Ege University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pediatrics and Ege Children's Foundation. This publication organ is responsible for the issue of unique clinical and laboratory research papers, case reports, reviews directly or indirectly related to children's health and diseases. The publication language of the journal is English.

The Journal of Pediatric Research does not charge any article submission or processing charges.

The abbreviation of The Journal of Pediatric Research is JPR, however, it should be denoted as J Pediatr Res when referenced. In the international index and database, the name of the journal has been registered as The Journal of Pediatric Research and abbreviated as J Pediatr Res.

A manuscript will be considered only with the understanding that it is an original contribution that has not been published elsewhere. All manuscripts submitted to the journal for publication are peer-reviewed. Authors shall be informed within a period of 6 weeks about the process. Upon review, those manuscripts, which are accepted, shall be published in the journal and issued on the http://www.jpedres.org official internet address.

The scientific and ethical liability of the manuscripts belongs to the authors and the copyright of the manuscripts belongs to the JPR. Authors are responsible for the contents of the manuscript and accuracy of the references. All manuscripts submitted for publication must be accompanied by the Copyright Transfer Form [copyright transfer]. Once this form, signed by all the authors, has been submitted, it is understood that neither the manuscript nor the data it contains have been submitted elsewhere or previously published and authors declare the statement of scientific contributions and responsibilities of all authors.

All manuscripts submitted to the The Journal of Pediatric Research are screened for plagiarism using the 'iThenticate' software. Results indicating plagiarism may result in manuscripts being returned or rejected.

Experimental, clinical and drug studies requiring approval by an ethics committee must be submitted to The Journal of Pediatric Research with an ethics committee approval report confirming that the study was conducted in accordance with international agreements and the Declaration of Helsinki (revised 2013) (http://www.wma.net/en/30publications/10policies/b3/). The approval of the ethics committee and the fact that informed consent was given by the patients should be indicated in the Materials and Methods section. In experimental animal studies, the authors should indicate that the procedures followed were in accordance with animal rights as per the Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals (http://oacu.od.nih.gov/regs/guide/guide. pdf) and they should obtain animal ethics committee approval.

Authors must provide disclosure/acknowledgment of financial or material support, if any was received, for the current study.

If the article includes any direct or indirect commercial links or if any institution provided material support to the study, authors must state in the cover letter that they have no relationship with the commercial product, drug, pharmaceutical company, etc. concerned; or specify the type of relationship (consultant, other agreements), if any.

Authors must provide a statement on the absence of conflicts of interest among the authors and provide authorship contributions.

The Journal of Pediatric Research is an independent international journal based on double-blind peer-review principles. The manuscript is assigned to the Editor-in-Chief, who reviews the manuscript and makes an initial decision based on manuscript quality and editorial priorities. Manuscripts that pass initial evaluation are sent for external peer review, and the Editor-in-Chief assigns an Associate Editor. The Associate Editor sends the manuscript to reviewers (internal and/or external reviewers). The reviewers must review the manuscript within 21 days. The Associate Editor recommends a decision based on the reviewers' recommendations and returns the manuscript to the Editor-in-Chief. The Editor-in-Chief makes a final decision based on editorial priorities, manuscript quality, and reviewer recommendations. If there are any conflicting recommendations from reviewers, the Editor-in-Chief can assign a new reviewer.

The scientific board guiding the selection of the papers to be published in the Journal consists of elected experts of the Journal and if necessary, selected from national and international authorities. The Editor-in-Chief, Associate Editors, biostatistics expert and English language consultant may make minor corrections to accepted manuscripts that do not change the main text of the paper.

In case of any suspicion or claim regarding scientific shortcomings or ethical infringement, the Journal reserves the right to submit the manuscript to the supporting institutions or other authorities for investigation. The Journal accepts the responsibility of initiating action but does not undertake any responsibility for an actual investigation or any power of decision.

The Editorial Policies and General Guidelines for manuscript preparation specified below are based on "Recommendations for the Conduct, Reporting, Editing, and Publication of Scholarly Work in Medical Journals (ICMJE Recommendations)" by the International Committee of Medical Journal Editors (2016, archived at http://www.icmje.org/).

Preparation of research articles, systematic reviews and meta-analyses must comply with study design guidelines:

CONSORT statement for randomized controlled trials (Moher D, Schultz KF, Altman D, for the CONSORT Group. The CONSORT statement revised recommendations for improving the quality of reports of parallel group randomized trials. JAMA 2001; 285:1987-91) (http://www.consort-statement.org/);

PRISMA statement of preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses (Moher D, Liberati A, Tetzlaff J, Altman DG, The PRISMA Group. Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses: The PRISMA Statement. PLoS Med 2009; 6(7): e1000097.) (http://www.prisma-statement.org/);

STARD checklist for the reporting of studies of diagnostic accuracy (Bossuyt PM, Reitsma JB, Bruns DE, Gatsonis CA, Glasziou PP, Irwig LM, et al., for the STARD Group. Towards complete and accurate reporting of studies of diagnostic accuracy: the STARD initiative. Ann Intern Med 2003;138:40-4.) (http://www.stard-statement.org/);

STROBE statement, a checklist of items that should be included in reports of observational studies (http://www.strobe-statement.org/);

MOOSE guidelines for meta-analysis and systemic reviews of observational studies (Stroup DF, Berlin JA, Morton SC, et al. Meta-analysis of observational studies in epidemiology: a proposal for reporting Meta-analysis of observational Studies in Epidemiology (MOOSE) group. JAMA 2000; 283: 2008-12).

GENERAL GUIDELINES

Manuscripts can only be submitted electronically through the Journal Agent website (https://www.journalagent.com/jpr/) after creating an account. This system allows online submission and review.

Author should suggest three reviewers while submitting an original article through online article system.

The manuscripts are archived according to Web of Science-Emerging Sources Citation Index (ESCI), Directory of Open Access Journals (DOAJ), EBSCO, British



Official Journal of Ege University Children's Hospital

Instructions to Authors

Library, CINAHL Complete Database, ProQuest, Gale/Cengage Learning, Index Copernicus, Tübitak/Ulakbim TR Index, TurkMedline, J-GATE, IdealOnline, ROOT INDEXING, Hinari, GOALI, ARDI, OARE, AGORA, EuroPub and Türkiye Citation Index.

The ORCID (Open Researcher and Contributor ID) number of the correspondence author should be provided while sending the manuscript. A free registration can be created at http://orcid.org.

Format: Unique research papers cover clinical research, observational studies, novel techniques, and experimental and laboratory studies. Unique research papers shall consist of a heading, abstract, keywords related to the main topic of the paper, introduction, materials and methods, results, discussion, acknowledgements, bibliography, tables and figures. Manuscripts should be prepared using 12 pt "Times New Roman" and 1.5 line spacing. The text shall not exceed 2500 words. Case reports must contain rare cases or those that are unique in diagnosis and treatment, those which contribute to current knowledge and provide educational information, along with the introduction, case reporting and discussion sections. The whole text must not exceed 1500 words. Reviews are texts in which a current subject is examined independently, with reference to scientific literature. The whole text must not exceed 18 A4 paper sheets. Letters to the Editor must be manuscripts, which do not exceed 1000 words, with reference to scientific literature, and those written in response to issued literature or those, which include development in the field of pediatrics. These manuscripts do not contain an abstract. The number of references is limited to 5

Abbreviations: Abbreviations should be defined at first mention and used consistently thereafter. Internationally accepted abbreviations should be used; refer to scientific writing guides as necessary.

Cover letter: The cover letter should include statements about manuscript type, single-journal submission affirmation, conflict of interest statement, sources of outside funding, equipment (if applicable), approval of language for articles in English and approval of statistical analysis for original research articles.

REFERENCES

Authors are solely responsible for the accuracy of all references.

In-text citations: References shall be listed as the below formats on a separate page according to their sequence within the text and referred to within the text in parentheses.

Presentations presented in congresses, unpublished manuscripts, theses, Internet addresses, and personal interviews or experiences should not be indicated as references. If such references are used, they should be indicated in parentheses at the end of the relevant sentence in the text, without reference number and written in full, in order to clarify their nature.

References section: All author names shall be stated within all references. References shall be listed as the below formats on a separate page according to their sequence within the text and referred to within the text in parentheses. However, in studies where author numbers exceed 6, names of the first 3 authors shall be stated;"et al." additions shall be made to the list of authors in English references, respectively. The titles of journals should be abbreviated according to the style used in the Index Medicus.

Reference Format

Journal: Last name(s) of the author(s) and initials, article title, publication title and its original abbreviation, publication date, volume, the inclusive page numbers. **Example:** Koening JQ. Air pollution and asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1999; 104:717-22. **Book:** Last name(s) of the author(s) and initials, book title, edition, place of publication, date of publication and inclusive page numbers of the extract cited.

Example: Fletcher CDM, Unni KK, Mertens F. Genetics of Tumours of Soft Tissue and Bone. Lyon, France, IARC Press, 2002. p. 225-419.

Book Chapter: Last name(s) of the author(s) and initials, chapter title, book editors, book title, edition, place of publication, date of publication and inclusive page numbers of the cited piece.

Example: Whitsett JA, Pryhuber GS, Rice WR. Acuteres piratory disorders. In: Avery GB, Mac- Donald MG (eds). Neonatology: Pathophysiology and Management of the Newborn, 5th ed. Philadelphia, Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, 1999;505-15.

TABLES, GRAPHICS, FIGURES, AND IMAGES

All visual materials together with their legends should be located on separate pages that follow the main text. Original documents such as films, ECG records must not be delivered. All cost related to colored printouts shall be covered by the authors' own expenses.

Images: Images (pictures) should be numbered and include a brief title. Permission to reproduce pictures that were published elsewhere must be included. All pictures should be of the highest quality possible, in JPEG format, and at a minimum resolution of 300 dpi.

Tables, Graphics, Figures: All tables, graphics or figures should be enumerated according to their sequence within the text and a brief descriptive caption should be written. Tables shall be numbered by Roman numerals (I, II) according to their sequence, and shall include a heading. Figures shall be numbered by Arabic numerals (1,2) according to their sequence. Any abbreviations used should be defined in the accompanying legend. Tables in particular should be explanatory and facilitate readers' understanding of the manuscript, and should not repeat data presented in the main text. A maximum of 2 figures or photographs shall be added to case reports.

BIOSTATISTICS

To ensure controllability of the research findings, the study design, study sample, and the methodological approaches and applications should be explained and their sources should be presented.

The "p" value defined as the limit of significance along with appropriate indicators of measurement error and uncertainty (confidence interval, etc.) should be specified. Statistical terms, abbreviations and symbols used in the article should be described and the software used should be defined. Statistical terminology (random, significant, correlation, etc.) should not be used in non-statistical contexts.

All results of data and analysis should be presented in the Results section as tables, figures and graphics; biostatistical methods used and application details should be presented in the Materials and Methods section or under a separate title.

MANUSCRIPT TYPES

Original Articles

Unique research papers cover clinical research, observational studies, novel techniques, and experimental and laboratory studies. Unique research papers shall consist of a heading, abstract, keywords related to the main topic of the paper, introduction, materials and methods, results, discussion, acknowledgements, bibliography, tables and figures. The text shall not exceed 2500 words. Case reports must contain rare cases or those that are unique in diagnosis and treatment, those which contribute to current knowledge and provide educational information, along with the introduction, case reporting and



Official Journal of Ege University Children's Hospital

Instructions to Authors

discussion sections. The whole text must not exceed 1500 words. Reviews are texts in which a current subject is examined independently, with reference to scientific literature. The whole text must not exceed 18 A4 paper sheets. Letters to the Editor must be manuscripts, which do not exceed 1000 words, with reference to scientific literature, and those written in response to issued literature or those, which include development in the field of pediatrics. These manuscripts do not contain an abstract. The number of references is limited to 5.

Title Page: This page should include the title of the manuscript, short title, name(s) of the authors and author information. The following descriptions should be stated in the given order:

1. Title of the manuscript (English), as concise and explanatory as possible, including no abbreviations, up to 135 characters

2. Short title (English), up to 60 characters

3. Name(s) and surname(s) of the author(s) (without abbreviations and academic titles) and affiliations

4. Name, address, e-mail, phone and fax number of the corresponding author

5. The place and date of scientific meeting in which the manuscript was presented and its abstract published in the abstract book, if applicable

Abstract: A summary of the manuscript should be written in English. References should not be cited in the abstract. Use of abbreviations should be avoided as much as possible; if any abbreviations are used, they must be taken into consideration independently of the abbreviations used in the text.

For original articles, the structured abstract should include the following subheadings:

Aim: The aim of the study should be clearly stated.

Materials and Methods: The study and standard criteria used should be defined; it should also be indicated whether the study is randomized or not, whether it is retrospective or prospective, and the statistical methods applied should be indicated, if applicable.

Results: The detailed results of the study should be given and the statistical significance level should be indicated.

Conclusion: Should summarize the results of the study, the clinical applicability of the results should be defined, and the favorable and unfavorable aspects should be declared.

Keywords: A list of minimum 3, but no more than 5 key words must follow the abstract. Key words should be consistent with "Medical Subject Headings (MESH)" (www.nlm.nih.gov/mesh/MBrowser.html).

Original research articles should have the following sections:

Introduction: Should consist of a brief explanation of the topic and indicate the objective of the study, supported by information from the literature.

Materials and Methods: The study plan should be clearly described, indicating whether the study is randomized or not, whether it is retrospective or prospective, the number of trials, the characteristics, and the statistical methods used.

Results: The results of the study should be stated, with tables/figures given in numerical order; the results should be evaluated according to the statistical analysis methods applied. See General Guidelines for details about the preparation of visual material.

Discussion: The study results should be discussed in terms of their favorable and unfavorable aspects and they should be compared with the literature. The conclusion of the study should be highlighted.

Study Limitations: Limitations of the study should be discussed. In addition, an evaluation of the implications of the obtained findings/results for future research should be outlined.

Conclusion: The conclusion of the study should be highlighted.

Acknowledgements: Any technical or financial support or editorial contributions (statistical analysis, English evaluation) towards the study should appear at the end of the article.

References: Authors are responsible for the accuracy of the references. See General Guidelines for details about the usage and formatting required.

Case Reports

Case reports should present cases which are rarely seen, feature novelty in diagnosis and treatment, and contribute to our current knowledge. The first page should include the title in English, an unstructured summary not exceeding 50 words, and key words. The main text should consist of introduction, case report, discussion and references. The entire text should not exceed 1500 words (A4, formatted as specified above). A maximum of 10 references shall be used in case reports.

Review Articles

Review articles can address any aspect of clinical or laboratory pediatry. Review articles must provide critical analyses of contemporary evidence and provide directions for future research. **The journal only accepts and publishes invited reviews.** Before sending a review, discussion with the editor is recommended.

Reviews articles analyze topics in depth, independently and objectively. The first chapter should include the title in English, an unstructured summary and key words. Source of all citations should be indicated. The entire text should not exceed 18 pages (A4, formatted as specified above

Letters to the Editor

Letters to the Editor should be short commentaries related to current developments in pediatrics and their scientific and social aspects, or may be submitted to ask questions or offer further contributions in response to work that has been published in the Journal. Letters do not include a title or an abstract; they should not exceed 1.000 words and can have up to 5 references.

COMMERCIALIZATION

Commercialization issues shall be discussed with the editor. It is possible to include an advertisement on the outer and inner pages of the journal.

COPYRIGHT

All copyright of the journal belongs to the related institutions.

The Journal of Pediatric Research is the publication organ of Ege University Faculty of Medicine Department of Pediatrics, supported by Ege Children's Foundation (E ζ V).

CORRESPONDENCE

Prof. Dr. Özgür Çoğulu

The Journal of Pediatric Research

Ege University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pediatrics, Bornova, 35100 izmir, Turkey

Phone: +90 232 390 10 05 - 390 10 31

Fax: +90 232 390 13 57

E-mail: ozgur.cogulu@ege.edu.tr



Official Journal of Ege University Children's Hospital

Contents

Original Articles

- 1 Vitamin B12 Serum Levels of Six to Nine-month-old Infants According to Feeding Practices Hüseyin Dağ, Melike Özberk Koç, Okan Dikker, Hasan Dursun; İstanbul, Turkey
- **7** Thyroid Function in Obese Children and Adolescents and its Relationships with Metabolic Parameters Özlem Korkmaz; Adana, Turkey
- 13 ► Retrospective Evaluation of Childhood Cutaneous Mastocytosis Cases Burcu Akıncı, Hamiyet Hekimci Özdemir, Nihal Özdemir Karadaş, Akkız Şahin Yaşar, Zuhal Önder Siviş, Yeşim Aydınok, Kaan Kavaklı, Can Balkan, Deniz Yılmaz Karapınar; İzmir, Turkey
- **18** ► Patient Safety Related Implementations of Nurses Working in the Neonatal Intensive Care Unit and Related Factors *Elanur Kaleci, Fatma Taş Arslan; Konya, Turkey*
- 25 ► Single Versus Multiple Doses of Surfactant Treatment in Preterm Infants Betül Siyah Bilgin, Özge Altun Köroğlu, Demet Terek, Mehmet Yalaz, Mete Akisu, Nilgün Kültürsay; İzmir, Turkey
- 31► Identification of Substance Abuse Among Children in a Pediatric Emergency Department Nükhet Aladağ Çiftdemir, Tuba Eren, Yasemin Karal; Edirne, Turkey
- **38** ► Anxiety Levels and Needs of Fathers of Children Hospitalized in Pediatric Surgery Intensive Care Units *Nurdan Akçay Didişen, Atiye Karakul, Sevinç Ertürk, Zafer Dökümcü; İzmir, Turkey*
- **46** ► The Effect of Mother's Lullaby on Preterm Infants' Physiological Parameters Elham Shafiei, Hojjat Sheikhbardsiri, Hamideh Baniasadi, Zahra Dneshvar Ameri, Mehdi Yaseri; Tehran, Kerman, Iran
- 52 Ultrasonographic Screening and the Determination of Risk Factors involved in Developmental Dysplasia of the Hip Gizem Ürel Demir, Eyüp Sarı, Selmin Karademir, Çiğdem Üner, Yasemin Taşcı Yıldız, Ulaş Onay, Şenol Bekmez; Ankara, Turkey
- 58 ► Professional Values and Job Satisfaction Levels of Pediatric Nurses and Influencing Factors: A Cross-sectional Study Ayla Kaya, Derya Çelik, Ayşegül İşler Dalgıç; Antalya, Turkey
- 64 Mortality Rate and Causes of Death in Children Aged 1-59 Months in Northeastern Iran During 2011-2017 Mehdi Safarpour, Amir Tiyuri, Parvin Mohamadzade, Maryam Dadjo, Seyed Ahmad Hashemy, Masume Mohamadzade, Ehsan Shahrestanaki; Tehran, Bojnurd, Babol, Iran
- 71► The Effectiveness of Heated Humidified High-flow Nasal Cannula in Children with Severe Bacterial Pneumonia in the Emergency Department

Ali Yurtseven, Eylem Ulaş Saz; İzmir, Turkey

- 77 ► Open Globe Injury in Children Sevinç Şahin Atik; İzmir, Turkey
- **81**► Occurrence of Unexpected Adverse Reactions to Vaccines in Children with Mastocytosis Hanna Abuhay, Alicia S. Clark, Melody C. Carter; Bethesda, MD





Official Journal of Eue University Children's Hospita

Editorial

Dear Readers,

We are so proud and happy to welcome you to the second issue of "The Journal of Pediatric Research" in 2020. Nowadays, the coronavirus covid-19 outbreak that has influenced the whole world has changed the course of life. The importance of investments in scientific research was once again revealed. With the efforts of healthcare professionals and scientists, the world will survive these troubled days. In this respect, it will continue to publish very valuable scientific researches in our journal without slowing down.

The Journal of Pediatric Research is indexed in Web of Science-Emerging Sources Citation Index (ESCI), Embase, Directory of Open Access Journals (DOAJ), EBSCO, British Library, CINAHL Complete Database, ProQuest, Gale/ Cengage Learning, Index Copernicus, Tübitak/Ulakbim TR Index, TurkMedline, J-GATE, IdealOnline, ROOT INDEXING, Hinari, GOALI, ARDI, OARE, AGORA, EuroPub and Türkiye Citation Index.

In this issue, we present you with 14 research articles from different disciplines. This issue, with its articles published, covers several scientific areas in pediatrics such as neonatology, pediatric endocrinology, pediatric hematology, pediatric emergency medicine, pediatric immunology, and pediatric nursing. This broad range makes our journal special. The impact factor of "The Journal of Pediatric Research" is growing and it gives us hope to enter greater scientific areas and new international indexes.

I would like to acknowledge the members of our editorial board reviewers, authors and Galenos Publishing House for preparing the first issue of 2020. We look forward to your scientific contributions in our future issues.

Sincerely yours,

Tahir Atik, M.D., PhD, Assoc. Prof. Section Editor



Vitamin B12 Serum Levels of Six to Nine-monthold Infants According to Feeding Practices

👁 Hüseyin Dağ¹, 👁 Melike Özberk Koç², 👁 Okan Dikker³, 👁 Hasan Dursun¹

¹University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Okmeydanı Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Pediatrics, İstanbul, Turkey ²Bakırköy Children's Health and Diseases Clinic, Department of Pediatricians, İstanbul, Turkey ³University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Okmeydanı Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Medical Biochemistry, İstanbul, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Aim: Vitamin B12 is naturally obtained from animal-derived foods and is important for the development and wellbeing of babies. Vitamin B12 deficiency is a general health concern in developing countries. This study aimed to investigate the effects of different feeding practices on vitamin B12 levels and hemogram parameters in infants aged 6-9 months.

Materials and Methods: A total of 120 infants (61 boys, 59 girls) aged 6-9 months were retrospectively evaluated. These babies were assigned to three groups according to feeding practices: 1) only breast milk, 2) breast milk and formula, and 3) only formula in addition to complementary foods. Laboratory data (vitamin B12, hemoglobin, hematocrit, mean corpuscular volume, white blood cell count, and absolute neutrophil count) of the patients were retrospectively compared.

Results: The mean and median age of the patients was 6.6 ± 1.1 months. The vitamin B12 levels in babies that only received formula were statistically significantly higher than those in babies taking only breast milk or taking both breast milk and formula (p<0.05). Furthermore, vitamin B12 levels were significantly lower in babies receiving only breast milk than in those receiving both formula and breast milk (p<0.001).

Conclusion: This study showed that vitamin B12 levels were lower in babies that only received breast milk compared to those in babies receiving formula. The babies that were receiving formula only had the highest levels of vitamin B12. This study determined that breast milk alone was not sufficient to maintain normal levels of vitamin B12 in 6 to 9-month-old babies in the region. Therefore, both mothers and babies should be provided with the necessary support in terms of vitamin B12 levels, and prophylaxis should be discussed from the viewpoint of preventive healthcare services.

Keywords: Child, breast milk, formula, vitamin B12

Introduction

The most significant role of vitamin B12 is its function in DNA synthesis, which is required for cell division and proliferation. Vitamin B12 is water-soluble and synthesized mainly by microorganisms. Humans cannot synthesize vitamin B12. Vitamin B12 is obtained from cobalamin in foods, and especially in animal-derived foods. Dietary deficiency of this vitamin is rare for those who have normal eating habits, as the amount of vitamin B12 is sufficient in most animalobtained foods. However, vitamin B12 inadequacy is seen in those with a low dietary intake of vitamin B12 (1).

Vitamin B12 is a significant factor for the process of child development. Vitamin B12 deficiency can cause neurological disorders and hematologic changes, in addition

Address for Correspondence

Hüseyin Dağ MD, University of Health Sciences, İstanbul Okmeydanı Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Pediatrics, İstanbul, Turkey Phone: +90 553 393 34 98 E-mail: huseyindag2003@gmail.com ORCID: orcid.org/0000-0001-7596-7687 **Received:** 05.01.2019 **Accepted:** 05.02.2019

> ©Copyright 2020 by Ege University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pediatrics and Ege Children's Foundation The Journal of Pediatric Research, published by Galenos Publishing House.

to developmental delays and regressions (1). Vitamin B12 fortified foods and supplements, in addition to animalderived foods, can be consumed in cases of deficiency (2). Vitamin B12 inadequacy is prevalent in those on strict vegetarian or vegan regimes as well as in individuals who live in developing countries (3-6).

Breast milk is the main source of micronutrients needed by a newborn (7), and babies who are only fed with breast milk receive nearly 0.25 μ g vitamin B12 from a healthy mother within the first 6 months (4). The vitamin B12 level of babies is associated with the vitamin B12 level of their mothers (8). Previous studies have shown that babies receiving breast milk alone had notably lower serum vitamin B12 rates in comparison to those babies receiving formula (9,10).

Delayed diagnosis and treatment during childhood, in spite of the low cost of this treatment, may entail irreversible neurological damage, in addition to severe anemia. Therefore, patients presenting to an outpatient clinic should be examined for vitamin B12 inadequacy. Anemia within the first 2 years of life can occur due to a vitamin B12 deficiency in breastmilk, especially in developing countries, and manifests with neurodevelopmental delay (11,12).

This research aimed at investigating the effectiveness of varied feeding practices on vitamin B12 serum levels and hemogram parameters in 6 to 9-month-old infants.

Materials and Methods

The Clinical Trials Ethics Committee of Okmeydani Training and Research Hospital approved this study as per the approval number:1079, date: December 18th, 2018. Consent forms were filled out by all participants. The study groups consisted of 120 babies aged 6-9 months, consisting of 61 males and 59 females who did not have any medical problems and were brought to the pediatric outpatient clinics of Okmeydanı Training and Research Hospital between January 2018 and November 2018 for routine checkup and immunization follow-up. Data on feeding history and multivitamin use were obtained for all infants. Babies who were premature, had a low birth weight, had any metabolic or chronic disease, or were hospitalized for any disease were excluded from this study. Patients who had incomplete files, or those who did not have data concerning B12 levels or complete blood count data, or those with an indeterminable feeding history were not included in this study.

The infants were divided into three groups according to their feeding practices: 1) only breast milk, 2) breast milk and formula, and 3) only formula in addition to complementary foods. In this study, 77 babies received only breast milk, 19 babies received both breast milk and formula, and 24 babies received formula only. In addition, all babies were receiving complementary foods according to the statements of their families. However, objective data on the amount of complementary foods given to the baby could not be obtained. Laboratory datum [vitamin B12, hemoglobin (Hb), hematocrit (Hct), mean corpuscular volume (MCV), white blood cell count (WBC), and absolute neutrophil count (ANC)] of the patients were retrospectively evaluated between the groups. Vitamin B12 levels were assayed using the chemiluminescent immunoassay with a Roche Cobas Integra 400 Plus analyzer. Values lower than 250 pg/mL were considered low. Hemogram parameters were assayed with a Mindray BC-6800 hemogram device.

Statistical Analysis

Data were analyzed using the SPSS 20.0 for Windows package software (IBM). Continuous variable data with a normal distribution are given as mean ± standard deviation, and data with a non-normal distribution are given as median and range. Data with a normal distribution was analyzed using a histogram and Kolmogorov-Smirnov test. The statistical differences between non-normal data were analyzed using the Mann-Whitney U test, while the differences between more than two groups were analyzed using the Kruskal-Wallis test. The statistical differences between two categorical datasets were analyzed using the chi-square test. Categorical data are stated numerically with percentage. P<0.05 was acknowledged as statistically meaningful.

Results

The mean and median age of the patients was 6.6 ± 1.1 months; 50.8% (n=61) of the patients were male and 49.1% (n=59) of the patients were female. Vitamin B12 levels in those infants that only received formula were statistically notably higher than those in infants receiving only breast milk or both breast milk and formula (p<0.05). Vitamin B12 levels were significantly lower in infants receiving only breast milk than in those receiving formula in addition to breast milk (p<0.05). There was no statistically notable difference between the groups in terms of Hb, Hct, MCV, WBC, and ANC levels (Table 1).

Vitamin B12 deficiency was mainly seen in babies receiving only breast milk. None of the babies receiving only formula had vitamin B12 deficiency (Table 2).

The mean baby weight, gender, type of birth (normal birth or cesarean section) and gestational weeks of the three groups were found to be statistically similar (Table 3).

Discussion

ANC (mm³)

2.224±1.465

Vitamin B12 deficiency is a health worry generally encountered in developing countries (5). Vitamin B12 is critical for development during the fetal, neonatal, and infancy periods.

Therefore, vitamin B12 deficiency can cause numerous diseases, especially developmental and neurological disorders (13,14). It is important for a mother to consume foods that are rich in vitamin B12 throughout the lactation period (15). It is recommended to breastfeed babies for more than 6 months, and breast milk is a natural source of vitamin B12 for the baby. However, some studies have shown that restrictive vegetarian and vegan diets resulted in lower levels of vitamin B12 in the mother and therefore led to vitamin B12 deficiency in babies (4,15-18). Vitamin B12

Table I. Biochemical data of the groups according to feeding practices Parameters Babies Babies Babies р receiving receiving receiving breast milk breast milk formula only only (n=77) + formula (n=24) (mean ± SD) (n=19) (mean ± SD) (mean ± SD) Vitamin B12 228.8±155.5 359.5±192.9 618.5±248.2 0.002 (pg/mL) Hb (g/dL) 11.5±1.0 11.6±0.8 11.9±1.0 0.404 Hct (%) 33.8±3.2 33.0±2.5 34.1±3.0 0.295 MCV (fL) 90.6±106.5 73.4 ± 3.3 74.9±4.3 0.380 WBC (mm³) 9.549±2.544 10.248±2.568 8.655±1.541 0.194

*, Kruskal-Wallis test, ANC: Absolute neutrophil count, MCV: Mean corpuscular volume, RBC: Red blood cell, WBC: White blood cell, SD: Standard deviation, Hb: Hemoglobin, Hct: Hematocrit

1.762±714

deficiency is not uncommon in babies receiving only breast milk (4,17-21). Studies have shown that babies who were fed formula had increased vitamin B12 levels compared to those that were breast fed (9,10).

In this study, the effects of varied feeding implementations on vitamin B12 levels in the bloodstream of babies who were brought to our hospital were investigated. Similar to other studies, this current study revealed that vitamin B12 levels were lower in infants receiving only breast milk compared to those receiving formula in addition to breast milk as well as those receiving only formula. It was also observed that those babies who were only receiving formula had much higher levels of vitamin B12. According to these results, it was apparent that vitamin B12 levels differed according to feeding practices. It is therefore important to consume formulas fortified with vitamin B12 to prevent vitamin B12 deficiency.

Vitamin B12 insufficiency in mothers is the leading reason of vitamin B12 deficiency in babies during infancy. When babies are only fed breast milk, they can have severe vitamin B12 deficiency if their mothers also have vitamin B12 deficiency. (22,23). In a study conducted in Istanbul and Izmit, Ackurt reported that 48% of women in the early pregnancy period (13-17 weeks), 80% of women in the late pregnancy period (28-32 weeks), and 60% of women in the postpartum period had vitamin B12 deficiency. In addition, the delayed or non-introduction of complementary feeding or feeding babies with cow's milk as the primary food source contributed to vitamin B12 insufficiency in infants (24). In

Table II. Evaluation of vitamin B12 levels according to the reference interval in different feeding practices								
	BabiesBabiesBabiesreceivingreceivingreceivingonly breastbreast milkonlymilk (n=77)and formulaformula(n=19)(n=24)							
Vitamin B12 below the reference interval	37 (48.1%)	3 (15.8%)	0-0					
Vitamin B12 within the reference interval	40 (51.9%)	16 (84.2%)	24 (100%)					

Table III. Demographic features of babies									
	Babies receiving breast milk (n=77)	Babies receiving breast milk + formula (n=19)	Babies receiving formula only (n=24)	р					
Baby weight (gram)	3,520.2 ±199.5	3.466±121.2	3.320±124.2	0=0.124					
Baby gender (male/female)	35/42	10/9	13/11	0=0.130					
Delivery method (normal birth/cesarean section)	45/32	13/6	17/7	0=0.109					
Gestational week (week)	39.1±0.4	39.3±0.8	38.9±0.7	0=0.095					

0.400

1.989±714

another study conducted in Sivas, Demirel et al. (25) stated that the incidence of vitamin B12 insufficiency during the third trimester was 66.7% in healthy pregnant women.

In a study by Koç et al. (26), 39.8% of babies who were healthy according to their families had a vitamin B12 deficiency, and 75% of the mothers of those babies with vitamin B12 deficiency also had vitamin B12 insufficiency. Monagle et al. (27) found infantile megaloblastic anemia in 19 children under the age of 1 in their clinic, and reported that vitamin B12 insufficiency in 6 (30%) children was secondary to the vitamin B12 insufficiency in their mothers, and that these 6 children were only receiving breast milk. In another study, Minet et al. (28) demonstrated that healthy infants who were receiving breast milk had lower vitamin B12 levels than those who were receiving formula.

This current study's findings are similar to the results of previous studies. It has been determined that, despite complementary feeding, breast milk alone was not adequate to sustain normal levels of vitamin B12 in 6 to 9-month-old infants in this region. Vitamin B12 levels, which can lead to negative outcomes in cases of deficiency, should be measured in infants (22,28). Vitamin B12 levels should also be assessed in mothers, and those with low levels of vitamin B12 should be provided with vitamin supplement in order to increase the vitamin B12 level in their breast milk. Accordingly, a vitamin B12 test and complete blood count should be performed when an infant is brought to an outpatient clinic. In this study, 3 babies had a vitamin B12 deficiency even though they were receiving formula in addition to breast milk. Consequently, formula intake cannot completely rule out vitamin B12 deficiency, since infants taking formula in addition to breast milk also had a vitamin B12 deficiency.

When clinical signs suggest vitamin B12 deficiency in a child, fasting plasma homocysteine levels should be investigated even if serum vitamin B12 level and MCV results are normal. It has been reported that testing only for vitamin B12 levels could lead to a misdiagnosis in 10-26% of patients. Accuracy can be increased to 99.8% when methyl malonic acid and homocysteine tests are carried out (29). Accurate diagnosis is of the utmost importance in these patients in order to administer vitamin B12 in addition to treatment to the infants receiving breast milk. Homocysteine levels were not measured in this study as none of the patients had neurodevelopmental disorders, according to their records. Moreover, we suggest that standard algorithms concerning an approach to vitamin B12 deficiency in children can be created as the number of studies on this field increases.

Previous studies have shown that vitamin B12 insufficiency can be caused by strict vegetarian diets or pernicious anemia for 90% of infants (27,30). On the other hand, determinants such as poverty or low socioeconomic status, incorrect feeding habits, and an increased use of vitamin B12 due to a high number of pregnancies also have an impact on the high percentage of vitamin B12 deficiency in babies and their mothers in underdeveloped and developing countries (31,32). It is also apparent that the risk of developing vitamin B12 deficiency increases with lower economic status and a higher number of pregnancies. In the current study, none of the babies receiving formula had a vitamin B12 deficiency. Therefore, infants should receive a sufficient amount of complementary foods rich in vitamin B12. Accordingly, it is important to consider and provide early treatment for vitamin B12 deficiency in breastfeeding mothers and their infants with a low intake of animal-derived foods, especially in regions with low socioeconomic status, in addition to a vegetarian diet.

Of the hematologic findings for vitamin B12 deficiency, increased MCV characteristically develops before anemia, and the clinical signs are observed at a later time. This study found that there was no statistically major variation between the groups with respect to MCV levels in healthy infants who had different feeding practices. However, the MCV levels in infants that only received breast milk were increased compared to those in the other groups.

It was observed that vitamin B12 levels were lower in infants taking only breast milk than in those taking formula, and that babies who were only taking formula had the highest levels of vitamin B12. This research confirmed that breast milk alone was not adequate to maintain normal levels of vitamin B12 in 6 to 9-month-old infants in the region. Accordingly, vitamin B12 levels should be checked during pregnancy and in case of deficiency, a suitable replacement therapy should be provided for pregnant women in a manner to encompass the postpartum period in order to protect the baby from the dramatic outcomes of vitamin B12 insufficiency. Vitamin B12 levels must be tested in addition to a complete blood count in routine screening of children. Formula should be recommended for babies found to have vitamin B12 deficiency to supplement insufficient breast milk from their mothers. Replacements should be administered if there is a vitamin B12 deficiency despite sufficient breast milk. In addition, routine B12 prophylaxis and dosages in infants should be discussed as a part of preventive medicine practices in developing countries.

Acknowledgments: This research did not receive any specific grants from any funding agency in the public, commercial, or not-for-profit sector.

Ethics

Ethics Committee Approval: The Clinical Trials Ethics Committee of Okmeydanı Training and Research Hospital approved this study as per the approval number: 1079, date: December 18th, 2018.

Informed Consent: Consent forms were filled out by all participants.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Authorship Contributions

Concept: H.D., M.Ö.K., Design: M.Ö.K., O.D., H.D., Data Collection or Processing: H.D., Analysis or Interpretation: O.D., Ha.D., Literature Search: Ha.D., Writing: H.D.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study received no financial support.

References

- 1. Monsen AL, Refsum H, Markestad T, Ueland PM. Cobalamin status and its biochemical markers methylmalonic acid and homocysteine in different age groups from 4 days to 19 years. Clin Chem 2003;49:2067-75.
- Allen LH. How common is vitamin B-12 deficiency? Am J Clin Nutr 2009;89:693S-6S.
- Pawlak R, Parrott SJ, Raj S, Cullum-Dugan D, Lucus D. How prevalent is vitamin B(12) deficiency among vegetarians? Nutr Rev 2013;71:110-7.
- Dror DK, Allen LH. Effect of vitamin B12 deficiency on neurodevelopment in infants: current knowledge and possible mechanisms. Nutr Rev 2008;66:250-5.
- Ng'eno BN, Perrine CG, Whitehead RD, et al. High Prevalence of Vitamin B12 Deficiency and No Folate Deficiency in Young Children in Nepal. Nutrients 2017;9. pii: E72.
- Jones KM, Ramirez-Zea M, Zuleta C, Allen LH. Prevalent vitamin B-12 deficiency in twelve-month-old Guatemalan infants is predicted by maternal B-12 deficiency and infant diet. J Nutr 2007;137:1307-13.
- Gernand AD, Schulze KJ, Stewart CP, West KP Jr, Christian P. Micronutrient deficiencies in pregnancy worldwide: health effects and prevention. Nat Rev Endocrinol 2016;12:274-89.
- Chebaya P, Karakochuk CD, March KM, et al. Correlations between Maternal, Breast Milk, and Infant Vitamin B12 Concentrations among Mother-Infant Dyads in Vancouver, Canada and Prey Veng, Cambodia: An Exploratory Analysis. Nutrients 2017;9. pii: E270.
- Karademir F, Suleymanoglu S, Ersen A, et al. Vitamin B12, folate, homocysteine and urinary methylmalonic acid levels in infants. J Int Med Res. 2007;35:384-8.

- Specker BL, Brazerol W, Ho ML, Norman EJ. Urinary methylmalonic acid excretion in infants fed formula or human milk. Am J Clin Nutr 1990;51:209-11.
- Roschitz B, Plecko B, Huemer M, Biebl A, Foerster H, Sperl W. Nutritional infantile vitamin B12 deficiency: pathobiochemical considerations in seven patients. Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed 2005;90:F281-2.
- 12. Brocadello F, Levedianos G, Piccione F, Manara R, Pesenti FF. Irreversible subacute sclerotic combined degeneration of the spinal cord in a vegan subject. Nutrition 2007;23:622-4.
- 13. Ludwig ML, Matthews RG. Structure-based perspectives on B12dependent enzymes. Annu Rev Biochem 1997;66:269-313.
- Kamei M, Ito Y, Ando N, et al. Brain atrophy caused by vitamin B12-deficient anemia in an infant. J Pediatr Hematol Oncol 2011;33:556-8.
- Van Winckel M, Vande Velde S, De Bruyne R, Van Biervliet S. Clinical practice: vegetarian infant and child nutrition. Eur J Pediatr 2011;170:1489-94.
- 16. Breastfeeding and the use of human milk. American Academy of Pediatrics. Work Group on Breastfeeding. Pediatrics 1997;100:1035-9.
- 17. Carmel R. Current concepts in cobalamin deficiency. Annu Rev Med 2000;51:357-75.
- 18. Sklar R. Nutritional vitamin B12 deficiency in a breast-fed infant of a vegan-diet mother. Clin Pediatr (Phila) 1986;25:219-21.
- Guez S, Chiarelli G, Menni F, Salera S, Principi N, Esposito S. Severe vitamin B12 deficiency in an exclusively breastfed 5-month-old Italian infant born to a mother receiving multivitamin supplementation during pregnancy. BMC Pediatr 2012;12:85.
- 20. Institute of Medicine Standing Committee on the Scientific Evaluation of Dietary Reference I, its Panel on Folate OBV, Choline: The National Academies Collection: Reports funded by National Institutes of Health. In Dietary Reference Intakes for Thiamin, Riboflavin, Niacin, Vitamin B6, Folate, Vitamin B12, Pantothenic Acid, Biotin, and Choline. Washington (DC): National Academies Press (US) National Academy of Sciences.; 1998.
- Akcaboy M, Malbora B, Zorlu P, Altinel E, Oguz MM, Senel S. Vitamin B12 Deficiency in Infants. Indian J Pediatr 2015;82:619-24.
- Watkins D, Whiteheat VM, Rosenblatt DS: Megaloblastic anemia. In: Orkin SH, Fisher DE, Look AT, Lux SE, Ginsburg D, Nathan DG (eds). Nathan and Oski's Hematology of Infancy and Chilhood. (7th ed), Philadelphia: Saunders Elsevier, 2009:469-521.
- 23. Davis JR, Goldenring J, Lubin BH. Nutritional vitamin B12 deficiency in infants. Am J Dis Child 1981;135:566-7.
- 24. Ackurt F, Wetherilt H, Loker M, Hacibekiroglu M. Biochemical assessment of nutritional status in pre- and post-natal Turkish women and outcome of pregnancy. Eur J Clin Nutr 1995;49:613-22.
- Demirel Y, Erden Ö, Duran B, Kula A, Özdemir L, Çetin M. Sivas ilinde preeklamptik ve sağlıklı gebelerin serum B12 vitamini ve folik asit düzeylerinin karşılaştırılması. Türk Aile Hek Derg 2005;9:57-60.
- Koç A, Ertaş T, Tatlı MM, Koçyiğit A. Şanlıurfa'da Altı-On iki Aylık Çocuklarda B12 Vitamini Eksikliğinin Sıklığı, Çocukların

Beslenme Durumu ve Annelerindeki Eksiklik ile İlişkisi. Türk Çocuk Hematoloji Dergisi 2011;5:11-9.

- 27. Monagle PT, Tauro G. Infantile megaloblastosis secondary to maternal vitamin B12 deficiency. Clin Lab Hematol 1997;19:23-5.
- Minet JC, Bisse E, Aebischer CP, Beil. A, Wieland H, Lütschg J. Assesment of vitamin B12, folate and vitamin B-6 status and relation to sulfur amino acid metabolism in neonates. Am J Clin Nutr 2000;72:751-7.
- 29. Savage DG, Lindenbaum J, Stabler SP. Sensitivity of serum methylmalonic acid and total homocysteine derterminations

for diagnosing cobalamin and folate deficiencies. Am J Med 1994;96:239-46.

- Kühne T, Bubl R. Baumgartner. Maternal vegan diet causing a serious infantile neurological disorder due to vitamin B12 deficiency. Eur J Pediatr 1991;150:205-8.
- 31. Stabler SP, Allen RH. Vitamin B12 deficiency as a worldwide problem. Annu. Rev. Nutr 2004;24:299–326.
- 32. Maktouf C, Bchir A, Louzir H, et al. Megaloblastic anemia in Africa. Haematologica 2006;91:990-1.



Thyroid Function in Obese Children and Adolescents and its Relationships with Metabolic Parameters

Özlem Korkmaz

Başkent University Faculty of Medicine, Dr Turgut Noyan Training and Research Center, Department of Pediatric Endocrinology, Adana, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Aim: The purpose of this study was to evaluate levels of free thyroxin (T4) and thyroid-stimulating hormone (TSH) in obese children and adolescents, and to identify potential correlations between glucose and lipid metabolism parameters.

Materials and Methods: One hundred obese patients aged 8-18 years were retrospectively evaluated in the pediatric endocrinology outpatient clinic. All participants' anthropometric measurements, free T4 and TSH concentrations, glucose levels and lipid profiles were recorded.

Results: The mean age of the participants was 11.43±2.64 years. TSH levels exhibited significant positive correlation with fasting blood glucose and cholesterol levels. Multiple regression analysis showed that a one-unit increase in blood glucose and cholesterol raised TSH levels by 0.047 units and 0.012 units, respectively.

Conclusion: The relationship between thyroid function and other metabolic risk factors in obese children is still unclear. Our findings are important in terms of showing that obesity may exert a central effect on thyroid function, before the emergence of any effects on insulin levels and anthropometric characteristics. A greater understanding of the association between thyroid function and obesity will be useful to the development of strategies aimed at preventing or treating childhood obesity.

Keywords: Childhood obesity, thyroid hormone, glucose levels, lipid profile

Introduction

Childhood obesity has become a major global health problem (1). As the prevalence of obesity increases, so does that of numerous comorbidities associated with obesity, including abnormalities in the endocrine, cardiovascular, gastrointestinal, pulmonary, orthopedic and neurologic systems, as well as important psychological and social problems. Some comorbidities, such as type 2 Diabetes Mellitus and steatohepatitis are extremely common in obese children, while thyroid dysfunctions are also frequently observed (2,3). There has recently been increased interest in the association between thyroid dysfunction and obesity (4-6). The mechanisms underlying the thyroid hormone changes in obesity are unclear. However, several mechanisms have been proposed in the literature describing the different forms of thyroid dysfunction in obese individuals. These include subclinical hypothyroidism due to iodine deficiency, autoimmune thyroiditis and thyroid-stimulating hormone (TSH) receptor gene mutation, functional disorders in the hypothalamus-pituitary-thyroid axis, thyroid hormone resistance, mitochondrial dysfunction, and production

Address for Correspondence

Özlem Korkmaz MD, Başkent University Faculty of Medicine, Dr Turgut Noyan Training and Research Center, Department of Pediatric Endocrinology, Adana, Turkey Phone: +90 505 450 49 15 E-mail: ozlem-korkmazz@hotmail.com ORCID: orcid.org/0000-0001-9093-6205

Received: 16.01.2019 Accepted: 09.02.2019

©Copyright 2020 by Ege University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pediatrics and Ege Children's Foundation The Journal of Pediatric Research, published by Galenos Publishing House. of Leptin-mediated pro-Thyrotropin-releasing hormone (TRH) (7,8). Thyroid hormones are known to affect the regulation of energy homeostasis, fat oxidation, and lipid and carbohydrate metabolism. Increased TSH levels are therefore regarded as indicative of the changing energy balance in obesity (9,10).

TSH level elevation has been associated with high triglyceride (TG), low-density lipoprotein cholesterol (LDL-C), and total cholesterol (TC) levels, insulin resistance, and a risk of coronary disease in obese children (11,12). However, it is unclear whether obesity and TSH levels have an 'adaptive association', whether the metabolic rate increases in order to reduce weight gain, whether an increase occurs in subclinical hypothyroidism or thyroid resistance, and therefore, whether obesity contributes to the dysfunctions in glucose and/or lipid metabolism, or is instead a by-product of increased weight.

Few studies to date have focused on the relationship between obesity and thyroid function in Turkish children and adolescents (13-16). Furthermore, the relationship between thyroid function and other metabolic risk factors in obese children is unclear. This research was intended to evaluate levels of free thyroxin (T4) and TSH in obese children and adolescents, and to identify potential correlations between glucose and lipid metabolism markers.

Materials and Methods

One hundred obese patients aged 8-18 years were retrospectively evaluated in the pediatric endocrinology outpatient clinic between 01 September, 2018, and 20 December, 2018.

Ethical approval was obtained from Başkent University Faculty of Medicine Ethical Committee (approval number: KA19/27). The current study was conducted according to the principles set out in the Helsinki Declaration and Good Clinical Practice guidelines. Informed consent was obtained.

Subjects with chronic medication requirements, who declined to take part, with underlying chronic disease, or diagnosed with syndromic obesity were excluded from the study.

Anthropometric data, including weight, weight Standard Deviation score (SDS), height, height SDS, Body Mass index (BMI) and BMI SDS, were recorded for all subjects. All anthropometric data were converted to SDSs using Turkish standard data (17). Subjects with BMI SDS>2 were regarded as obese.

Blood samples were collected from all patients in order to measure thyroid hormones (TSH, fT4), lipid profile, and

glucose and insulin. All blood specimens were collected in the morning between 08:00 and 10:00 after 10-hour fasting. Insulin measurement was performed using the chemiluminescence method on an Advia Siemens Centaur XP device (Ireland). Fasting blood glucose was measured using the spectrophotometric method on an Advia Siemens 1800 (Japan) device. Homeostatic Model Assessment -Insulin Resistance (HOMA-IR) was calculated using the following formula: fasting plasma glucose (mmol/L) x fasting insulin (mUI/L) / 22.5 (18). TSH (reference range: 0.27-4.2 µIU/mL) and fT4 (reference range: 11-26 pmol/L) concentrations were measured via chemiluminescence methods with an Abbott Architect i4000 (USA) device. TC (mg/dL), high-density lipoprotein cholesterol (HDL-C, mg/dL), LDL-C (mg/dL) and TG (mg/dL) concentrations were measured using photometric methods on an Abbott Architect c8000 (USA) device.

Statistical Analysis

Statistical analysis was performed on SPSS version 21 (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL). The Shapiro-Wilk test was used to examine normality. Pearson and Spearmen correlation coefficients were calculated (in accordance with normality of distribution) to determine relationships between variables. Multiple linear regression analysis with stepwise selection was used for more reliable assessment of the relationships between TSH and fT4, and gender, age, anthropometric measurements, carbohydrate and lipid parameters related to obesity. P values less than 0.05 were regarded as statistically significant.

Results

One hundred (57 girls, 43 boys) obese children and adolescents were included in the study. The mean age of the subjects was 11.43±2.64 years. Descriptive statistics of our variables are given in Table I.

Analysis between fT4 and TSH values and other parameters measured in the study revealed no significant correlations for fT4, whereas fasting glucose (r=0.265; p=0.008), (Figure 1) and cholesterol (r=0.220; p=0.028) (Figure 2) levels were significantly and positively correlated with TSH values (Table II).

Multiple linear regression analysis was performed with fT4 as a dependent variable, but none of our independent variables demonstrated any significant results. However, fasting glucose and cholesterol emerged as significant independent variables when TSH was defined as the dependent variable. The multiple linear regression model was TSH=0.047 * fasting glucose +0.012 * cholesterol

Table I. Main anthropometric, biochemical parameters in obese patients	and hormonal
	Mean ± SD
Age (years)	11.43±2.64
Weight (kg)	65.37±16.47
Weight SDS	2.76±0.70
Height (cm)	149.21±13
Height SDS	0.69±1.20
BMI SDS	2.60±0.40
fT4 (pmol/L)	14.45±1.97
TSH (μIU/mL)	3.60±1.79
Glucose (mg/dL)	88.27±6.69
Insulin (mUI/L)	15.02±6.95
HOMA-IR	3.29±1.63
Total cholesterol (mg/dL)	167.77±31.47
HDL-cholesterol (mg/dL)	47.96±9.48
LDL-cholesterol (mg/dL)	101.54±26.92
Triglyceride (mg/dL)	121.72±47.33
PMI Pody Mass index SDS. Standard Doviation score fT/	Eroo thurovin TSU.

BMI: Body Mass index, SDS: Standard Deviation score, f14: Free thyroxin, TSH: Thyroid-stimulating hormone, HOMA-IR: Homeostatic Model Assessment -Insulin Resistance, kg: kilogram, cm: centimeter



Figure 1. Scatter plot of thyroid-stimulating hormone and blood glucose



Figure 2. Scatter plot of thyroid-stimulating hormone and cholesterol

- 5.008 (p=0.002), showing that a one-unit increase in fasting glucose raises increases TSH by 0.047 units, while a one-unit increase in cholesterol values raises TSH by 0.012 units (Table III).

Discussion

TSH levels in the current study were positively correlated with blood glucose and TC levels in a group of otherwise healthy obese pediatric patients. Multiple regression analysis revealed that TSH levels were directly affected by fasting glucose and cholesterol levels. However, fT4 levels were not associated with any of the parameters measured. Although we did not investigate causal relationships, the fact that TSH levels were associated with glucose and cholesterol levels while fT4 levels were not, may indicate that obesity has an initial effect on central thyroid function, which may lead to the development of metabolic pathologies.

The effects of thyroid hormones on energy balance and adipose tissue have been the subject of considerable research in recent years. Several recent cross-sectional studies have reported associations between thyroid hormones and obesity (4,5,19-23). Levels of cyclic adenosine monophosphate (AMP), a second messenger for many hormones including TSH and TRH, are closely associated with energy balance and the production/use of adenosine triphosphate (ATP). The correlation between TSH and blood glucose levels may indicate a complex relationship in terms of energy production and thyroid levels. Although TSH elevation may represent a simple response to increased glucose, aimed at regulating metabolism to compensate for and utilize the ATP-producing glucose in tissues, there may also be a more complex explanation. In the context of insulin resistance in obese patients, ATP depletion may develop in cells, leading to a decrease in the production of the second messenger c-AMP by adenylate cyclase. Liver cells are one of the main targets of thyroid hormones, and the action of these hormones in hepatocytes would be affected by depletion of cyclic AMP. The clinical result of this would be hepatocyte unresponsiveness to thyroid hormones, and an increase in TSH levels could be required to compensate for this decrease. These may represent the first steps in a progressive series of events culminating in TSH resistance (24,25). Other studies of obese children show that only a minority suffer from autoimmune thyroiditis, while most demonstrate moderately increased TSH levels without thyroid disease (10,26). Similarly, Dekelbab et al. (27) reported a higher prevalence of mild elevation of TSH values, in the absence of autoimmune thyroid disease, in a group of obese children compared to normal weight

Table II. Relationships between various parameters and the levels of free thyroxin and thyroid-stimulating hormone								
		Age	Weight	Weight SDS	Height	Height SDS	BMI SDS	Glucose
fT4	R	-0.036	-0.148	-0.088	-0.112	-0.015	-0.141	0.003
	р	0.719	0.143	0.382	0.267	0.883	0.160	0.978
тѕн	R	0.146	0.143	0.113	0.092	-0.057	0.112	0.265
	р	0.147	0.156	0.263	0.361	0.576	0.269	0.008*
		Insulin	HOMA-IR	Cholesterol	HDL	LDL	Triglyceride	
	R	-0.119	-0.126	0.008	-0.063	0.096	-0.115	-
†T4	р	0.237	0.212	0.934	0.533	0.343	0.253	-
тѕн	R	0.141	0.195	0.220	0.015	0.183	0.165	-
	р	0.163	0.051	0.028*	0.885	0.069	0.100	-

* ; Statistically significant correlation, fT4: Free thyroxin, TSH: Thyroid-stimulating hormone, BMI: Body Mass index, SDS: Standard Deviation score, HOMA-IR: Homeostatic Model Assessment - Insulin Resistance

Table III. Multiple linear reg	ression analysis results v	vith TSH as a depe	ndent variable					
	Q	95.0% (
	þ	Std. Error	t	р	Lower	Upper		
(Constant)	-5.008	2.469	-2.028	0.045	-9.909	-0.107		
Fasting glucose	0.074	0.026	2.898	0.005	0.023	0.125		
Cholesterol	0.012	0.005	2.29	0.024	0.002	0.023		
TSH = 0.047 * Fasting Glucose + 0	.012 * Cholesterol - 5.008. n=1	00. R2=0.119. F=6.561.	p=0.002			· · ·		

control groups. Stichel et al. (28) determined a significant increase in childhood obesity TSH and T3 levels, although in most cases these increases cannot be explained by thyroid autoimmunity or iodine deficiency. Further controlled studies are therefore required to explain our findings, which are far from conclusive, given that many other factors (such as iodine deficiency, and thyroid autoimmunity) capable of altering thyroid levels were not evaluated in our study.

Some studies have reported slightly greater elevation in TSH levels in obese individuals compared to normal weight subjects, and have detected a positive association between TSH levels and BMI and weight change (10,29). Reinehr and Andler (30) observed a moderate increase in peripheral thyroid hormones (T3,T4) and TSH levels in obese children. TSH elevation exhibited no significant correlation with BMI (or any other anthropometric measurement) in the present study. However, TSH was significantly correlated with cholesterol levels. Multiple regression analysis results also indicated that a one-unit increase in cholesterol values corresponded to a 0.012-unit increase in TSH levels. Although various studies have investigated the relation of thyroid function and lipid profiles in obese and overweight pediatric patients, the results have been inconsistent (31). Grandone et al. (20) reported no correlation between TSH levels and HDL-C and TGs. However, consistent with our findings, Aeberli et al. (12) reported that TSH levels in obese pediatric patients exhibited a significant positive correlation with TC cholesterol and LDL-C.

We determined a significant positive correlation between TSH and fasting glucose levels, which was also apparent at multiple regression analysis, a one-unit increase in fasting glucose being found to cause an increase of 0.047 units in TSH. However, analysis of relationships between HOMA-IR and insulin levels with fT4 and TSH revealed no significant correlations. Although experimental studies have shown that thyroid hormones may impact insulin sensitivity by influencing the expression or activation of uncoupling protein, β adrenergic receptor and peroxisome proliferatoractivated receptor- γ (32), our findings may suggest that TSH levels (and therefore thyroid function) are affected much earlier than insulin. If so, then it is plausible to suggest that early TSH changes are in fact a contributor to the insulin resistance seen in obese patients. Future studies would benefit from long-term follow-up of thyroid and insulin levels in children with obesity in order to elucidate which causes the other, or to determine whether a causal relationship exists between these two crucial parameters of human metabolism.

Both hyperthyroidism and hypothyroidism are capable of resulting in impaired glucose tolerance in hepatic, muscle, and adipose tissues (33). Although a number of different studies have investigated the relation between thyroid function and insulin resistance in children and adults, the reported findings regarding the link between insulin resistance and hypothyroidism or hyperthyroidism are inconsistent (34). Maratou et al. (35) reported similar levels of insulin resistance in cases of hypothyroidism and of subclinical hyperthyroidism. However, associations between hypothyroidism and insulin resistance subsequently progressing to Metabolic syndrome in adults have been reported by a number of authors (36,37).

The limitations of our study include the absence of a control group; however, our aim was to assess the relationships of measured parameters in obese children and adolescents. Our analyses are not therefore necessarily affected by the lack of a control group. Nevertheless, a control group would have provided an opportunity to observe the differences in the relationships among parameters (or lack thereof) between obese and nonobese subjects, and this must be regarded as a limitation. Second, this is a retrospective single-center study with all the restrictions associated with such studies. Finally, we were unable to analyze various other factors that may have affected thyroid levels, such as iodine deficiency, and autoimmune thyroiditis.

Conclusion

The purpose of this study was to determine fT4 and TSH concentrations in obese children and adolescents and to investigate potential correlations between such parameters as anthropometric measurements, glucose levels and lipid profile. Fasting blood glucose and cholesterol were positively correlated with TSH, while none of the parameters investigated were associated with fT4 levels. We believe that our findings will make a significant contribution to the existing literature by showing that obesity may exert a central effect on thyroid function, before the emergence of any effects on insulin levels and anthropometric characteristics. Since the physiopathology of thyroid function changes in childhood obesity and the effects of thyroid function on lipid and carbohydrate metabolism are still controversial, further studies are required for an improved understanding of the association between thyroid function and obesity.

Ethics

Ethics Committee Approval: The author assert that all procedures contributing to this work comply with the

ethical standards of the relevant national guidelines on human experimentation (Başkent University) and with the Helsinki Declaration of 1975, as revised in 2008, and have been approved by the institutional committees of Başkent University (approval number: KA-19/27).

Informed Consent: Informed consent was obtained.

Peer-review: Externally and internally peer-reviewed.

Financial Disclosure: The author declared that this study received no financial support.

References

- Ogden CL, Carroll MD, Lawman HG, et al. Trends in obesity prevalence among children and adolescents in the United States, 1988-1994 through 2013-2014. JAMA 2016;315:2292-9.
- Unger R, Kreeger L, Christoffel KK. Childhood obesity: medical and familial correlates and age of onset. Clin Pediatr (Phila) 1990;29:368-73.
- 3. Lee H, Pantazis A, Cheng P, Dennisuk L, Clarke PJ, Lee JM. The association between adolescent obesity and disability incidence in young adulthood. J Adolesc Health 2016;59:472-8.
- Reinehr T, Isa A, De Sousa G, Dieffenbach R, Andler W. Thyroid hormones and their relation to weight status. Horm Res 2008;70:51-7.
- Reinehr T, de Sousa G, Andler W. Hyperthyrotropinemia in obese children is reversible after weight loss and is not related to lipids. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2006;91:3088-91.
- 6. Marras V, Casini MR, Pilia S, et al. Thyroid function in obese children and adolescents. Horm Res Paediatr 2010; 73:193-7.
- Radetti G, Kleon W, Buzi F, et al. Thyroid function and structure are affected in childhood obesity. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2008;93:4749-54.
- Rapa A, Monzani A, Moia S, et al. Subclinical hypothyroidism in children and adolescents: a wide range of clinical, biochemical, and genetic factors involved. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2009;94:2414-20.
- Fox CS, Pencina MJ, D'Agostino RB, et al. Relations of thyroid function to body weight. Arch Intern Med. 2008;168:587-92.
- Reinehr T. Obesity and thyroid function. Mol Cell Endocrinol 2010;316:165-71.
- Franks PW, Hanson RL, Knowler WC, Sievers ML, Bennett PH, Looker HC. Childhood obesity, other cardiovascular risk factors, and premature death. N Engl J Med 2010;362:485-93.
- 12. Aeberli I, Jung A, Murer SB, et al. During rapid weight loss in obese children, reductions in TSH predict improvements in insulin sensitivity independent of changes in body weight or fat. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2010;95:5412-8.
- Parlak A, Çetinkaya Ş. Çocuklarda obezitenin oluşumunu etkileyen faktörler. Fırat Salık Hizmetleri Dergisi 2007;2:27-33.
- 14. Mutlu RGY, Özsu E, Çizmecioğlu FM, Hatun Ş. Mildly elevated TSH levels in obese children: What kind of problem is this?. Turk Arch Ped 2011;46:33-6.
- 15. Karakurt F, Mustafa K, Burak U. Tiroid Fonksiyonları Obezite için Bir Risk Faktörü Müdür? Yeni Tıp Dergisi 2009;26:27.

- Torun E, Cindemir E, Özgen I, Öktem F. Subclinical hypothyroidism in obese children. Dicle Medical Journal 2013;40:5-8.
- Neyzi O, Bundak R, Gökçay G, Calabrò P, Perrone L, Del Giudice EM. Reference Values for Weight, Height, Head Circumference, and Body Mass Index in Turkish Children. J Clin Res Pediatr Endocrinol 2015;7:280–93.
- Matthews DR, Hosker JP, Rudenski AS, Naylor BA, Treacher DF, Turner RC. Homeostasis model assessment: insulin resistance and beta-cell function from fasting plasma glucose and insulin concentrations in man. Diabetologia 1985;28:412-9.
- Yadav J, Jain N, Dayal D. Alterations of thyroid function in overweight and obese children: An update. Indian J Child Health 2018;5:145-50.
- Grandone A, Santoro N, Coppola F, Calabrò P, Perrone L, del Giudice EM. Thyroid function derangement and childhood obesity: an Italian experience. BMC Endocr Disord 2010;10:8.
- Wolters B, Lass N, Reinehr T. TSH and free triiodothyronine concentrations are associated with weight loss in a lifestyle intervention and weight regain afterwards in obese children. Eur J Endocrinol 2013;168:323-9.
- 22. Knudsen N, Laurberg P, Rasmussen LB, et al. Small differences in thyroid function may be important for body mass index and the occurrence of obesity in the population. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2005;90:4019-24.
- Shalitin S, Yackobovitch-Gavan M, Phillip M. Prevalence of thyroid dysfunction in obese children and adolescents before and after weight reduction and its relation to other metabolic parameters. Horm Res 2009;71:155-61.
- 24. Venditti P, Balestrieri M, Di Meo S, De Leo T. Effect of thyroid state on lipid peroxidation, antioxidant defences, and susceptibility to oxidative stress in rat tissues. J Endocrinol 1997;155:151-7.
- Neuschwander-Tetri BA, Caldwell SH. Nonalcoholic steatohepatitis: summary of an AASLD Single Topic Conference. Hepatology 2003;37:1202-19.

- Reinehr T, Hinney A, de Sousa G, Austrup F, Hebebrand J, Andler W. Definable somatic disorders in overweight children and adolescents. J Pediatr 2007;150:618-22.
- 27. Dekelbab BH, Abou Ouf HA, Jain I. Prevalence of elevated thyroid-stimulating hormone levels in obese children and adolescents. Endocr Pract 2010;16:187–9.
- 28. Stichel H, Allemand D, Grüters A. Thyroid function and obesity in children and adolescents. Horm Res 2000;54:14-9.
- 29. Pearce EN. Thyroid hormone and obesity. Curr Opin Endocrinol Diabetes Obes 2012;19:408-13.
- 30. Reinehr T, Andler W. Thyroid hormones before and after weight loss in obesity. Arch Dis Child 2002;87:320-3.
- Pacifico L, Anania C, Ferraro F, Andreoli GM, Chiesa C. Thyroid function in childhood obesity and metabolic comorbidity. Clin Chim Acta 2012;413:396-405.
- 32. Nader NS, Bahn RS, Johnson MD, Weaver AL, Singh R, Kumar S. Relationships between thyroid function and lipid status or insulin resistance in a pediatric population. Thyroid 2010;20:1333-9.
- 33. Gierach M, Gierach J, Junik R. Insulin resistance and thyroid disorders. Endokrynol Pol 2014;65:70-6.
- 34. Lambadiari V, Mitrou P, Maratou E, et al. Thyroid hormones are positively associated with insulin resistance early in the development of type 2 diabetes. Endocrine 2011;39:28-32.
- Maratou E, Hadjidakis DJ, Kollias A, et al. Studies of insulin resistance in patients with clinical and subclinical hypothyroidism. Eur J Endocrinol 2009;160:785-90.
- Guo S. Insulin signaling, resistance, and metabolic syndrome: insights from mouse models into disease mechanisms. J Endocrinol 2014;220:T1-T23.
- 37. Kadiyala R, Peter R, Okosieme OE. Thyroid dysfunction in patients with diabetes: clinical implications and screening strategies. Int J Clin Pract 2010;64:1130-9.



Retrospective Evaluation of Childhood Cutaneous Mastocytosis Cases

● Burcu Akıncı, ● Hamiyet Hekimci Özdemir, ● Nihal Özdemir Karadaş, ● Akkız Şahin Yaşar, ● Zuhal Önder Siviş, ● Yeşim Aydınok, ● Kaan Kavaklı, ● Can Balkan, ● Deniz Yılmaz Karapınar

Ege University Hospital, Clinic of Pediatric Hematology and Oncology, İzmir, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Aim: Mastocytosis is a rare disease characterized by clonal mast cell proliferation in one or more organs. It can lead to different clinical manifestations and has no definitive treatment. In this study, we aimed to evaluate the clinical and laboratory characteristics of our patients diagnosed with mastocytosis in our clinic.

Materials and Methods: Thirteen patients that were followed up with the diagnosis of mastocytosis at the Pediatric Hematology Clinic, in the Ege University Faculty of Medicine between November 1999 and April 2016 were retrospectively analyzed.

Results: Seven of patients were female (53.8%) and six were male (42.6%). The mean age at diagnosis was 20 (3-68) months. At the time of diagnosis, complete blood count and peripheral smear were found to be compatible with the anemia of iron deficiency in three patients. Other parameters were normal. Mean tryptase level was detected as 5.9 (3.6-16.6) ng/mL, and only one tryptase level was found as slightly increased. The median level of total IgE was 91.1 (4.47-362) IU/mL. Mast cell proliferation was not detected in bone marrow aspiration and biopsy material of any patients. All of the cases were evaluated as cutaneous type mastocytosis.

Conclusion: The possibility of mastocytosis in systemic form in childhood is very rare and bone marrow examination may be necessary in selected cases.

Keywords: Mastocytosis, cutaneous, tryptase, child

Introduction

Mastocytosis is a very rare disease that can lead to different clinical presentations depending on the tissues where clonal mast cells accumulate. The clinical spectrum of the disease may vary from relatively benign forms with isolated skin involvement to highly aggressive severe forms in which widespread systemic involvement results in poor prognosis. Over the years, significant progress has been made in the management of mastocytosis seen in the adulthood; however, childhood mastocytosis has remained a rarely researched topic due to the rareness of interventional procedures (1-4).

Mast cells, which originate from CD34 + hematopoietic cells, are considered as an important component of the immune system. They are present in all vascularized tissues, primarily the skin and mucous membranes. The growth, differentiation and proliferation of mast cells are controlled by c-kit (CD117), a tyrosine kinase receptor, and its ligand, stem cell factor. These factors are also involved in the pathogenesis of mastocytosis (5,6).

Address for Correspondence

Burcu Akıncı, Ege University Hospital, Clinic of Pediatric Hematology and Oncology, İzmir, Turkey Phone: +90 505 829 6116 E-mail: bdeveci@windowslive.com ORCID: orcid.org/0000-0001-6026-4786 **Received:** 31.07.2018 **Accepted:** 19.02.2019

©Copyright 2020 by Ege University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pediatrics and Ege Children's Foundation The Journal of Pediatric Research, published by Galenos Publishing House. According to the criteria published by the World Health Organization in 2016, adult type mastocytosis was divided into three groups as cutaneous mastocytosis (CM), systemic mastocytosis (SM) and mast cell sarcoma. Cutaneous type mastocytosis is localized to the skin and is examined under three subgroups which are maculopapular mastocytosis (urticaria pigmentosa), diffuse CM and soliter mastocytoma. SM is characterized by mast cell accumulation in internal organs such as bone marrow, spleen, lymph nodes, and the gastrointestinal tract. SM is divided into subtypes such as indolent SM, smoldering SM, SM with an associated hematologic neoplasm, aggressive SM and mast cell leukemia (7,8).

SM is defined by major and minor criteria. Major criteria is the multifocal dense infiltrate of mast cells in the bone marrow or in other extracutaneous organ(s) (>15 mast cells per aggregate). Minor SM criteria are: (a) 25% of mast cells show an abnormal morphology in bone marrow smears, or are spindle-shaped cells in biopsies of extracutaneous organ(s); (b) a KIT mutation at codon 816 in extracutaneous organ(s) or bone marrow; (c) Expression of CD2 and/or CD25 in bone marrow or extracutaneous organ(s); (d) serum tryptase >20 ng mL-1. If at least one major and one minor or at least three minor criteria are fulfilled, the diagnosis of SM is given (1,3,8). Diagnostic criteria of SM are presented in Table I. Although mastocytosis is rarely seen in systemic forms in childhood CM localized to the skin is much more frequent), it has been reported that some of these cases do not enter into remission after adolescence and the severity of the disease may increase (1-4). In this study, we aimed to evaluate the clinical and laboratory findings of cases with a mastocytosis diagnosis in our clinic.

Materials and Methods

Thirteen patients diagnosed with mastocytosis in the Pediatric Hematology Clinic of Ege University Medical

Table I. Diagnostic criteria for systemic mastocytosis
Major 1. Multifocal dense infiltrates of mast cells (tryptase positive) in bone marrow and/or other extracutaneous tissues (aggregates of more than 15 mast cells).
Minor
tissue biopsy sections are spindle shaped or display atypical morphology.
2. Detection of a c-kit point mutation in codon 816 in blood, bone marrow, or other lesional tissue.
3. Evidence of CD2 and/or CD25 on mast cells in bone marrow,

blood, or extracutaneous tissue. 4. Serum tryptase more than 20 ng/mL Faculty from November 1999 to April 2016 were included in this study. Ethical approval was obtained (Acibadem University ATADEK, 2019-19/11). Patients were accepted into the study after having given written informed consent from parents. All diagnoses were confirmed via histopathological investigation of skin biopsy samples. Evaluations were performed by retrospective evaluation of patient files. The patients' clinical findings, complete blood count results, biochemical parameters, tryptase levels, total Ig E levels, and the results of abdominal ultrasonography and bone marrow examinations were recorded.

Statical Analysis

All demographic and clinical wariables were summarized using count and percentage n (%) for categorical variables and means plus or minus standard deviations for continuous variables.

Results

Our patient group was comprised of 7 girls and 6 boys. The mean age at diagnosis was 20 (3-68) months. Patients' medical records showed that all applications to the department were due to skin rash. None of the patients had a family history of this disease. There were no pathological findings except mastocytosis-specific rashes on physical examination of the patients. The rashes were mostly located on the trunk. They were also seen in extremities and face. At the time of diagnosis, complete blood count and peripheral smear were found to be compatible with the iron deficiency anemia in three patients. Other parameters were normal. Mean absolute eosinophil count was 421.4/ μ L (70-980/ μ L). Liver and kidney function tests and other biochemical values were within their respective reference ranges. Abdominal ultrasonography was performed in 12 patients. In one patient, liver calcification was detected incidentally and the patient was diagnosed with hydatid cyst afterwards. The other patients had normal ultrasonography findings. Total tryptase levels had been measured in all but one of our patients. Mean tryptase level was 5.9 (3.6-16.6) ng/mL. In only one of our patients, the level of tryptase was found to be slightly increased (16.6 ng/mL); however, on subsequent measurements (3 times), they were found to diminished. Total IgE levels were determined in 8 of our patients and the median level was 91.1 (minimum 4.47maximum 362) IU/mL. Two patients were observed to have high total IgE values (126 and 362 IU/mL) in regard to ageadjusted reference intervals. The laboratory characteristics of patients are presented in Table II. Bone marrow aspiration

Table II. Laboratory characteristics of patients							
Patient number	Tryptase Level (kUA/L)	lgE (IU/mL)	Eosinophil ratio				
1	4.08	-	2.08				
2	-	362.00	2.3				
3	3.6	9.96	0.33				
4	4.3	58.90	4.2				
5	4.84	-	1.79				
6	8.64	-	0.9				
7	4.6	72.70	1				
8	7.4	126.00	4				
9	3.6	4.47	1.4				
10	4.41	-	7.1				
11	16.6	-	6.1				
12	3.33	133.00	4.1				
13	5.4	91.1	2.4				



Figure 1. Maculopapuler rash on patient's face

and biopsy were performed on 9 of the 13 patients, none of them indicated an increase of mast cells. All cases were evaluated as cutaneous type mastocytosis. In general, the patients were followed up without any treatment. Oral antihistaminic drugs and local clobetazol proprionate were applied to them during periods of increased pruritis. Patients did not receive any other systemic treatment. In follow-up, there was no increase in the lesions of the patients.

Discussion

Mastocytosis is a rare disease. While epidemiological studies are insufficient, both in our country and the world, its prevalence is estimated to be 1 in 10,000. Moreover, it has also been reported that approximately 1 in 1,000 to 8,000



Figure 2. Rash on a patient's trunk

patients who apply to dermatology clinics are diagnosed with mastocytosis (9-11). Mastocytosis can be seen both in childhood and adulthood. In 55% of cases, the findings and symptoms of the disease appear within the first two years of life, 10% of patients manifest symptoms between 2-15 years, and the remaining 35% of the patients show initial findings after 15 years of age. According to a publication from our country, 73% of mastocytosis cases were reported in children, while 26.7% were reported in adults (12,13). In our cases, the average age of diagnosis was 20 months and the female/male ratio was 1.1/1. Related literature is conflicting, while some report that mastocytosis is more frequent in females, others indicate that it is more common among males (14-17).

Mastocytosis is now classified with myeloproliferative neoplasms. Increased local concentrations of soluble mast cell growth factor in lesions of CM are believed to stimulate mast cell and melanocyte proliferation. Activating mutations of the proto-oncogene c-kit have been identified. Although pediatric mastocytosis can spontaneously regress, it is a clonal disease most commonly associated with D816V and other activating c-kit mutations. The induction of melanocytes explains the hyperpigmentation that is commonly associated with cutaneous mast cell lesions. The stimulation of pruritus is associated with production of IL-31. IL-6 levels have been shown to be elevated and correlated with the disease severity, indicating IL-6 is involved in the pathogenesis of mastocytosis (5,6,8).

CM is divided to three categories namely maculopapüler form, diffuse CM and solitary mastocytoma (18). CM

typically manifests as maculopapular or plague-like rashes seen on the trunk and extremities in the majority of cases, and particularly on the sides of the head and face in children. Figures 1 and 2 show skin rashes in our cases. In both forms of the disease, itching, redness, tachycardia, syncope, gastrointestinal symptoms such as nausea, vomiting, abdominal pain can develop as a result of secretion of mediators such as histamine, heparin and tryptase from the accumulated mast cells. The risk of anaphylaxis is increased in cases with mastocytosis, which is more common in those with SM. In the literature, anaphylactic risk is reported to be 22-50% in adults and 6-10% in children. It should be kept in mind that anaphylaxis can often be triggered by fever, infections, and even, albeit rarely, by various foods and medicines during childhood. In its systemic form, symptoms are associated with the affected organs. Hepatomegaly, elevations in liver function tests, acid and portal hypertension may occur due to liver involvement; splenomegaly and hypersplenism may occur in cases with spleen involvement; pancytopenia may develop due to bone marrow involvement; gastrointestinal tract involvement may manifest with hypoalbuminemia and weight loss. More rarely, osteoporosis and pathologic fractures can be seen secondary to skeletal involvement (1,2,19). None of our patients showed any evidence of such findings.

As previously mentioned, SM is defined by major and minor criteria. Major criterion is the multifocal dense infiltrate of mast cells in the bone marrow or in other extracutaneous organ(s). Minor SM criteria are defined as: 25% of mast cells in bone marrow smears, or are spindleshaped cells in biopsies of extracutaneous organ(s); a KIT mutation at codon 816 in extracutaneous organ(s) or bone marrow; expression of CD2 and/or CD25 in bone marrow or extracutaneous organ(s); or serum tryptase >20 ng mL-1. We need one major and one minor or at least three minor criteria to diagnose SM (1,3,8). In childhood, it is difficult to determine the exact number of cases with systemic involvement, due to the rareness of the systemic form among children and the fact that bone marrow biopsy is performed in selected cases (3,4). There is no universal consensus on which tests should be performed and how often they should be repeated when mastocytosis is diagnosed in childhood. Contrary to adult mastocytosis, complete blood count, biochemical parameters and peripheral smear findings are normal, as was the case in our study (4). Serum tryptase levels are shown as the most reliable parameter for predicting mast cell activation, and therefore, the severity and prevalence of mastocytosis. Serum tryptase levels are expected to be high especially in patients with very common

skin involvement or systemic findings (20,21). Since it is one of the cornerstones of SM, without doing bone marrow aspiration and biopsy, diagnosis of some systemic cases may be overlooked. In a large study consisting of 173 patients, the authors found only two cases of systemic involvement in children with diffuse CM (22). In our study, serum tryptase level was at the upper limit of normal in only one patient and follow up measurements were normal. It is known that eosinophils and mast cells coexist in many clonal and nonclonal diseases. Both cells are derived from CD34 + hematopoietic cells and have the ability to regulate their tissue microenvironment. A number of previous studies have shown that eosinophilia can be detected in SM and can indicate an aggressive disease (23,24). Clinical consequence of eosinophilia in SM might largely depend on the subtype of disease and the underlying molecular mechanisms. In one recent study, the total eosinophil ratio was normal. It is also known that IgE levels and IgE-mediated anaphylaxis risk may be increased in patients with mastocytosis (25,26). IgE levels were measured in 8 of our cases, and values were elevated in 2 patients. However, anaphylaxis did not develop in any of our cases.

Our findings show that, even if bone marrow aspiration and biopsy are performed, it is difficult to confirm the diagnosis in patients without conclusive findings for mastocytosis (blood count and smear, increased tryptase, hepatosplenomegaly). Since tryptase activity is an important marker of disease activity, and considering the fact that it was shown to increase beyond the reference range only once in one patient, it may be appropriate to measure tryptase at certain intervals in suspected patients.

Ethics

Ethics Committee Approval: The study was approved by Acıbadem University Ethics Committee/ATADEK (approvel number:2019-19/11).

Informed Consent: Informed written parental consent was obtained before enrolling children into the study.

Peer-review: Externally and internally peer-reviewed.

Authorship Contributions

Surgical and Medical Practices: B.A., N.Ö.K., A.Ş.Y., Z.Ö.S., Concept: B.A., Design: B.A., K.K., C.B., D.Y.K., Data Collection or Processing: B.A., H.H.Ö., N.Ö.K., A.Ş.Y., Z.Ö.S., Analysis or Interpretation: B.A., Y.A., Literature Search: B.A., Writing: B.A., D.Y.K.

Conflict of Interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest relevant to this article to disclose.

Financial Disclosure: The authors have no financial relationships relevant to this article to disclose.

References

- Magliacane D, Parente R, Triggiani M. Current concepts on diagnosis and treatment of mastocytosis. Transl Med UniSa 2014;8:65-74.
- Pardanani A. CME Information: Systemic mastocytosis in adults: 2017 update on diagnosis, risk stratification and management. Am J Hematol 2016;91:1146-59.
- Valent P, Horny HP, Escribano L, et al. Diagnostic criteria and classification of mastocytosis:a consensus proposal. Leuk Res 2001;25:603-25.
- 4. Torrelo A, Alwarez-Twose I, Escribano L. Childhood mastocytosis. Curr Opin Pediatr 2012;24:480-6.
- Kirshenbaum AS, Goff JP, Semere T, Foster B, Scott LM, Metcalfe DD. Demonstration that human mast cells arise from a progenitor cell population that is CD 34 (+), c-kit(+), and expresses aminopeptidase N (CD13). Blood 1999;94:2333-42.
- Valent P, Spanblöchl E, Sperr WR, et al. Induction of differentiation of human mast cells from bone marrow and peripheral blood mononuclear cells by recombinant human stem cell factor/kitligand in long-term culture. Blood 1992;80:2237-45.
- 7. Valent P, Akin C, Hartmann K, et al. Advances in the Classification and Treatment of Mastocytosis: Current Status and Outlook toward the Future. Cancer Res 2017;77:1261-70.
- Valent P, Akin C, Escribano M, et al. Standards and standardization in mastocytosis: Consensus Statements on Diagnostics, Treatment Recommendations and Response Criteria. Eur J Clin Invest 2007;37:435-53.
- Siebenhaar F, Akin C, Bindslev-Jensen C, Maurer M, Broesby-Olsen S. Treatment Strategies in Mastocytosis. Immunol Allergy Clin North Am 2014;34:433-47.
- 10. Hartmann K, Henz BM. Mastocytosis: recent advances in defining the disease. Br J Dermatol 2001;144:682-95.
- Horny HP, Sotlar K, Valent P, Hartmann K. Mastocytosis: a disease of the hematopoietic stem cell. Dtsch Arztebl Int 2008;105:686-92.
- 12. Brockow K. Epidemiology, prognosis, and risk factors in mastocytosis. Immunol Allergy Clin North Am 2014;34:283-95.
- Bilgili SG, Karadağ AS, Takcı Z, Çalka Ö, Kösem M. Comparison of cutaneous mastocytosis with onset in children and adults. Turk J Med Sci 2014;44:504-10.

- Middelkamp Hup MA, Heide R, Tank B, Mulder PGH, Oranje AP. Comparison of mastocytosis with onset in children and adults. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol 2002;16:115–20.
- Kiszewski AE, Duran-Mckinster C, Orozco-Covarrubias L, Gutierrez-Castrellon P, Ruiz- Maldonado R. Cutaneous mastocytosis in children: a clinical analysis of 71 cases. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol 2004;18:285–90.
- Serarslan G, Atik E, Canda Ş. Pediatric cutaneous mastocytosis: demographic, clinical and histopathological findings. Turk J Dermatol 2008;2:69–72.
- Ben-Amitai D, Metzker A, Cohen HA. Pediatric cutaneous mastocytosis: a review of 180 patients. Isr Med Assoc J 2005;7:320–22.
- Hartmann K, Escribano L, Grattan C, et al. Cutaneous manifestations in patients with mastocytosis: Consensus report of the European Competence Network on Mastocytosis; the American Academy of Allergy, Asthma &Immunology; and the European Academy of Allergology and Clinical Immunology. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2016;137:35-45.
- 19. Brockow K, Jofer C, Behrendt H, Ring J. Anaphylaxis in patients with mastocytosis a study on history, clinical features and risk factors in 120 patients. Allergy 2008;63:226-32.
- Alvarez-Twose I, Vañó-Galván S, Sánchez-Muñoz L, et al. Increased serum baseline tryptase levels and extensive skin involvement are predictors for the severity of mast cell activation episodes in children with mastocytosis. Allergy 2012;67:813–21.
- 21. Carter MC, Clayton ST, Komarow HD, et al. Assessment of clinical findings, tryptase levels, and bone marrow histopathology in the management of pediatric mastocytosis. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2015;136:1673-9.
- 22. Hannaford R, Rogers M. Presentation of cutaneous mastocytosis in 173 children. Australas J Dermatol 2001;42:15–21.
- 23. Kovalszki A, Weller PF. Eosinophilia in mast cell disease. Immunol Allergy Clin N Am 2014;34:357-64.
- Böhm A, Födinger M, Wimazal F, et al. Eosinophilia in systemic mastocytosis: clinical and molecular correlates and prognostic significance. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2007;120:192-9.
- Navinés-Ferrer A, Serrano-Candelas E, Molina-Molina GJ, Martín M. IgE-related chronic diseases and anti-IgE-based treatments. J Immunol Res 2016;2016:8163803.
- Escande H, Bennani I, Bulai Livideanu C, Uthurriague C, Paul C, Nougué J. IgE mediated anaphylaxis in a patient with systemic mastocytosis. Ann Dermatol Venereol 2013;140:641-4.



Patient Safety Related Implementations of Nurses Working in the Neonatal Intensive Care Unit and Related Factors

🛛 Elanur Kaleci¹, 👁 Fatma Taş Arslan²

¹Necmettin Erbakan University Faculty of Nursing, Department of Pediatric Nursing, Konya, Turkey ²Selçuk University Faculty of Nursing, Department of Pediatric Nursing, Konya, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Aim: This study was carried out in order to determine patient safety related implementations of nurses working in neonatal intensive care.

Materials and Methods: This descriptive study was carried out in Neonatal Intensive Care Units (NICU) in six hospitals in Konya city center between April and May 2012. Ninety-six nurses working in intensive care units participated in this survey. Newborn Patient Safety Survey Form was used in this study. The analysis of the data was done by number, percentage, Kruskall-Wallis, Man-Whitney U and Independent t tests.

Results: It was seen that nurses scored most in interventions regarding falling among the fields of patient safety implementations (92.42±6.36). A meaningful difference was found between NICU nurses' state of education and patient safety intervention regarding the medication score average (p<0.05) and also nurses' working years and patient safety intervention regarding identity implementations score average (p<0.05).

Conclusion: It was determined that nurses implemented interventions regarding falling most among patient safety implementations. It was seen that patient safety implementations of nurses were related to their state of education, working years, the number of patients cared for daily, and also receiving patient safety training.

Keywords: Nurses, patient safety, intensive care units, neonatal

Introduction

Patient safety is all of the precautions taken by the health institutions and personnel of these institutions in order to pre-determine, report and correct errors and prevent injury caused by health care services (1,2). The aim of patient safety is to provide safety by creating an environment which will affect patients, patients' relatives and hospital personnel psychologically and physically. Patient safety is a basic need and an unmistakable right of individuals (2).

Neonatal intensive care units (NICU) are special, multidisciplinary units constructed to provide care for

patients who need special care and whose health condition is critical (3,4,5,6,7,8). The fact that the newborn in NICU is vulnerable to external factors increases the risk of medical error. Medical errors occur in premature babies especially in the ones born before the 30th week of pregnancy and those lighter than 1.500 grams (57% in 24 to 27-week-babies whereas only 3% in full-term babies) (9).

Neonatal nurses are important in providing and continuing patient safety and for their efficiency in carrying out activities during the patient's stay in hospital. Nurses are intertwined with patient safety in every field of care.

Address for Correspondence

Elanur Kaleci MD, Necmettin Erbakan University Faculty of Nursing, Department of Pediatric Nursing, Konya, Turkey Phone: +90 539 547 08 70 E-mail: elanur42@gmail.com ORCID: orcid.org/0000-0002-9326-8756 **Received:** 22.10.2018 **Accepted:** 16.04.2019

©Copyright 2020 by Ege University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pediatrics and Ege Children's Foundation The Journal of Pediatric Research, published by Galenos Publishing House. Informing on medical error, decreasing or removing the risk of medical error, supporting patient safety and reporting unwanted events are among the duties of nurses. Nurses who work in units such as NICU which require sensitivity about patient safety should take an active role and be careful (10).

Recently some implementations regarding prevention and control of infections, color code implementations, safety reporting systems, training health personnel in patient and personnel safety and setting up committees in order to carry out the necessary activities to provide patient and employee safety have been performed in our country (11). However, in the literature, a limited number of studies regarding patient safety of nurses working in pediatric clinics have been reported in our country (12,13). Also, no studies about patient safety in NICU are to be found in our country. It is necessary to carry out studies to raise nurses' awareness of patient safety and to determine the inadequacies in patient safety in NICU and nursing implementations. These studies will contribute to determine nursing implementations related to patient safety and to remove inadequacies in safety implementations for patients who receive care. Furthermore, it is thought that they will contribute to increase the importance given to patient safety as well as to take precautions to provide and improve patient safety. In this context, this study was carried out to find out about nursing implementations of NICU nurses regarding patient safety and related factors.

Research questions:

- What is the intervention score of nurses working in NICU regarding patient safety implementations?

- What are the factors related to nursing intervention scores of patient safety implementations?

Materials and Methods

This study was carried out in NICUs of six hospitals in Konya city center in 2012 descriptively. In this research, 101 nurses were included in the sample without any participation criteria as the number of nurses in the population was limited. However, 96 nurses were included in the study because of personal reasons such as maternity leave or sick notes meaning that 95% of the population was reached.

In this research, a "Neonatal Patient Safety Questionnaire Form" consisting of two parts was prepared and used by the researchers in light of the existing literature (8,14,15,16,17,18). The first part of the questionnaire was composed of 16 questions about the nurses' socio-demographic and professional characteristics and their views on patient safety. The second part was composed of 92 questions determining interventions of neonatal nurses regarding patient safety implementations. These questions were sent to 8 experts studying in the field of neonatal health care and their views were obtained. Kendall's W analysis was done in order to assess the compatibility of the experts' views. It was found that there was no statistical difference between the scores of 8 experts (Kendall's W=0.00, p=0.67) and that the experts' views were compatible with one another.

The questions that determined nursing interventions regarding patient safety in the second part were grouped under 7 headings: interventions regarding medication (20 questions), interventions regarding identity implementations (9 questions), interventions regarding care implementations (20 questions), interventions regarding hospital infections (16 questions), interventions regarding equipment use (11 questions), interventions regarding falling (6 questions) and interventions regarding communication (10 questions). The nurses were asked to reply to the questions related to interventions regarding patient safety implementations as "I implement", "I sometimes implement" and "I do not implement". For example, they were asked to choose from the options "I implement", "I sometimes implement" or "I do not implement" for the question "I tie the diaper folded below the umbilical cord." A scoring system was used to interpret interventions regarding patient safety practices in an easy way. Nurses' answers were scored as follows: "I implement" (3 points), "I sometimes implement" (2 points) and "I do not implement" (1 point). The scores obtained from the patient safety fields (field score) and from all items (total score) were calculated. Because the number of questions in the patient safety fields in our study were not the same, the data was converted to 0-100 score interval and each heading was formulized by being scored. The score calculation was as follows: [((Total score of the individual/ number of questions)-1)x50]. For example, the score of an individual whose total raw score from interventions regarding patient safety medication practices was 60 was calculated as follows: [((60/20)-1)x50=100].

The data was collected within two months by using a face-to-face interview method. The statistical analysis of the data was done by using number, percentage, Kruskall-Wallis, Man-Whitney U and Independent t tests. Permission to conduct the research was obtained from the ethics committee of Selcuk University, Faculty of Medicine Hospital. Verbal consent of the nurses working in NICU and written permissions from the related hospitals to conduct the research were obtained.

Findings

Descriptive Characteristics

It was found that the age averages of the NICU nurses who participated in the study was 27.87±5.35, that 41.7% of them were in the age group 24 to 29 and that 26.1% of them had one child. It was also determined that 55.2% of the nurses were university graduates, that the average working years was 6.73±5.55 and that the number of years working in NICU was 4.02±4.34 years. 58.3% of the NICU nurses worked mixed shifts and cared for 6.58±2.41 patients on average (Table 1). 40.6% of the nurses stated that they spend most of their working hours on nursing care, 13.5% stated that they spend most of their working hours on medical paperwork, 12.5% of them stated that they spend most of their working hours on diagnosis and therapy processions and 33.3% stated that they spend their working hours on all of these mentioned above.

Information Regarding Patient Safety

99% of the NICU nurses stated that they were aware of patient safety and 51.6% stated that they have sufficient information on patient safety. 74% of the nurses stated that they have received training on patient safety, 62.5% stated that they have training on patient safety in the NICU they worked at and 81.2% stated that patient safety was of great importance (Table 2).

Nurses' Intervention Scores Regarding Patient Safety Implementations

Nurses' intervention scores regarding patient safety implementations in NICU (medication, identity, hospital infections, equipment use, falling, and communication) were determined in the research. Nurses' intervention scores regarding patient safety implementations were as follows: intervention score regarding medication implementations was 92.42±6.36, intervention score regarding identity implementations was 63.14±30.30, intervention score regarding care implementations was 91.69±8.59, intervention score regarding hospital infections implementations was 95.41±6.80, intervention score regarding equipment use was 87.83±13.68, intervention score regarding falling was 95.75±7.35, intervention score regarding communication was 92.19±11.74 and the total score was 89.56±7.39. It was seen that the nurses scored highest in interventions regarding falling (92.42±6.36) and scored lowest in interventions regarding identity implementations (63.14±30.30).

Nurses' Intervention Scores Regarding Patient Safety Implementations and Related Factors

It was found that there was a meaningful difference in score averages of nursing intervention regarding medication implementations according to their level of education (Kendall's W=9.767, p=0.008). In further analysis (Bonferroni-corrected Mann Whitney U test), it was revealed that score averages of university graduate nurses were meaningfully lower than high school graduate

Table I. Sociodemographic and professional characteristics ofNeonatal Intensive Care Units nurse					
Variable	n	%			
Age groups (mean age: 27.87±5.35)					
18-23	20	20.8			
24-29	40	41.7			
30 or over	36	37.5			
Number of children					
none	50	52.1			
1 child	25	26.0			
2 or over	21	21.9			
Educational status					
High school	17	17.7			
Associate degree	26	27.1			
University degree	53	55.2			
Number of years working in nursing (mean: 6.7	3±5.55)				
Less than one year	5	5.2			
1-5 years	43	44.8			
6-10 years	25	26.0			
more than 10 years	23	24.0			
Number of years working with newborns (mea	n: 4.02±	:4.34)			
Less than one year	12	12.5			
1-5 years	59	61.5			
6-10 years	15	15.6			
more than 10 years	10	10.4			
Type of shifts					
Daytime	19	19.8			
Night	21	21.9			
Night and daytime mixed	56	58.3			
The average daily number of patients receiving care (mean = 6.58±2.41)					
3-6	51	53.1			
7 or over	45	46.9			

Opinionsn%Do you have information on the concept of p=v=v=v=vYes9599.0No11.0If you answered yes to the above questions11.0I think it is sufficient4951.6I have a limited knowledge4143.1I think it is insufficient information55.3Did you receive training on patient safety?7174.0No2526.0Is the unit where you work giving patient safety traitertYesYes6062.5No3637.5Do you think patient safety matters?7881.2Important7881.2	Table II. Neonatal Intensive Care Units nurses' of patient safety	opinions	about
Do you have information on the concept of petter surveyYes9599.0No11.0If you answered yes to the above questionsI think it is sufficient4951.6I have a limited knowledge4143.1I think it is insufficient information55.3Did you receive training on patient safety?7174.0No2526.0Is the unit where you work giving patient safet*********************************	Opinions	n	%
Yes95.99.0No11.0If you answered yes to the above questionsII think it is sufficient4951.6I have a limited knowledge4143.1I think it is insufficient information55.3Did you receive training on patient safety?Yes7174.0No2526.0Is the unit where you work giving patient safetyYers6062.5No3637.535.3Do you think patient safety matters?Yery important7881.2Important7881.218.818.8	Do you have information on the concept of part	tient saf	fety?
No1.0I fyou answered yes to the above questionsI think it is sufficient4951.6I have a limited knowledge4143.1I think it is insufficient information55.3Did you receive training on patient safety?Yes7174.0No2526.0Is the unit where you work giving patient safety verviewYes6062.5No3637.5Do you think patient safety matters?Very important7881.2Important1818.8	Yes	95	99.0
If you answered yes to the above questionsI think it is sufficient4951.6I have a limited knowledge4143.1I think it is insufficient information55.3Did you receive training on patient safety?55.4Yes7174.0No2526.0Is the unit where you work giving patient safety5Yes6062.5No3637.5Do you think patient safety matters?7881.2Important7818.8	No	1	1.0
I think it is sufficient4951.6I have a limited knowledge4143.1I think it is insufficient information55.3Did you receive training on patient safety?Yes7174.0No2526.0Is the unit where you work giving patient safet verview71Yes6062.5No3637.5Do you think patient safety matters?7881.2Important7818.8	If you answered yes to the above questions		
I have a limited knowledge4143.1I think it is insufficient information55.3Did you receive training on patient safety?Yes7174.0No2526.0Is the unit where you work giving patient safet vtriverververververververververververververv	l think it is sufficient	49	51.6
I think it is insufficient information55.3Did you receive training on patient safety?774.0Yes7125026.0Is the unit where you work giving patient safety25026.0Is the unit where you work giving patient safety60062.5No6036.037.5Do you think patient safety matters?7881.2Important1818.8	I have a limited knowledge	41	43.1
Did you receive training on patient safety? Yes 71 74.0 No 25 26.0 Is the unit where you work giving patient safety Yes 60 62.5 No 36 37.5 Do you think patient safety matters? Very important 78 81.2 Important 18.8 18.8 18.8	I think it is insufficient information	5	5.3
Yes 71 74.0 No 25 26.0 Is the unit where you work giving patient safet ************************************	Did you receive training on patient safety?		
No2526.0Is the unit where you work giving patient safetTerrYes6062.5No3637.5Do you think patient safety matters?TerrVery important7881.2Important1818.8	Yes	71	74.0
Is the unit where you work giving patient safetYes6062.5No3637.5Do you think patient safety matters?Very important7881.2Important18.818.8	No	25	26.0
Yes 60 62.5 No 36 37.5 Do you think patient safety matters? 81.2 Very important 78 81.2 Important 18.8	Is the unit where you work giving patient safet	y traini	ng?
No3637.5Do you think patient safety matters?Very important7881.2Important1818.8	Yes	60	62.5
Do you think patient safety matters?Very important7881.2Important1818.8	No	36	37.5
Very important 78 81.2 Important 18 18.8	Do you think patient safety matters?		
Important 18 18.8	Very important	78	81.2
	Important	18	18.8

nurses (Mann Whitney U=812,500, p=0.004). Also, there was a meaningful difference in nursing intervention score average regarding identity implementations in terms of working years (Kendall's W=9.259, p=0.026). In further analysis (Bonferroni-corrected Mann Whitney U test), it was found that score averages of those nurses who had been working less than one year were meaningfully higher than those nurses who had worked 1 to 5 years (MW-U=28,500, p=0.005).

Also, it was determined in this study that nursing intervention score averages of those nurses who cared for 7 or more patients regarding identity implementations, equipment use and total patient safety score averages were meaningfully lower (respectively; t=2.678, p=0.009, t=3.197, p=0.002, t=2.257, p=0.026). It was also revealed that nursing intervention score averages regarding identity implementations of the nurses who received patient safety training were meaningfully higher compared to those nurses who did not receive training (t=2.178, p=0.032) (Table 3).

Discussion

This study aimed to determine the patient safety related implementations of nurses working in NICU and related factors. It was found that more than half of the NICU nurses provided care to 3-6 patients and less than half of them provided care to 7 or more patients. According to the circular issued by the Ministry of Health on the 3rd of April 2008 03/04/2008, no.11395 (2008/25) one nurse in every shift in a Level 1 Intensive Care Unit is required whereas at least one nurse for 4 beds in every shift is required in a Level 2 Intensive Care Unit. Also, it was stated in the circular that in Level 3 Intensive Care Units, at least one nurse for three beds is required in each shift. It was seen in our study that the numbers of nurses per patient were low compared to the circular issued by the Ministry of Health. The fact that the number of nurses per patient is low creates problems such as fatigue, distraction, being unable to concentrate, and communication problems, heavy workload and burnout syndrome (19,20). About half of the nurses participating in the study stated that they have spent most of their working hours on nursing care practices. In other studies, it was found that rather than focusing on patient care, nurses spent most of their time on supplying medicationequipment, answering the phone, writing out the suggested prescriptions or checking out entrance and exit times of employees. Moreover, they spent almost 1/3 of their working time on indirect care practices (18,21). In a study conducted by Turkmen and Uslu (17), it was stated that nurses spent 13.6% of their time which was allocated for the patient on indirect care implementations such as receiving and checking out doctor requests and that they spent 35.7% of their working hours on filling out forms. An inadequate number of nurses may result in allocating less time to patients, increased medical errors and reduced care duration and patient safety.

Information Related to Patient Safety

In this study, the nurses stated that they were aware of patient safety, received training on patient safety and patient care was of great importance. In another study, 95.2% of nurses stated that patient safety is very important (22). In another study conducted by Pronovost et al. (7) in Britain, it was found that nurses' safety perception scores were higher than the doctors' safety perception scores. In a study done by Cirpi et al. (13), 96.9% of the nurses stated that patient safety implementations were necessary, 93.3% of them stated that they were aware of patient safety implementations, and 92.3% of them stated that they volunteered to be assigned in patient safety implementations. From this aspect, our research findings bear similarities to the literature. It was seen in our study that nurses were aware of patient safety and valued the patient safety concept. Nurses play a key role in improving quality in health care. Establishing and improving patient safety could only be possible if the personnel

Kaleci and Taş Arslan. Patient Safety Proctices of Nurses

Table III. Neonatal intensive care units nurses for patient safety initiatives towards application ratings and comparison of related factors									
Variable	n	Medication practice	Identity practice	Care practice	Hospital infections	Equipment use	Falling down	Communication	Total score
Educational st	atus								
High school -a	17	96.32±4.43	69.61±30.18	95.15±6.22	97.79±4.39	92.51±6.21	96.57±5.94	96.18±6.00	93.25±4.15
Associate degree -b	26	93.17±4.82	64.96±26.38	89.81±8.45	96.03±5.20	88.46±12.48	94.55±9.11	93.08±10.00	89.69±6.74
License	53	90.80±6.98	60.17±32.22	91.51±9.10	94.34±7.90	86.02±15.64	96.07±6.86	90.47±13.56	88.31±8.16
KW (SD: 2)	-	9.767	1.141	4.980	3.111	1.053	0.435	1.847	5.131
р	-	0.008	0.565	0.083	0.211	0.591	0.804	0.397	0.077
Difference	-	a>b	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Working in the	e prof	ession for yea	rs						
Less than one year -a	5	95.00±6.37	94.44±9.62	87.50±13.23	96.25±6.77	90.00±19.92	96.67±4.56	85.00±23.18	91.96±11.21
1-5 years -b	43	91.98±6.67	56.33±29.98	91.80±8.15	94.69±7.70	84.04±15.02	95.16±8.77	92.56±11.92	88.25±7.67
6-10 years	25	92.10±6.44	70.22±28.14	93.60±7.64	96.00±5.67	92.36±7.03	96.00±6.42	92.20±11.55	91.26±6.42
more than 10 years	23	93.04±5.89	61.35±31.53	90.33±9.27	95.92±6.42	89.53±14.01	96.38±6.06	93.04±8.22	89.65±6.91
KW (SD: 3)	-	1.304	9.259	2.539	0.478	6.611	0.047	0.635	4.048
р	-	0.728	0.026	0.468	0.924	0.085	0.997	0.888	0.256
Difference	-	-	a>b	-	-	-	-	-	-
Newborn worl	cing y	ears							
Less than one year	12	93.96±7.27	78.24±31.02	94.38±10.12	97.40±4.58	88.26±17.60	95.83±7.54	91.25±16.53	92.26±9.22
1-5 years	59	92.58±6.69	62.05±30.52	91.78±7.97	94.65±7.43	86.67±12.80	95.62±7.94	92.54±11.68	89.27±7.44
6-10 years	15	90.83±4.60	53.70±22.09	89.83±11.20	97.71±3.44	92.42±10.12	96.11±5.33	92.00±9.41	88.84±6.22
more than 10 years	10	92.00±5.75	65.56±35.89	90.75±5.66	94.06±8.26	87.27±18.41	95.83±7.08	91.50±10.01	89.13±6.72
KW (SD: 3)	-	3.166	4.496	3.927	2.246	3.924	0.234	0.697	4.518
р	-	0.367	0.213	0.269	0.523	0.270	0.972	0.874	0.211
Shape shifts						1			
Daytime	19	93.68±4.89	54.68±27.67	91.32±7.61	94.41±6.21	89.71±12.29	95.61±6.44	92.37±8.39	88.99±4.75
Night	21	91.43±6.15	69.84±32.09	91.79±9.05	94.05±8.14	89.18±10.99	95.24±8.96	90.71±16.30	89.75±8.71
Night and daytime mixed	56	92.37±6.89	63.49±30.32	91.79±8.86	96.26±6.43	86.69±15.06	95.98±7.11	92.68±10.83	89.68±7.70
KW (SD: 2)	-	0.999	2.861	0.307	2.716	0.402	0.253	0.433	1.492
р	-	0.607	0.239	0.858	0.257	0.818	0.881	0.805	0.474
The average da	aily nu	umber of patie	ents receiving	care					
3-6	51	92.45±6.25	72.00±27.87	93.38±8.50	96.08±6.43	90.73±12.50	96.57±7.30	92.94±10.87	91.40±6.95
7 or over	45	92.39±6.55	53.09±30.09	89.78±8.37	94.65±7.19	84.55±14.35	94.81±7.39	91.33±12.72	87.48±7.40
t (SD: 94)	-	0.047	3.197	2.088	1.025	2.257	1.168	0.668	2.678
р	-	0.962	0.002	0.039	0.308	0.026	0.246	0.506	0.009
Patient safety	traini	ng receive sta	tus						
Yes	75	92.82±6.34	67.06±28.07	91.16±8.83	95.25±7.28	89.44±11.67	95.66±7.43	91.90±12.20	90.04±7.44
No	21	91.30±6.42	52.00±34.09	93.20±7.82	95.88±5.32	83.27±17.74	96.00±7.26	93.00±10.51	88.20±7.24
t (SD: 94)	-	1.026	2.178	1.021	0.396	1.966	0.199	0.401	1.074
р	-	0.308	0.032	0.310	0.693	0.052	0.842	0.690	0.285
KW: Kendall's W, S	D: Stan	dard deviation							

comprehended the importance of the issue. In this context, training the health personnel in a hospital may develop an understanding regarding patient safety.

Intervention Scores of Nurses Regarding Patient Safety Implementations

In this research, nurses scored highest in implementations regarding falling followed by hospital infections, medication, communication, care, and equipment use respectively and scored lowest in identity practices. These implementations might affect neonatal care, morbidity and mortality. In the literature, it was stated that medication errors are most common among the issues affecting patient safety (5,23,24). This might be related to the abundant number of studies on medication implementations. The fact that identity implemented precisely. Identifying the patient and performing related nursing interventions in NICU and other clinics is vital. With this in mind, creating procedures regarding identity implementations are needed.

Factors Related to Intervention Scores Regarding Patient Safety Implementations

It was found in this study that score averages of high school graduate nurses were higher than the score averages of university graduate nurses in terms of medication implementations. This is thought to have resulted from the fact that the sample group was small. It was also found in this research that score averages in terms of identity implications of nurses who had worked less than one year were higher than those nurses who had worked between 1 and 5 years. This result might show that nurses who had worked less than one year were novice nurses and were careful not to make any mistakes. It was found that in patient safety intervention score averages of identity implementations and equipment use by the number of patients who were provided daily care and in total patient safety scores, the score averages of those nurses who provided care for 7 or more patients were lower than those nurses who provided care for between 3 and 6 patients. These results show that the number of patients per nurse affects patient safety in NICU. As the number of patients per nurse increases, the risk of therapy and care errors increase. It is accepted that patients are safest when one nurse is assigned to one or two patients in intensive care units (25).

In this research, it was determined that nurses who received training scored higher than those nurses who did not by receiving training in patient safety in terms of identity implementations. Nursing interventions regarding identity implementations are implemented the least, but it is thought that providing training in all patient safety fields would increase the level of information. It was also concluded that providing these trainings at regular intervals would improve patient safety and increase care standards.

Limitations of Research

The limitation of this study is that it only sampled nurses working in hospitals with NICU in Konya province.

Conclusion

Patient safety in neonatal units is one of the basic factors in nursing care. Providing care for human beings without causing any harm is the foundation of the nursing profession. Nurses who work in units such as NICU where sensitivity is required in patient safety have to play a lot of roles in this issue.

In this research, it was seen that nurses were aware of patient safety and performed related implementations. The nurses scored highest in interventions regarding falling and scored lowest in interventions regarding identity implementations. It was also revealed that the nurses' patient safety implementations were related to their level of education, years of working, the number of patients who were provided with care daily, and receiving training on patient safety.

It is suggested that nurses, who play a key role in providing patient safety, should improve patient safety implementations. With this aim in mind, NICU- unique guidelines should be prepared in patient safety fields (medication, identity, providing care, hospital infections, equipment use, falling and communication). In activities such as in-service training, congresses, seminars, conferences or symposiums etc. patient safety should be included more extensively and these programs should be repeated at regular intervals. The number of nurses and patients to be provided with daily care should accord with the standards and their continuity should be ensured to increase success in patient safety implementations. In order to prevent medical errors, patient safety culture should be created in hospitals and an active error notification system should be set up. Committees related to patient safety should be established in health institutions and they should work actively.

Ethics

Ethics Committee Approval: The study was approved by the Selçuk University Faculty of Medicine Ethics Committee (Approval number: 2012/04, 24.04.2012).

Informed Consent: Consent form was filled out by all participants.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Authorship Contributions

Concept: E.K., F.T.A., Design: E.K., F.T.A., Data Collection or Processing: E.K., Analysis or Interpretation: E.K., F.T.A., Literature Search: E.K., Writing: E.K., F.T.A.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: This research was financially supported both via oral presentation and the thesis by the Selçuk University Scientific Research Projects Coordinatorship in Konya, Turkey.

References

- 1. Aydın B. Ülkemizde hasta güvenliği. Sağlık Yönetimi ve Eğitimi Dergisi 2009; 2:17-19.
- Hemmat F, Atashzadeh-Shoorideh F, Mehrabi T, Zayeri F. A survey of nurses' awareness of patient safety culture in neonatal intensive care units. Iranian journal of nursing and midwifery research 2015, 20: 490-495.
- Abu-El-Noor NI, Hamdan MA, Abu-El-Noor MK, Radwan AKS, Alshaer AA. Safety Culture in Neonatal Intensive Care Units in the Gaza Strip, Palestine: A Need for Policy Change. Journal of pediatric nursing 2017; 33:76-82.
- Donchin Y, Gopher D, Olin M, Badihi Y, Biesky M, Sprung CL, Pizov R, Cotev S. A look into the natüre and causes of human errors in the intensive care unit. Qual Saf Health Care 2003, 12: 143-147.
- Durmaz A, Mete S. Hastalarin Hastaneye Yatmadan Önce Kullandıklari İlaçlara İlişkin Hemşire Notlarındaki İlaç Kayıt Hatalarının İncelenmesi. C.Ü. Hemşirelik Yüksekokulu Dergisi 2007, 11: 1-7.
- Ergenekon E. Yenidoğan yoğun bakım ünitesi tasarımı. T Klin J Pediatr 2001, 10: 1-5.
- Pronovost PJ, Thompson DA, Holzmueller CG, Lubomski LH, Morlock LL. Defining and measuring patient safety. Critical Care Clinics 2005, 21: 1-19.
- Yıldız S. Yenidoğan yoğun bakım ünitelerinin organizasyonu, Temel Neonatoloji ve Hemşirelik İlkeleri, Yenilenmiş 2. Baskı, İstanbul, Nobel Matbaacılık, 2008.
- Savaşer S, Çimen S, Yıldız S. Flakon şeklindeki antibiyotiklerde kuru toz hacminin uygulanacak doz üzerine etkisi. İstanbul Üniversitesi Florence Nightingale Hemşirelik Yüksekokulu Dergisi 2008, 16: 7-15.
- 10. Van Geest JB, Cummins DS. An educational needs assessment for improving patient safety. National Patient Safety Foundation, White paper report, 2003.

- Samra HA, Jacqueline MM, Rollins W. Patient safety in the NICU: Acomprehensive review. The Journal of Perinatal and Neonatal Nursing 2011, 25: 123–132.
- Başbakkal Z, Taş F, Yılmaz HB. Pediatri kliniklerinde çalışan hemşirelerin hasta güvenliği kültürüne ilişkin görüşlerinin incelenmesi. Ege Pediatri Bülteni 2009, 16: 87-93.
- Çırpi F, Merih DY, Kocabey MY. Hasta güvenliğine yönelik hemşirelik uygulamalarının ve hemşirelerin bu konudaki görüşlerinin belirlenmesi. Maltepe Üniversitesi Hemşirelik Bilim ve Sanatı Dergisi 2009, 3:26-34.
- 14. Resmi Gazete. 27897 sayılı Hasta Ve Çalışan Güvenliğinin Sağlanmasına Dair Yönetmelik, 2011.
- Sayek F. Hasta Güvenliği: Türkiye Ve Dünya Türk Tabipleri Birliği(TTB) Raporları, Birinci Baskı, Ankara, Türk Tabipleri Birliği Yayınları, 2011.
- T.C. Sağlık Bakanlığı Refik Saydam Hıfzıssıhha Merkezi Başkanlığı. Ulusal hastane enfeksiyonları sürveyansı Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) tarafından belirlenen hastane enfeksiyonu tanımları, 2010.
- Türkmen E, Uslu A. Özel bir hastanede hemşirelerin dolaylı bakım uygulamalarının değerlendirilmesi. İstanbul Üniversitesi Florence Nightingale Hemşirelik Yüksekokulu Dergisi 2011, 19: 60-67.
- Yıldırım Ö. Sağlık kuruluşlarında hasta güvenliğinin önemi, yaklaşımları ve insan faktörü mühendisliğinin hasta güvenliği ile ilişkisi, 1. Baskı, İstanbul, Beta Basın Yayım, 2012.
- Özkan S, Kocaman G, Öztürk C. Interruptions during pediatric medication preparation and administration. The Journal of Pediatric Research 2016, 3: 104-8.
- 20. T.C. Sağlık Bakanlığı Sağlık Eğitimi Genel Müdürlüğü. 9532 sayılı Lisans Tamamlama Programı Konulu Genelge, 2009.
- Türk Tabipler Birliği(TTB) Yenidoğan yoğun bakım birimlerinde bebek ölümleriyle ilgili komisyon raporu. 2005; http://www. ttb.org.tr/kutuphane/bebek_olumleri.pdf / Erişim Tarihi 5 Nisan 2018.
- 22. Yıldırım D. Hemşirelerin servislerde hastalarla ve diğer işlere ayırdıkları sürelerin değerlendirilmesi. İstanbul Üniversitesi Florence Nightingale Hemşirelik Yüksekokulu Dergisi 2006, 4: 177-192.
- Institute Of Medicine (IOM). To Err İs Human: Building A Safer Health System, Washington DC, National Academies Press, 1999.
- T.C. Sağlık Bakanlığı Tedavi Hizmetleri Genel Müdürlüğü. 11395 sayılı Yoğun Bakım Ünitelerinin Standartları Konulu Genelge, 2008.
- 25. Karabıyık L. Yoğun bakımda sık yapılan tıbbi hatalar. Yoğun Bakım Dergisi 2012, 10: 40-49.



Single Versus Multiple Doses of Surfactant Treatment in Preterm Infants

Betül Siyah Bilgin,
Özge Altun Köroğlu,
Demet Terek,
Mehmet Yalaz,
Mete Akisu,
Nilgün Kültürsay

Ege University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pediatrics, Division of Neonatology, İzmir, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Aim: Exogenous surfactant may be needed not only for Respiratory Distress syndrome (RDS) treatment; but also, in the management of other pulmonary diseases of infants. In this study, we aimed to investigate the impact of single versus multiple doses of surfactant therapy in pulmonary problems of preterm infants.

Materials and Methods: In this study, preterm infants who needed surfactant treatment were retrospectively evaluated. Surfactant therapy for RDS were given as 200 mg/kg poractant or 100 mg/kg beractant and repeated with 100 mg/kg doses when needed later. Poractant or beractant (100 mg/kg) were given in the treatment of other pulmonary diseases.

Results: Totally 64 preterm patients were recruited into this study. Patients in group 1 (43.8%) received a single dose of surfactant; whereas group 2 patients (56.2%) had more than one dose. Mean gestational age and birth weight of infants in group 2 were significantly lower than group 1 (p<0.05). Intrauterine growth restriction (IUGR) was more common in group 2 (p=0.041). Multiple doses of surfactant were needed for severe RDS, atelectasis, pulmonary hemorrhage and pneumonia. Duration of mechanical ventilation and hospitalization were longer in group 2 (p<0.05). Mortality rates were higher in group 2 (p=0.011).

Conclusion: Preterm infants with earlier gestational age and lower birth weight; particularly with IUGR may need multiple doses of surfactant due to more severe respiratory problems regardless of antenatal steroid or maternal chorioamnionitis status. Duration of mechanical ventilation, hospitalization and also neonatal mortality remained higher due to disease severity in preterms who needed multiple doses of surfactant.

Keywords: Preterm, respiratory distress syndrome, atelectasis, pulmonary hemorrhage, pneumonia

Introduction

In 1959, Avery et al. (1) showed that a deficiency of surface-active material (surfactant) may be significant in the pathogenesis of hyaline membrane disease in preterm infants. Exogenous surfactant was first used in Respiratory Distress syndrome (RDS) treatment by Fujiwara et al. (2) in

1980. Exogenous Surfactant increases the lung compliance and functional residual capacity at expiration, provides homogenous gas distribution at inspiration and increases oxygenation and survival in RDS patients (3).

Exogenous surfactant is now also used in many clinical situations, other than RDS, which cause endogen surfactant

This work has been presented in e-poster session at European Academy of Paediatrics Congress (EAPS 2016), Geneva/Switzerland, between 21-25 October.

Address for Correspondence

Betül Siyah Bilgin, Ege University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pediatrics, Division of Neonatology, İzmir, Turkey Phone: +90 232 390 12 82 E-mail: betulsiyah@yahoo.com ORCID: orcid.org/0000-0003-3807-4809 **Received:** 08.11.2018 **Accepted:** 19.04.2019

©Copyright 2020 by Ege University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pediatrics and Ege Children's Foundation The Journal of Pediatric Research, published by Galenos Publishing House. dysfunction or inactivation such as pulmonary hemorrhage, pneumonia, Meconium Aspiration syndrome, acute lung injury, bronchopulmonary dysplasia (BPD) or congenital diaphragmatic hernia (4). Single or multiple doses of surfactant may be needed not only for RDS treatment; but also for other indications in the management of sick newborns. The impact of multiple doses of surfactant on morbidity and mortality is not clearly known. When single or multiple doses of surfactant replacement in RDS are compared, pneumothorax and death rates are found to be lower in the latter (5). In this study, we aimed to investigate the impact of single versus multiple doses of surfactant therapy in sick preterm infants.

Material and Methods

Study Design

In this study, preterm infants (≤36 6/7 weeks), born between July 2011- June 2012, who needed surfactant due to neonatal pulmonary problems in Ege University Neonatal Intensive Care Unit were retrospectively evaluated. This study was approved by the Ege University Faculty of Medicine Clinical Research Ethics Committee (approval number: 11-12.2/4). Informed consent of the parents of the study subjects were obtained.

Clinical Data

Antenatal risk factors such as multiple gestation, antenatal corticosteroids, maternal age, premature rupture of membranes, chorioamnionitis and neonatal characteristics such as gestational age (according to last menstrual period), birthweight, intrauterine growth [based on the growth curve of Lubchenco et al. (6)], gender, mode of delivery, apgar scores and clinical progress were recorded. Definition of intrauterine growth restriction (IUGR) was based on a series of prenatal weight evaluations showing a decrease in weight percentiles.

Diagnostic criteria for the diagnosis of lung diseases were as follows:

Respiratory distress syndrome: Existence of clinical findingsofrespiratorydistress(tachypnea,grunting,cyanosis, retractions), need for oxygen and/or positive pressure ventilation and typical X-ray findings (reticulogranular pattern, decreased aeration, air bronchograms, ground glass) and an absence of suspicious or proven findings of infection (7).

Atelectasis: Based on X-ray findings.

Pulmonary hemorrhage: Bloody aspirate from endotracheal tube with at least one of the following: micro

lobular infiltrates in chest X-Ray, increase in mechanical ventilation support, more than 0.3 increase in the fraction of inspired oxygen from basal level or an acute decrease of hematocrit (>10%) (8).

Congenital pneumonia: Clinical findings of respiratory distress, need for oxygen and/or mechanical ventilation support, extrapulmonary clinical signs of sepsis starting from birth and typical chest X-ray findings with suspicious or proven infection (maternal chorioamnionitis, maternal urinary tract infections, increased or decreased leukocyte count or serum C-reactive protein increase and positive blood or endotracheal aspirate cultures) on the first day of life (7).

Bronchopulmonary dysplasia: The severity of disease was determined according to the need for oxygen support at postnatal 28th day and the need for oxygen/positive pressure ventilation at term (9).

Surfactant treatment was administered as described in the European Consensus Guidelines and the American Academy of Pediatrics (10). Surfactant preparations were chosen according to the clinical teams' decisions as beractant or poractant. Prophylactic or rescue surfactant therapy for RDS was given as 200 mg/kg poractant or 100 mg/kg beractant and later repeated with 100 mg/kg doses. 100 mg/kg poractant or beractant were given for other pulmonary diseases. For patients who developed atelectasis, pulmonary lavage was carried out with 50 mg/ kg surfactant diluted to four-fold saline (5 mg phospholipid/ mL). Treatment was administered slowly in aliquots of 2.5 mL (11).

Prophylactic surfactant therapy was performed for all infants who were born at less than 26 weeks of gestation, with the INSURE (Intubate-SURfactant-Extubate to CPAP) technique and to preterm infants with gestational age <30 weeks who needed intubation in the delivery room within 15 minutes of birth (10). Preterm infants who did not have prophylactic surfactant in the delivery room were given rescue surfactant therapy within the first six hours if their FiO, value was >0.40 and arterial-to-alveolar oxygen tension ratio was $(a/A PO_{2}) < 0.2$. Response to surfactant replacement therapy was evaluated by arterial blood gas analysis (at 2nd and 6th hours of surfactant replacement therapy) and chest X-ray (at 6th hour of surfactant replacement therapy). Surfactant replacement therapy was repeated at a maximum of three doses, if the findings of RDS persisted after six hours from initial surfactant treatment (10). In the treatment of other pulmonary diseases, surfactant replacement was considered when FiO, was >0.40 and arterial-to-alveolar oxygen tension ratio (a/A PO₂) was <0.2.

At the retrospective follow-up; patients were assigned into two groups according to their surfactant replacement status: Group 1 consisted of patients who received a single dose of surfactant; and group 2 consisted of patients who received multiple doses of surfactant. Presence of pneumothorax, intraventricular hemorrhage, patent ductus arteriosus and chronic lung disease, duration of mechanical ventilation and hospitalization, the need for postnatal steroids and mortality were recorded. With regard to surfactant replacement treatments; indications, timing and total number of applications were followed up in addition to blood gas analyses and a/A PO, ratios.

Statistical Analysis

SPSS 17.0 software was used for statistical analyses. For comparison of groups; chi-square test was used for categorical data and Mann-Whitney U test was used as a nonparametric test. P values <0.05 were considered statistically significant.

Results

For the whole study group of 64 infants, the mean gestational age was 28.37 ± 3.00 (23-36) weeks; mean birth weight was 1.238 ± 609 (580-2.950) grams, mean number of surfactant therapy applications was 2.29 ± 1.59 (1-6).

The demographic characteristics of the study group are given in Table 1. The indications of surfactant treatment and the rate of single versus multiple doses are given in Table 2.

Twenty-eight patients (43.8%) (Group 1) received a single dose of surfactant; whereas the remaining 36 (56.2%) (Group 2) patients needed multiple doses. The mean

gestational age and birth weight of those infants in group 2 were significantly lower than group 1 (p values <0.05). IUGR was more common in group 2 (p=0.041); however other clinical characteristics such as gender, multiple gestation, antenatal corticosteroids, premature rupture of membranes or chorioamnionitis did not differ between the groups (Table 1).

Multiple doses of surfactant were needed for severe RDS, atelectasis pulmonary hemorrhage, and pneumonia (Table 2). Surfactant lavage treatment was performed for nine preterm infants in the treatment of atelectasis and radiological recovery was observed in seven (77.7%) of them. The duration of mechanical ventilation and hospitalization were longer in group 2 (all p values <0.05). Mortality rates were higher group 2 (p=0.011) (Table 3).

Discussion

Exogenous surfactant is used in the treatment of many clinical conditions other than RDS such as pneumonia, Meconium Aspiration syndrome, newborn pneumonia, genetic deficiency of surfactant, acute lung damage, resistant pulmonary hypertension, BPD or congenital diaphragmatic hernia in the neonatal period (4). These diseases usually show endogenous surfactant dysfunction or inactivation or structural deficiency. Plasma proteins, erythrocyte, meconium, cytokine and other inflammatory products, proteases or reactive oxygen species may disrupt surfactant synthesis and structure.

A single dose of surfactant was given to 28 patients and multiple doses were given to 36 patients for the treatment of RDS in our study. Patients who needed multiple surfactant doses had lower birthweight and

Table I. Demographic characteristics of study population							
	All patients (n=64)	Group 1 (Single dose) (n=28)	Group 2 (Multiple doses) (n=36)	р			
Gestational age, weeksª	28.4±3.0	29.2±3.1	27.7±2.7	0.048			
Birth weight, gram ^a	1.238±609	1.439±650	1.082±532	0.019			
Male gender	39 (60.9%)	16 (57.1%)	23 (63.9%)	0.615			
Cesarean	46 (71.9%)	21 (75%)	25 (69.4%)	0.781			
IUGR	15 (23.4%)	3 (10.7%)	12 (33.3%)	0.041			
Apgar 1 st min ^a	3.8±2.1	4.4±2.2	3.4±1.9	0.074			
Multiple birth	17 (26.6%)	7 (25.0%)	10 (27.8%)	1.00			
ANCS	46 (71.9%)	22 (78.6%)	24 (66.7%)	0.403			
PROM	12 (18.8%)	6 (21.4%)	6 (16.7%)	0.750			
Chorioamnionitis	3 (4.7%)	0	3 (8.3%)	0.250			

^a: Mean ± standard deviation (range), ANCS: Antenatal corticosteroids, IUGR: Intrauterine growth restriction, PROM: Premature rupture of membranes
earlier gestational age. In the limited number of previous studies, application of multiple doses was found to be more effective on oxygenation with a tendency to decrease mortality rates as well as pneumothorax risk (RR 0.51; 95% CI 0.30-0.88) (5,12). Multiple doses of surfactant were reported to be needed more commonly in more extreme preterm infants, infants with very low birthweight and in cases with maternal chorioamnionitis (13). The European Consensus Guidelines on the management of RDS recommends that if RDS findings continue (such as oxygen and mechanic ventilation need) secondary or sometimes tertiary surfactant applications should be used (14). In our study, multiple doses of surfactant were given to those infants with severe RDS due to lung immaturity.

In this study, preterm infants with IUGR required a significantly higher number of doses of surfactant therapy. Results of studies on IUGR's impact on RDS severity vary greatly (15-19). In one study conducted by Peacock et al. (15) respiratory system morbidities of small for gestational age

Table II. Indications for	or surfactant re	placement ther	ару
	All patients (n=64)	Group 1 (Single dose) (n=28)	Group 2 (Multiple doses) (n=36ª)
RDS	62	27	35
Atelectasis	9	0	9
Pulmonary hemorrhage	8	0	8
Pneumonia	4	1	3
Total	83	28	55
a: Patients who received su	irfactant therapy c	lue to atelectasis a	nd pulmonary

hemorrhage were all previously given surfactant therapy for RDS. Two patients who had multiple doses of surfactant therapy due to pneumonia had also received surfactant therapy for RDS previously, RDS: Respiratory distress syndrome (SGA) and appropriate for gestational age (AGA) infants who were born under 1.000 grams were compared and no difference in surfactant quantity was found. Similarly, Bartels et al. (16) found the RDS percentage in AGA and SGA groups to be equal. However, Spinillo et al. (17) reported a significantly increased risk of RDS in preterm infants with IUGR. Chronic lung disease is reported to be more common in the SGA group compared to AGA preterms (18). Preterm IUGR infants have a higher pulmonary morbidity risk and therefore they may need more doses surfactant treatment than the AGA infants within the same age range (19).

Pulmonary hemorrhage may be another indication for multiple doses of surfactant treatment. Prematurity, IUGR, patent ductus arteriosus, respiratory problems, mechanical ventilation and surfactant treatment are risk factors for pulmonary hemorrhage (20). Hemoglobin, erythrocyte, membrane lipids and serum proteins disrupt the function of surfactant, hence, surface tension increases and secondary RDS develops (21). There is no randomized study showing the impact of surfactant's administration in pulmonary hemorrhage treatment. Most of the studies on this issue are based on observations. It has been shown that exogenous surfactant application improves oxygenation in the supportive treatment of pulmonary hemorrhage in the short term, however, no long-term benefit has been found. Pandit et al. (22) showed an improvement in oxygenation indexes after surfactant administration when they evaluated cases of pulmonary hemorrhage retrospectively. Analyzing the associated factors of surfactant dysfunction of 27 babies who had pulmonary hemorrhage and edema, Amizuka et al. (23) reported that exogenous surfactant application may overcome surfactant inhibition, and this may be an adjuvant treatment that solves respiratory problems. Aziz and Ohlsson (24) did not come to a conclusion about this treatment in their meta-analyses published in 2008.

Table III. Clinical outcome of study groups				
	All patients (n=64)	Group 1 (Single dose) (n=28)	Group 2 (Multiple doses) (n=36)	р
NEC	27 (42.2%)	7 (25%)	20 (55.6%)	0.028
ІСН	14 (21.8%)	4 (14.3%)	10 (27.8%)	0.322
ROP	19 (29.7%)	5 (17.9%)	14 (38.9%)	0.121
BPD	21 (32.8%)	4 (14.3%)	17 (47.2%)	0.007
Duration of mechanical ventilation, days ^a	27.74 (44.47)	10.75 (13.20)	42.02 (55.85)	0.002
Duration of hospitalization, days ^a	55.91 (39.19)	43.04 (30.74)	75.60 (41.87)	0.004
Mortality	18 (28.1%)	3 (10.7%)	15 (41.7%)	0.011

^aMean±SD (range). NEC: Necrotizing enterocolitis, ICH: Intracranial hemorrhage, ROP: Retinopathy of prematurity, BPD: Bronchopulmonary dysplasia

Plasma proteins and cytokines in the neonatal pneumonia exudate may also inactivate surfactant. Surfactant treatment in B group streptococcus pneumonia has reduced the reproduction of bacteria and improved lung functions in animal experiments (25). Improvement was reported in the gas exchange with surfactant treatment in group B Streptococcus pneumonia in The Collaborative European Multicenter Study Group study. However, response to surfactant treatment is slower than RDS treatment and needs more repetitive doses (26). In the study conducted by Alkan et al. (27), surfactant treatment except for RDS, was mostly given to patients who were diagnosed with pneumonia in the newborn period with the longest survival time. The quantity of dose was not given in this study and the average gestational week was 35.6 weeks (27). Gortner et al. (28) gave surfactant to 15 extremely low birth weigh cases with congenital pneumonia. Although the fraction of inspired oxygen (fiO₂) need decreased initially, it rose to its former state within 12 hours. A maximum of four doses were given. One surfactant dose was given to six cases and multiple surfactant doses (up to 4) were administered to nine cases (28). In our study, four cases with congenital pneumonia were given surfactant. One patient needed one dose; while three others were given multiple doses of surfactant. Therefore, we think that preterm infants with congenital pneumonia may need multiple dose surfactant treatment due to surfactant inactivation. Future controlled studies are required to research the impacts of surfactant treatment of congenital pneumonia.

In this study, diluted surfactant lavage was performed for the nine mechanically ventilated preterm patients with atelectasis in their chest X-ray and low a/A PO, values. Those infants had already been given surfactant treatment for RDS or other pulmonary problems. After surfactant lavage radiologic, clinical improvement was observed in seven patients (77%). Atelectasis may develop in preterm infants under mechanical ventilation due to primary or secondary surfactant deficiency, an increase in inflammatory mediators or a decrease in mucociliary clearance. Surfactant lavage treatment may be considered for infants who develop atelectasis during mechanical ventilation. The objective of surfactant lavage is to remove the inflammatory mediators, to clear away the mucous material with lavage and to replace the inactivated surfactant. Krause et al. (29) reported a 65% improvement in atelectasis by giving diluted surfactant with bronchoalveolar lavage followed by dornase alfa to four infants diagnosed with atelectasis after respiratory syncytial virus pneumonia.

The limitations of our study are as follows: being single centered, the small number of patients included in the study and the changes in surfactant application policies over time in RDS treatment due to the nature of this retrospective study.

The frequency of ROP (retinopathy of prematurity) and ICH (Intracranial hemorrhage), in terms of the morbidities seen in preterm infants, was not different among the groups who received single-dose or multiple-dose surfactant treatment; but NEC (Necrotizing enterocolitis) and BPD were more frequent in the multiple-dose surfactant treatment group. Multiple doses of surfactant decrease the NEC and mortality rate in RDS treatment (5). In our study, NEC and mortality rates were found to be higher in preterm patients who needed multiple doses of surfactant treatment. However, infants who were given multiple doses of surfactant had lower birthweight, earlier gestational age, longer time spent in mechanical ventilation, longer hospitalization and higher BPD and mortality rates than infants who needed only one surfactant dose.

Conclusion

Multiple doses of surfactant were needed in the treatment of RDS, atelectasis pulmonary hemorrhage and pneumonia in preterm patients with a low gestational age and birthweight; and also for those being IUGR regardless of antenatal steroid or chorioamnionitis status. The duration of ventilation, hospitalization and rates of BPD and neonatal mortality were higher due to disease severity in patients who needed multiple doses of surfactant.

Ethics

Ethics Committee Approval: This approval was received from Ege University Faculty of Medicine Clinical Research Ethics Committee (approval no: 11-12.2/4, date: 12.01.2012).

Informed Consent: Informed consent of the parents of the study subjects were obtained.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Authorship Contributions

Surgical and Medical Practices: B.S.B, D.T., Concept: N.K., M.Y., Design: N.K., M.A., Data Collection or Processing: B.S.B, D.T., Analysis or Interpretation: Ö.A.K., Literature search: B.S.B., Ö.A.K., Writing: B.S.B., Ö.A.K.

Conflict of Interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest relevant to this article to disclose.

Financial Disclosure: The authors have no financial relationships relevant to this article to disclose.

References

- Avery ME, Mead J. Surface properties in relation to atelectasis and hyaline membrane disease. Am J Dic Child 1959;97:517-23.
- Fujiwara T, Maeta H, Chida S, Morita T, Watabe Y, Abe T. Artificial surfactant therapy in hyaline-membrane disease. Lancet 1980;12:55-9.
- 3. Suresh GK, Soll RF. Overview of surfactant replacement therapies. J Perinatol 2005;25:40-4.
- Kültürsay N, Uygur Ö, Yalaz M. The use of surfactant in the neonatal period-the known aspects, those still under research and those which need to be investigated further. Turk Pediatri Ars 2014;49:1-12.
- Soll R, Ozek E. Multiple versus single doses of exogenous surfactant for the prevention or treatment of neonatal respiratory distress syndrome. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2009;1:CD000141.
- Lubchenco LO, Hansman C, Boyd E. Intrauterine growth in length and head circumference as estimated from live births at gestational ages from 26 to 42 weeks. Pediatrics 1966;37:403-8.
- Hamvas A. Pathophysiology and management of respiratory distress syndrome. In: Martin RJ, Fanaroff AA, Walsh MC (eds). Fanaroff and Martin's Neonatal- Perinatal Medicine (9th ed). Vol. 1. St. Louis: Elsevier Mosby; 2011:1106-16.
- 8. Lin TW, Su BH, Lin HC, et al. Risk factors of pulmonary hemorrhage in very-low-birth-weight infants: a two-year retrospective study. Acta Paediatr Taiwan 2000;41:255-8.
- 9. Jobe AH, Bancalari E. Bronchopulmonary dysplasia. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2001;163:1723-9.
- Sweet DG, Carnielli V, Greisen G, et al; European Association of Perinatal Medicine. European Association of Perinatal Medicine. European consensus guidelines on the management of neonatal respiratory distress syndrome in preterm infants - 2010 update. Neonatology 2010;97:402-17.
- Gadzinowski J, Kowalska K, Vidyasagar D. Treatment of MAS with PPHN using combined therapy: SLL, bolus surfactant and iNO. J Perinatol 2008;28:56-66.
- Dunn MS, Shennan AT, Possmayer F. Single- versus multipledose surfactant replacement therapy in neonates of 30 to 36 weeks' gestation with respiratory distress syndrome. Pediatrics 1990;86:564-71
- Tsakalidis C, Giougki E, Karagianni P, Dokos C, Rallis D, Nikolaidis N. Is there a necessity for multiple doses of surfactant for respiratory distress syndrome of premature infants? Turk J Pediatr 2012;54:368-75.
- Sweet DG, Carnielli V, Greisen G, et al. European Consensus Guidelines on the Management of Respiratory Distress Syndrome - 2016 Update. Neonatology 2017;111:107-25.

- Peacock JL, Lo JW, D'Costa W, Calvert S, Marlow N, Greenough A. Respiratory morbidity at follow-up of small-for-gestationalage infants born very prematurely. Pediatr Res 2013;73:457-63.
- Bartels DB, Kreienbrock L, Dammann O, Wenzlaff P, Poets CF. Population-based study on the outcome of small for gestational age newborns. Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed 2005;90:53–9.
- Spinillo A, Capuzzo E, Piazzi G, Baltaro F, Stronati M, Ometto A. Significance of low birthweight for gestational age among very preterm infants. Br J Obstet Gynaecol 1997;104:668-73.
- Soudée S, Vuillemin L, Alberti C et al. Fetal growth restriction is worse than extreme prematurity for the developing lung. Neonatology 2014;106:304-10.
- Malhotra A, Sasi A, Miller SL, Jenkin G, Polglase GR. The Efficacy of Surfactant Replacement Therapy in the Growth-Restricted Preterm Infant: What is the Evidence? Front Pediatr 2014;2:118.
- 20. Finlay ER, Subhedar NV. Pulmonary haemorrhage in preterm infants. Eur J Pediatr 2000;159:870.
- 21. Holm BA, Notter RH. Effects of hemoglobin and cell membrane lipids on pulmonary surfactant activity. J Appl Physiol 1987;63:1434e42.
- 22. Pandit PB, Dunn MS, Colucci EA. Surfactant therapy in neonates with respiratory deterioration due to pulmonary hemorrhage. Pediatrics 1995;95:32-6.
- 23. Amizuka T, Shimizu H, Niida Y, Ogawa Y. Surfactant therapy in neonates with respiratory failure due to haemorrhagic pulmonary oedema. Eur J Pediatr 2003;162:697-702.
- 24. Aziz A, Ohlsson A. Surfactant for pulmonary hemorrhage in neonates. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2008;CD005254.
- 25. Finer NN. Surfactant use for neonatal lung injury: beyond respiratory distress syndrome. Paediatr Respir Rev 2004;5 Suppl A:S289-97.
- Herting E, Gefeller O, Land M, et al. Surfactant treatment of neonates with respiratory failure and group B streptococcal infection. Members of the Collaborative European Multicenter Study Group. Pediatrics 2000;106:957-64.
- Alkan S, Ozer EA, Ilhan O, Sutcuoglu S, Tatli M. Surfactant treatment for neonatal respiratory disorders other than respiratory distress syndrome. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med 2015;28:131-3.
- Gortner L, Pohlandt F, Bartmann P. Effect of a bovine surfactant in very low birth weight premature infants with congenital pneumonia. Monatsschr Kinderheilkd 1990;138:274-8.
- 29. Krause MF, Ankermann T. Bronchoscopic interventions with surfactant and recombinant human deoxyribonuclease for acute respiratory distress syndrome-type respiratory syncytial virus-pneumonia in moderately preterm infants: Case series. SAGE Open Med Case Rep 2014:8;2:2050313X14554479.



Identification of Substance Abuse Among Children in a Pediatric Emergency Department

Nükhet Aladağ Çiftdemir, Tuba Eren, Yasemin Karal

Trakya University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pediatrics, Edirne, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Aim: Illicit substance use is a worldwide important public health problem with increasing substance abuse rates and decreasing starting age. In this study, our aim was to determine the complaints of the patients in pediatric emergency department (PED) admission in order to increase awareness about substance abuse.

Materials and Methods: The data of this cross-sectional study was gathered from those patients admitted to a PED with complaints of substance abuse and patients without a history of substance abuse, but with a positive urine drug test. A screening urine test was used for the qualitative determination of drug substances. If positive, a quantitative liquid chromatography integrated mass/mass spectrometry test was ordered for confirmation.

Results: A total of 17 patients presented to the emergency department. The most frequent symptoms were unstable cognitive conditions and tachycardia. Laboratory analyses showed high creatine kinase-MB. Synthetic cannabinoids were the most frequently detected substance in urine screening and confirmation tests. Twenty-nine percent of patients were hospitalized and no mortality was observed.

Conclusion: The use of illegal substances has increased in teenagers. Emergency department doctors must be informed and trained regarding substance abuse since patients frequently presented to the emergency department with cognitive malfunctions. Also, it should be remembered that patients may present with symptoms concerning various organ systems.

Keywords: Pediatric emergency, substance use, synthetic cannabinoids

Introduction

Illicit substance abuse is a major public health problem leading to biological, psychological and social disorders when addiction occurs over a longer period of time (1). The European Monitoring Centre for Drugs and Drug Addiction (EMCDDA) collects, analyzes and disseminates scientific information on drug-related issues and provides an evidence-based picture of the drug phenomenon. The use of illicit substances among the general population in Turkey appears to be rare according to the 2017 EMCDDA report. In 2011, cannabis was the most common illicit drug used, followed by amphetamines and MDMA/ecstasy. The highest rate of illicit substance abuse was in young males (15-34 years old). Worldwide use of synthetic cannabinoids (SCs) have increased in recent years leading to an increase in unexpected complications and symptoms (2). Many clinicians are unaware of the prevalence and severity of physical and psychoactive symptoms, and the potentially serious consequences related to the use of SCs (3).

There has been an alarming increase in substance abuse and more importantly the age that people start to abuse substances has decreased in Turkey (4). Increased abuse of

Address for Correspondence

Nükhet Aladağ Çiftdemir, Trakya University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pediatrics, Edirne, Turkey Phone: +90 533 311 38 00 E-mail: nukhetaladag@yahoo.com ORCID: orcid.org/0000-0002-0365-2181 **Received:** 30.11.2018 **Accepted:** 10.05.2019

©Copyright 2020 by Ege University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pediatrics and Ege Children's Foundation The Journal of Pediatric Research, published by Galenos Publishing House. substances will lead to an increase in hospital admissions. Based on our recent publication (5), we suspect there are more undiagnosed cases of substance abuse. To address this concern, we performed a urine drug test on suspected patients at a pediatric emergency department (PED).

Materials and Methods

The data gathered from the patients admitted with complaints of substance abuse and patients who had substances detected in their urine using screening tests despite having no history of substance use in PED between April 2015 and August 2016 were analyzed. In that time period, a total of 21,062 patients were admitted to the PED, 2,432 (11.54%) of them were between 13 and 18 years of age.

Screening were performed on patients with substance use, and on patients with complaints of unexplained unstable cognitive conditions, chest pain and palpitation. Forty three patients underwent a urine screening test. There were positive results in 24 patients. Within these 24 patients, 5 were excluded from the study due to a negative confirmation test after a positive urine screening and no history of substance use. Furthermore, 2 patients without confirmation tests were also excluded. This study contains the results of 16 patients with a positive confirmation test results and one patient with Withdrawal syndrome.

The Rapid DOA Panel test (Figure 1) is an immunochromatography based one step in vitro test. This test was used for substance screening in the urine samples of 24 patients in the PED. This test qualitatively determines the presence of drug substances in human urine. To confirm the findings of the screening test, a quantitative liquid chromatography integrated mass/mass spectrometry test was used (Figure 2). The confirmation test was performed in Trakya University Technology Research and Development Application and Research Center laboratory on the same day using fresh urine. The confirmation test results were obtained within hours. Cases were analyzed in terms of age, gender, admission time, primary complaints in admission, clinical findings, laboratory findings, method of substance



Figure 1. Rapid drugs of abuse panel test

use, additional substance use, length of hospital stay, period of monitorization and mortality rates. Intoxication severity was assessed using (1) the Poison Severity score (PSS) according to the following grades: none (grade 0), minor (grade 1), moderate (grade 2), severe (grade 3) and fatal (grade 4) and (2) the Glasgow Coma scales (GCS). Oral informed consent was obtained from the patients and/or their parents. Also, the results were shared with the patients and their parents. The study was approved by the Trakya University Faculty of Medicine, Scientific Research Ethics Committee (approval no: 2018/366, decision no: 17/21, date: 15.10.2018).

Statistical Analysis

Research data were ahalyzed by SPSS 23.0 statistical package program. Descriptive statistics were presented as mean (\pm SD), median (minimum, maximum), frequency distribution and percentage.

Results

The general aspects of the patients are listed in Table I. Only 2 patients in our study were female (female/male: 2/15). The age range was between 1 and 17 years. Most of the patients were adolescents who were between 13-17 years of age (n=14), one patient was 1-year-old and two patients were 9-years-old. Four patients had a history of Bonzai (common name for SCs in Turkey) abuse, one patient had a history of simultaneous Bonzai and cannabis abuse,



Figure 2. Quantitative liquid chromatography integrated mass/mass spectrometry test

Aladağ Çiftdemir et al. Identification of Substance Abuse Among Children

Table	I. Genera	l aspects of the p	oatients							
Case no	Age/ Gender	Complaint on admission	Accompanying findings	Heart rate per minute	Blood pressure (mmHg)	Glasgow Coma scale	Abnormal laboratory findings	Method of substance abuse	Hospitalization/ observation duration (hours)	Substance
1	14/Male	Headache, pins and needles sensation on left arm, change in consciousness	Mydriasis, confusion, headache, drowsiness	98	100/65	14	LDH: 325 U/L CK: 489 U/L CK-MB: 45 U/L Troponin-I: 0.038 µg/L	Unknown	No/18 hours	SC
2	16/ Female	Unable to talk, gibberish	Confusion, drowsiness, tachycardia, temporary agitation Hypertension	112	130/80	13	PT: 16.5 sec.	Oral	No/19 hours	SC
3	15/Male	Uneasiness, restlessness	Anxiety	74	120/76	15	CK-MB: 29 U/L K: 3,1 mmol/L	Inhalation	No/21 hours	SC
4	16/ Male	Syncope, seizure	Tendency to sleep Temporary agitation Miosis	80	110/70	14	BSL: 107 mg/ dL PT: 16,9 sec.	Inhalation	No/12 hours	SC
5	13/Male	Chest pain, palpitation	Tachycardia	115	110/60	15	CK: 242 U/L CK-MB: 44U/L Troponin I: 0,033 μg/L	Oral	Yes	Marijuana
6	1/Male	Tendency to sleep	Tachycardia, Mydriasis	150	90/50	13	BSL: 124 mg/ dL CK-MB: 41 U/L	Oral	No/12 hours	SC
7	17/ Female	Nausea, Fatigue	Tendency to sleep, Hypotension, Tachycardia	121	90/60	13	K: 3,3 mmol/L BSL: 153 mg/ dL PT: 15,9 sec.	Inhalation	No/17 hours	SC
8	17/Male	Fever, Mental fog	Agitation Crying crisis Body temperature: 38.9	96	115/57	15	PT: 15,5 sec.	Inhalation	No/10 hours	SC
9	16/Male	Chest pain	Uneasiness ECG: ST elevation	88	113/78	15	CK: 936 U/L CK-MB: 106 U/L Troponin I: 2.9 μg/L LDH:394 U/L ALT: 61 U/L AST: 119 U/L	Inhalation	Yes	SC
10	17 Male	Found unconscious by police and transferred intubated	Unconsciousness Hypotension Tachycardia Conjunctival hyperemia	130	102/53	7	CK-MB: 153 U/L CK: 226 U/L	Inhalation	Yes	SC
11	9/ Male	Headache, Dizziness, Fatigue, Fever, Vomiting	Tendency to sleep, Tachycardia, Nausea Vomiting	132	110/80	15	BSL: 116 mg/dL PT: 15,9 sec.	Inhalation	No/6 hours	SC

Aladağ Çiftdemir et al. Identification of Substance Abuse Among Children

Conti	nuation o	f Table 1								
12	18/ Male	He was found unconcious in his room	Tendency to sleep, Confusion, Hypotension ECG:ST elevation	80	80/50	13	BSL:119 mg/dL CK-MB: 33 U/L	Inhalation	No/8 hours	Marijuana+SC
13	17/ Male	Palpitation, Inappetent, Mouth dryness, Trembling hands	Agitation, Tremor, Thirst Tachycardia, Sweating	118	125/70	15	BSL: 109 mg/ dL LDH:386 U/L AST:49 U/L CK-MB:68 U/L	Withdrawal syndrome	No/6 hours	SC negative
14	17/ Male	Found unconscious	Mydriasis, Confusion, Drowsiness	92	100/60	14	LDH: 300 U/L BSL:137 mg/dL	Inhalation	No/4 hours	sc
15	17	Vomiting, spasms, blank staring, unable to walk after taking bonzai	Tendency to sleep, Blank staring Nausea	58	95/55	15	CK-MB: 29 U/L	Inhalation	No/11 hours	SK+Ecstasy
16	16/Male	Sore throat, cervical swelling	Crepitation in palpation at cervical and supraclavicular region, subcutaneous emphysema	86	110/70	15	CK:470 U/L	Unknown	Yes	Morphine
17	9/Male	Dystonia on the neck, Deviation of the eyes	Torticollis Fixed glancing to external side Tachycardia İrritability Thirst Dizziness	138	100/80	15	BSL:117 mg/dL CK-MB:30 U/L	Unknown	Yes	SC

ECG: Electrocardiogram, LDH: Lactate dehydrogenase, CK: Creatine kinase, BSL: Blood sugar level, PT: Prothrombin time, K: Potassium, AST: Aspartate aminotransferase ALT: Alanine aminotransferase, SC: Synthetic cannabinoid

one patient used simultaneously Bonzai, cannabis, ecstasy and an unknown substance, the remaining patients had histories of cigarette use and alcohol consumption. One patient was brought intubated to the PED. This patient also had a previous history of intubation after Bonzai use. Two patients with no substance abuse history in admission to the PED confessed that they had consumed Bonzai after a positive screening test. One patient with a 3-year history of Bonzai use voluntarily admitted with symptoms of substance withdrawal (Case 13). The most common presenting symptoms among patients on admission were unstable cognitive conditions (drowsiness, clouding of consciousness, confusion and secondary aggression, anxiety and restlessness) and tachycardia. Only one patient had a GCS result lower than 8. Seven patients had GCS scores between 12-14 and 9 patients had GCS scores of 15. PSS results were as follows: 1 subject had grade 3, 8 subjects had grade 2 and 8 subjects had grade 1 scores. The most common clinical findings were tachycardia in 8 (47%), hypotension in 3 (17.6%), mydriasis in 3 (17.6%), chest pain in 2 (11.7%), hypertension in 1 (5.8%) and myosis in 1 (5.8%) patient. Laboratory analyses showed that most of the patients had high levels of creatine kinase (CK)-MB (53%, n=9, mean 69.6 U/L), followed by hyperglycemia (47%, n=8, mean 122.75 mg/dL), high lactic dehydrogenase (LDH) levels (24%, n=4, mean 351.25 U/L), high CK levels (24%, n=4, mean 472.6 U/L), slightly longer prothrombin time (24%, n=4, mean 16.14 sec), high troponin-I (18%, n=3, mean 0.99 μg/L), hypokalemia (12%, n=2, mean 3.2 mmoL/L), high aspartate aminotransferase (12%, n=2, mean 84 IU/L), high alanine aminotransferase (6%, n=1, mean 61 IU/L). Substance intake occurred mostly by inhalation. SCs were the most frequently detected substance in urine screening and confirmation tests. Other substances detected in the urine were ecstasy, cannabis and morphine. Hospitalization was required in 5 patients (general pediatrics ward, n=2; pediatric intensive care unit, n=2 and pediatric surgery service, n=1). The remaining 12 patients were discharged after observations at

Table II. Contunied	
Possible findings on physical examination indicating substance abuse	
General findings	
- Altered mood	
- Poor dress/hygiene	
- Inappropriate or strange behavior	
Chronic substance abusers	
- Mood swings	
- Depression	
- Paranoia	
- Anxiety	
- Poor hygiene	
- Bizarre behavior	
Vital signs	
- Weight loss	
- Hypertension (cocaine, amphetamine)	
- Hypotension (heroine)	
- Hyperthermia (cocaine, amphetamine)	
- Hypothermia (heroine)	
- Tachycardia (marijuana, cocaine, amphetamine)	
Ear-nose-throat	
- Red eyes (marijuana)	
- Dilated pupils (marijuana, cocaine, amphetamine)	
- Constricted pupils (heroine)	
- Nasal irritation	
Cardiac	
- Arrhythmias (heroine, cocaine, amphetamine)	
Abdomen	
- Hepatomegaly	
Skin	
- Abscesses	
- Tattoos	
- Needle track marks	
Neurologic	
- Altered sensorium	
- Poor coordination	
- Ataxia (amphetamine)	
- Nystagmus	
- Hyporeflexia or hyperreflexia (marijuana, cocaine,amphetam	ine)

PED. The mean duration of the observation was 11.5 (4-21) hours. No mortality was observed.

Discussion

Illicit substance use is an important public health problem in Turkey (6). Based on our previous study and other published data, substance abuse among patients admitted to the PED is higher than the substance abuse rate derived from patient anamnesis. In our study, SCs was the most frequently abused substance. In Turkey, SCs are called "Bonzai". SCs, most commonly known as "spice" or "K2", have become popular substances because of their easy availability and their invisibility in routine drug tests (7). The most preferred method of SC use is by smoke inhalation which causes symptoms similar to cannabis (marihuana) (8). Herbal products usually contain more than one SCs compounds (9). SCs have also been detected in mixtures containing other psychoactive substances such as stimulants, hallucinogens and sedatives and can be sold as ecstasy tablets (3). SCs derivatives have a high affinity for cannabinoid receptors and are clinically 30-800 times more potent than cannabis (10). A survey assessing the knowledge of ED physicians on SCs clinical symptoms showed that 68% recognized the clinical profile variability, while 44% were unaware of the context (11). Other studies have also shown that the awareness of ED physicians regarding the symptoms of SCs use was low (12). Thus, awareness about SCs is needed, especially among ED physicians. Recent studies have shown that SCs addiction is linked to alcohol, cigarettes, hallucinogens, opiates, benzodiazepines, amphetamines and cocaine addiction (13,14,15). Studies have shown that the most frequent adverse effects of these substances are tachycardia, agitation, irritability, anxiety, hallucination, nausea, vomiting, hypertension, confusion, conjunctival hyperemia as well as others affecting the entire organ systems (3,5,7). Forrester et al. (16) evaluated 305 adolescents with SCs abuse and showed that the most frequent clinical symptoms were tachycardia (41.6%), drowsiness/lethargy (24.3%), agitation/irritability (16.4%), vomiting (13.1%), and hallucinations (10.8%). The remaining symptoms were observed in less than 10% of the patients. Our study reports confusion and tachycardia as the most frequent symptoms. Several studies showed that SCs use leads to increased creatinine kinase, lactic dehydrogenase, hyperglycemia, hypokalemia and acidosis, (17,18) which is similar to our study.

In our study, one patient had been using marijuana and had been complaining about intermittent chest pain and tachycardia for 1 year. Pediatric cardiology, gastroenterology and neurology evaluations could not find any reason for the chest pain and tachycardia. After his urine was found positive for marijuana, further detailed past medical history revealed that (admitted the use of chickpea powder), it became clear that his symptoms were a side effect of cannabis/marijuana use. It is known that acute exposure to cannabis/marijuana increases heart rate, blood pressure and causes hypotension (19). The increasing availability of marijuana edibles, including hemp oil, candy, popcorn, and beverages has been associated with increased ED visits. Sometimes adults and children are not aware of the ingredients of the food they consume (20).

We speculate that more patients will be admitted to the ED in the future with withdrawal symptoms due to the increasing use of SCs. In our study, one adolescent patient with a 3-year use of SCs was admitted to the ED with complaints of agitation, lack of appetite, xerostomia and sweating. His symptoms were a result of deprivation of the substance for three days. The patient was prescribed benzodiazepine and discharged. Withdrawal symptoms are documented as agitation, anxiety, mood swings, tremor, palpitation, diaphoresis (sweating), hypertension, hyperventilation, headache, nausea and vomiting (20,21).

One adolescent male patient in our study was admitted to the ED with complaints of sore throat and swelling from his throat to his shoulders. After examination, it became clear that his symptoms had been present for at least 3-5 days and became more severe each day. Cutaneous and subcutaneous emphysema at the bilateral cervical and supraclavicular regions were found in physical examination and confirmed by radiology. Even though the patient's laboratory tests were normal and there was no clinical history of substance use, morphine metabolites were found in his urine. In the literature, pneumomediastinum and cervical emphysema are related to cocaine inhalation, marijuana inhalation, ecstasy ingestion and are indicators of withdrawal symptoms of illicit drug use (22,23,24).

The diagnosis of substance abuse can be confirmed by clinical history, physical examination and toxicological test results (10). Urine is the preferred sample type because it is non-invasive and easy to obtain in sufficient amount. Clinicians should be familiar with their specific laboratory limitations and common false negatives (e.g. when metabolites are at concentrations less than the established thresholds) and false positive results associated with substance abuse screening tests. A high index of suspicion for substance abuse is warranted in relevant clinical contexts for agents that are not present on routine toxicology screening, such as SCs. Detection of SCs requires specialized mass spectrophotometry capabilities (25). The confirmation test in our study was a high-specific specialized mass spectrophotometric test.

Indications for drug screening include emergent presentations of altered mental status, acute injuries, lifethreatening symptoms that require a correct diagnosis to provide appropriate treatment, monitoring for abstinence in drug rehabilitation centers, and court ordered drug testing. Results of drug testing can be shared only with the patient unless permission is given or a substance is found that causes an acute medical problem, and additional care and monitoring are required (26). After the ED staff were educated regarding the symptoms of substance abuse more specific to SCs abuse, the number of patients diagnosed and treated in the ED for substance abuse doubled.

Study Limitations

The heterogeneous distribution of both patient group and their symptoms, the small number of patients and lack of a statistical analysis are the key limitations of our study. A similar study may provide a more accurate findings when administered on a larger group of patients.

Conclusion

In conclusion, substance abuse is very common among teenagers with SCs being the number one choice of substance. Substance abuse patients can easily hide it from their doctors. Thus, ED physicians must be educated regarding the symptoms of substance abuse because patients may present with various symptoms and may be treated symptomatically or referred to incorrect clinics and encounter delayed diagnosis. Also, community education such as TV, radio advertisements and social awareness campaigns should be performed to target the rise of substance abuse among the population.

Ethics

Ethics Committee Approval: The study was approved by the Trakya University Faculty of Medicine, Scientific Research Ethics Committee (approval no: 2018/366, decision no: 17/21, date: 15.10.2018).

Informed Consent: Oral informed consent was obtained from the patients and/or their parents.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Authorship Contributions

Surgical and Medical Practices: N.A.Ç., Concept: N.A.Ç., T.E., Y.K., Design: N.A.Ç., Data Collection or Processing: N.A.Ç., T.E., Y.K., Analysis or Interpretation: N.A.Ç., T.E., Y.K., Literature Search: N.A.C., T.E., Y.K., Writing: N.A.C.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study received no financial support.

References

- İbiloğlu AO, Atlı A, Güneş M. Sentetik Kannabinoidler. Psikiyatride Güncel Yaklaşımlar-Current Approaches in Psychiatry 2017;9:317-28.
- European Monitoring Centre for Drugs and Drug Addiction (2017), Turkey, Country Drug Report 2017, Publications Office of the European Union, Luxembourg.
- Castellanos D, Gralnik LM. Synthetic cannabinoids 2015: An update for pediatricians in clinical practise. World J Clin Pediatr 2016;8:16-24.
- Küme T, Karakükcü Ç, Kara Uzun N, et al. Tıbbi Laboratuvarlarda Madde Analizleri. Türk Klinik Biyokimya Derg 2016;14:58-71.
- Aladağ Çiftdemir N, Yücel İ, Duran R,et al. A new emerging problem in pediatric emergency units: Synthetic cannabinoids. Turk J Pediatr 2016;58:492-7.
- Heyerdahl F, Hovda KE, Giraudon I, et al. Current European data collection on emergency department presentations with acute recreational drug toxicity: Gaps and national variations. Clin Toxicol 2014;52:1005-12.
- Thornton MD, Baum CR. Bath salts and other emerging toxins. Pediatr Emerg Care 2014;30:47-52.
- Akgül A, Aşçıoğlu F. Uyuşturucu maddelerde yeni trendler ve erken uyarı sistemi, örgütlü suçlar ve yeni trendler Ankara, Turkey: Polis akademisi yayınları 2011; p 29-56.
- Göl E, Çok İ. Assessment of types of synthetic cannabinoids in narcotic cases assessed by the Council of Forensic Medicine between 2011-2015, Ankara, Turkey. Forensic Sci Int. 2017;280:124-9.
- Caliskan FT, Toker I, Toktaş R, et al. Street Drug Use among Emergency Patients in a Public Hospital in Turkey. Niger J Clin Pract 2018;21:99-106.
- Urazel B, Teyin A, Kaya S, et al. Emergency Department Physicians' Knowledge of Synthetic Cannabinoids. J Turgut Ozal Med Cent 2015;22:249-52.

- Lank PM, Pines E, Mycyk MB. Emergency physicians' knowledge of cannabinoid designer drugs. West J Emerg Med 2013;14:467-70.
- 13. Barratt MJ, Cakic V, Lenton S. Patterns of synthetic cannabinoid use in Australia. Drug Alcohol Rev 2013;32:141-6.
- Winstock AR, Barratt MJ. Synthetic cannabis: a comparison of patterns of use and effect profile with natural cannabis in a large global sample. Drug Alcohol Depend 2013;131:106-11.
- Bozkurt M, Umut G, Evren C, et al. Sentetik kannabinoid kullanımı nedeniyle polikliniğe başvuran hastaların klinik özellikleri ve laboratuvar sonuçları. Düşünen Adam: Psikiyatri ve Nörolojik Bilimler Dergisi 2014;27:328-34.
- Forrester MB. Adolescent synthetic cannabinoid exposures reported to Texas poison centers. Pediatr Emerg Care 2012;28:985-9.
- Ergül DF, Ekemen S, Büyükkıdan Yelken B. Synthetic Cannabinoid 'Bonzai' Intoxication: Six Case Series. Turk J Anaesth Reanim 2015;43:347-51.
- Besli GE, Ikiz MA, Yildirim S, et al. Synthetic Cannabinoid Abuse in Adolescents: A Case Series. J Emerg Med 2015;49:644-50.
- World Health Organization. The health and social effects of nonmedical cannabis use. WHO http://www.who.int/ substance abuse/publications/msbcannabis.pdf (2016)
- Vo K, Horng H, Li K, et al. Cannabis Intoxication Case Series: The Dangers of Edibles Containing Tetrahydrocannabinol. Ann Emerg Med 2018;71:306-13.
- 21. Bilici R. Synthetic Cannabinoids. North Clin İstanbul 2014;1:121-6.
- Bolvardi E, Pishbin E, Ebrahimi M, Mahmoudi Gharaee A, Bagherian F. Spontaneous Pneumomediastinum with a Rare Presentation. Case Rep Emerg Med 2014;2014:451407.
- Gungadeen A, Moor J. Extensive Subcutaneous Emphysema and Pneumomediastinum after Ecstasy Ingestion. Case Rep Otolaryngol 2013;2013:795867.
- 24. Atmaca Temrel T, Şener A, İçme F, et al. Subcutaneous Emphysema, Pneumomediastinum, and Pneumorrhachis after Cocaine Inhalation. Case Rep Emerg Med 2015;2015:134816.
- Finkelstein Y Goel G, Hutson JR, et al. Toxicology Investigators Consortium (ToxIC). Drug Misuse in Adolescents Presenting to the Emergency Department. Pediatr Emerg Care 2017;33:451-6.
- 26. Barangan CJ, Alderman EM. Management of Substance Abuse. Pediatr Rev 2002;23:123-31.



Anxiety Levels and Needs of Fathers of Children Hospitalized in Pediatric Surgery Intensive Care Units

Nurdan Akçay Didişen¹, Atiye Karakul², Sevinç Ertürk³, Zafer Dökümcü⁴

¹Ege University Faculty of Nursing, Department of Pediatric Nursing, İzmir, Turkey ²Katip Çelebi University Facult of Medicine, Department of Pediatric Nursing, İzmir, Turkey ³Pediatric Surgery Intensive Care Unit, İzmir, Turkey ⁴Ege University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pediatric Surgery, İzmir, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Aim: The purpose of this study was to determine the anxiety levels and needs of those fathers whose children were hospitalized in a pediatric surgery intensive care unit.

Materials and Methods: This cross-sectional study was conducted with the fathers of children hospitalized in a pediatric surgery intensive care unit in 2016/2017 by using the critical care family needs inventory (CCFNI), and State and Trait Anxiety scale. Setting: Turkey, a university hospital.

Results: This study included 113 fathers. The fathers' mean age was 36.6±6.31 years. There was a weak positive correlation between the scores the fathers obtained from the State Anxiety scale and the CCFNI. There was a difference between the fathers' intensive care needs in terms of their education levels. While "feeling that hospital personnel are attentive to the patient" was important for 92% of the fathers, "being sure that as much care as possible is given" was important for 88.5% and "being informed about the patient at least once a day" was important for 85.8%.

Conclusion: The anxieties and needs of the fathers of the patients staying in a pediatric surgery intensive care unit were high, particularly in those with a low educational level. Health professionals should be aware of the fathers' feelings, needs and stressors so that they can provide interventions specific to fathers.

Keywords: Anxiety, father, needs, pediatric surgery, intensive care

Introduction

A child's admission to a surgical clinic or intensive care unit has many effects on their parents (1). Many stressors arising due to intensive care affect not only family functions but also the physiological and psychosocial well-being of families (2-4). The activities of daily living of families whose children stay in intensive care units are disrupted and families have difficulty in fulfilling their responsibilities (5). This study provides an understanding of the anxiety levels and needs of the fathers.

Background

Stress may result from such situations as fear of the unknown, fear of death, fear of not waking up after anesthesia, loss of control, pain, isolation, separation from loved ones or being deprived of social life. In addition to these, many other factors such as the strangeness of

Address for Correspondence

Nurdan Akçay Didişen Assistant Professor, PhD, RN, Ege University Faculty of Nursing, Department of Pediatric Nursing, İzmir, Turkey Phone: +90 232 311 55 61 E-mail: nakcayyy@gmail.com / nurdan.akcay@ege.edu.tr ORCID: orcid.org/0000-0002-4371-6020 Received: 06.04.2019 Accepted: 31.05.2019

> ©Copyright 2020 by Ege University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pediatrics and Ege Children's Foundation The Journal of Pediatric Research, published by Galenos Publishing House.

the hospital setting, health care team's use of unfamiliar medical terms, the use of unfamiliar devices (e.g. monitors, ventilators, infusion pumps) or alarm sounds and lights from these devices are indicated to affect individuals' anxiety levels (6-9). The leading causes of stress and anxiety in these families are the history of the disease, fear of losing a loved one, issues resulting from moving to a new place, financial concerns, role changes and separation from other family members (10). Mild anxiety can increase spontaneous attention, courage and assertiveness. An individual's ability to perceive, comprehend and make decisions decreases as the level of anxiety increases. Parents' suffering intense anxiety can be prevented from understanding the information given about the child appropriately, interpreting the events realistically, making appropriate decisions, participating in the child's care or remembering the proper coping methods they had utilized previously (11). In the literature, it has been reported that parents whose children stay in surgical clinics experience various emotional conditions such as stress and anxiety (12,13). Parents of a child who is admitted to a surgical intensive care unit experience a crisis due to the child's sudden illness or planned major surgical intervention (5).

Parents of children admitted to an intensive care unit want to stay with their children constantly, to take part in the child's care, to receive accurate information about the child's disease and the prognosis of the disease, to be informed about any change in the child's condition, to be helped and supported by health professionals, and to be in constant contact with health professionals (6,14,15). Parents also want to be sure that the members of the healthcare team regard their child as an individual and try to treat their child in the best way (3,9,14,16,17).

Aim

The aim of this study was to determine the anxiety levels and needs of those fathers whose children were hospitalized in a pediatric surgery intensive care unit.

Materials and Methods

This cross-sectional study was conducted with fathers who had children hospitalized in the pediatric surgery intensive care unit of a university hospital for at least 48 hours between November 1, 2015 and March 1, 2017 and who also agreed to participate in the study. During this period, 237 patients were admitted to the pediatric surgery intensive care unit. The power analysis was used to calculate the sample size for finite population and it was decided to include 147 fathers at a 95% confidence interval with a margin of error of 0.05. Of the 147 fathers included in the study, 24 were excluded because they filled in the questionnaires incompletely or incorrectly. Thus, 113 fathers comprised the study sample.

Measuring Instruments

In this study, the sociodemographic characteristics questionnaire, state and trait anxiety inventory, CCFNI and child information form were used.

Sociodemographic Characteristics Questionnaire

This questionnaire including 12 items questioning the fathers' sociodemographic characteristics was developed by the researcher in line with the relevant literature (1,3,6,8,9,13,16,18-20).

State and Trait Anxiety Inventory (Self-report form) STAI form TX-1,2

The STAI developed by Spielberger et al., and adapted to Turkish by Öner and LeCompte (21) (1985) includes 40 items. Of these items, 20 assess state anxiety and the other 20 assess trait anxiety. Responses to each item in the state anxiety inventory have 4 options: 1) not at all, 2) somewhat, 3) much, and 4) completely.

Critical Care Family Needs Inventory

In 1991, Leske evaluated the construct validity of this scale through factor analysis and reported that its Cronbach's alpha reliability coefficient was 0.9. The scale consists of 4 subscales including 44 items questioning the needs of the family members (22). The results of İşeri's study revealed that the reliability and validity of the scale was high for Turkey (8). To use the scale in the present study, written permission was obtained from its author.

Child Information Form

This form was developed by the researcher to collect data about children staying in the intensive care unit. The form includes items questioning the child's age, gender, nutrition style, respiratory support, and length of stay in the intensive care unit. The form was filled in by the researcher.

Procedure

In the data collection process of the fathers, those who met the inclusion criteria and agreed to participate in the study were informed about the purpose and method of the study using a face-to-face interview technique, and their written informed consent was obtained.

After the fathers were informed, the sociodemographic characteristics questionnaire, developed by the researcher

in line with the relevant literature, was used to collect data on their socio-demographic characteristics such as place of residence, educational status, social security status, monthly income status, history of previous hospitalizations, the CCFNI was used to determine the needs of the participating fathers, the STAI form was used to determine the fathers' anxiety levels, and the child information form was used to collect data.

Ethics

This study was approved by the Ege University Nursing Faculty Scientific Ethics Committee of the University (approval number: 2015-110) and the clinic where the study was to be conducted. After the fathers included in the research were informed about the purpose of the study, their written consent indicating that they agreed to participate in the study was obtained.

Statistical Analysis

The SPSS for Windows 22.0 package program was used for the statistical analysis of the study data. The sociodemographic characteristics of the fathers included in the study were assessed in numbers and percentages. Whether the data was normally distributed or not was determined with the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test. As the data was normally distributed, Mann-Whitney U test and Kruskal-Wallis test were used to analyze the data. To examine the relationship between the scales, the Pearson correlation analysis was performed. The results were considered statistically significant at the p<0.05 level (95% confidence interval).

Results

The mean age of the participating fathers was 36.6±6.31 (min=22, max=57) years. While 58.4% of the fathers had spent 2/3 of their lives in a city, 24.8% spent it in a district/ town and 16.8% in a village. While their children were in the intensive care unit, 40.7% of the fathers stayed in the hospital, 38.1% in their own home, 15.9% in a relative's home, 3.5% in a hotel and 1.8% in a friend's home. Of the fathers, 66.4% had a nuclear family, 26.5% had an extended family, 4.4% had a traditional family, 2.7% had a fragmented family. In terms of family size, 34.5% had one child, 39.2% had two children, 20.4% had three children. In terms of educational status, 39.8% were primary school graduates, 24.8% were high school graduates and 29.2% had a higher education. In terms of financial security, 91.2% had social security and 61.9% had an income equal to expenses. Additionally, 56.6% did not have a previous hospitalization experience and 47.8% had no chaperone experience previously (Table 1).

According to the socio-demographic characteristics of the children of the fathers included in the study sample, the children's mean age was 5.37 ± 4.67 (min=1, max=17)

Table I. Sociodemographic characteristics of fathers								
	Number (n)	Percentage (%)						
Place of residence								
City	66	58.4						
District/town	28	24.8						
Village	19	16.8						
Place stayed in during child's	hospitalizatio	n						
Hotel	4	3.5						
A relative's home	18	15.9						
A friend's home	2	1.8						
Hospital	46	40.7						
His/her own home	43	38.1						
Family type								
Nuclear	75	66.4						
Extended	30	26.5						
Traditional	5	4.4						
Fragmented	3	2.7						
Education								
Illiterate/low literacy	7	6.2						
Elementary/secondary school	45	39.8						
High school	28	24.8						
University or higher	33	29.2						
Social security								
Yes	103	91.2						
No	10	8.8						
Income status								
Income less than expenses	27	23.9						
Income equal to expenses	70	61.9						
Income higher than expenses	16	14.2						
History of previous hospitaliz	ations							
Yes	49	43.4						
No	64	56.6						
History of being chaperone p	reviously							
Yes	59	52.2						
No	54	47.8						
Total	101	100.0						

years. Of the children, 34% were girls, 58.5% had parenteral nutrition, 13.2% had oral and parenteral nutrition, 11.3% had oral and enteral nutrition, 9.4% had parenteral and enteral nutrition, 65.4% did not receive oxygen support, and 3.8% were intubated.

The mean score obtained from the CCFNI by the participating fathers was 147.61 ± 1.55 (min=02, max=05). The mean scores obtained from the subscales of the CCFNI were 46.11 ± 0.68 (min=25, max=60) for the Support and Proximity Need subscale, 36.14 ± 0.31 (min=27, max=40) for the Information Need subscale, 24.33 ± 0.44 (min=13, max=32) for the Comfort Need subscale, and 33.68 ± 0.21 (min=27, max=36) for the Assurance Need subscale (Table 2).

The items responded to as "very important" by the participating fathers were as follows: to feel that hospital personnel care about the patient (92.5%), to be assured that the best possible care is being given (88.5%), to receive information about the patient at least once a day (85.8%), to have questions answered honestly (84.1%), to feel there is hope (84.1%), to know the facts about the patient's progress (83%), to receive understandable explanations (80.5%), to know the reasons for the interventions the patient undergoes (78.8%), to know exactly what is being done for the patient (77%), to talk to the doctor every day (77%), to be called at home about changes in the patient's condition (76.1%), to know the expected outcome (76.1%), to know how the patient is being treated medically (74.3%), to have directions about what to do when they are at the bedside (72.6%), and to be informed about the environment in the critical care unit before going there (70.8%).

The items responded to as "not important" by the participating fathers were as follows: to have another person with you when visiting the critical care unit (32.7%), to be visited by a hodja (25.7%), to have a bathroom near

Table II. Distributi family needs invent	on of the mean tory and its sub	n scores scales	for the	e critical care
CCFNI Subscales	The number of the items	x	SS	Cronbach's alfa coefficient
Support and proximity need	15	46.11	0.68	0.836
Information need	12	36.14	0.31	0.782
Comfort need	8	24.33	0.44	0.812
Assurance need	9	33.68	0.21	0.702
CCFNI total	44	147.61	1.55	0.921
CCFNI: Critical care fam	ily needs inventory	/		

the waiting room (17.7%), to know which staff members could give what information (17.7%), to be informed about religious services (16.8%), to have a telephone near the waiting room (15%), to change visiting hours in case special conditions arise (14.2%), to be alone whenever you want to (10%) and to have someone to help with family problems (10.6%).

While the mean trait anxiety score obtained by the fathers was 46.76 ± 0.60 (min=31, max=67), the mean state anxiety score was 41.93 ± 0.59 (min=28, max=66) (Figure 1).

The comparison of the fathers' socio-demographic characteristics with the scores they obtained from the CCFNI and its subscales are shown in table 3. There was a statistically significant relationship between the education variable and the fathers' overall CCFNI scores and Comfort Need subscale scores (p<0.05). As the fathers' education levels increased, so did their critical care needs. There was a difference between the fathers with higher education and the illiterate and primary school graduate fathers, and between high school graduate fathers and illiterate fathers (p<0.05). There was a statistically significant relationship between the education variable and the fathers' Support and Proximity Need subscale scores (p=0.029) (Table 3). As the fathers' education levels increased, so did their support and proximity needs.

There was a statistically significant relationship between the education variable and the fathers' trait anxiety scores (p=0.04). There was a difference between those fathers with higher education and those who only received primary school education (p<0.05) (Table 3).

Discussion

Parents whose children are admitted to the critical care unit are faced with many stressors. Among these stressors, the deterioration of family integrity is the leading one.



Figure 1. Mean scores fathers obtained from the State and Trait Anxiety scale

Table III. Comparison	fath	ers' socio-de	mographic ch	naracteristic	s with the scc	ores they obt:	ained from t	the ccfni and	l its subscale	S			
Socio-demographic characteristics		Support an need	id proximity	Informatio	n need	Comfort ne	ed	Assurance	need	Total score f overall scale	or the	State anxie	ty score
	2	X±SD	Statistical value	X± SD	Statistical value	X± SD	Statistical value	X± SD	Statistical value	X± SD	Statistical value	X± SD	Statistical value
Place of residence City District/Town Village	19 28 66	45.93±0.87 45.64±1.61 47.42±1.42	KWS:0.95* p=0.65	36.04±0.41 36.07±0.73 36.57±0.54	KWS:0.16* p=0.92	22.70±0.54 24.64±1.07 25.78±0.89	KWS:3.12* p=0.20	33.54±0.28 33.82±0.50 33.94±0.46	KWS:1.31* p=0.59	146.27±1.83 148.71±4.10 144.45±2.94	KWS:0.46* p:0.79	42.21±1.37 42.32±1.48 41.69±0.69	KWS:0.27* p:0.87
The Place Stayed In Izmir Hotel A relative's home A friend's home hospital His/her own home	4 1 2 2 4 4 4 3 4 4 5 4 5 4 5 4 5 4 5 4 5 4 5 4	44.25±4.90 44.55±1.80 45.23±0.98 48.02±1.15	KWS:4.70* p=0.31	36.00±2.67 37.00±0.67 39.50±0.67 35.58±0.48 36.23±0.52	p=0.18	26.00±2.94 24.77±1.10 22.50±2.50 224.04±0.64 24.39±0.77	KWS:2.27* p=0.87	34.25±0.85 33.55±0.45 33.00±3.00 33.39±0.31 34.02±0.41	KWS:6.11* p=0.19	147,50±11,89 146,88±3.76 145,50±3.50 145,26±2.03 150,53±2.92	KWS:3.51* p:0.47	41.50±3.92 40.88±1.05 37.00±5.00 42.43±0.94 42.11±1.03	KWS:2.84* p:0.59
Family Type Nuclear Extended Traditional Fragmented	75 60 5 3	46.44±0.87 45.80±1.21 41.40±2.48 49.00±5.03	KWS:3.10* p=0.37	35.94±0.40 36.66±0.51 36.80±1.35 34.66±2.90	KWS:0.88* p=0.82	24.38±0.57 24.50±0.70 21.80±2.20 25.66±3.28	KWS:1.25* p=0.74	33.92±0.27 33.20±0.39 32.80±1.24 34.00±1.15	KWS:5.67* p=0.12	148.20±2.06 147.10±2.40 139.80±6.55 151.00±12.01	KWS:1.55* p:0.67	42.57±0.70 40.53±1.24 41.00±2.91 41.66±0.33	KWS:2.08* p:0.55
Education Illiterate / Literate Elementary/Secondary High School University or Higher	7 45 28 33	51.14±1.85 47.95±0.98 44.85±1.29 43.60±1.14	KWS:10.64* p=0.01	37.00±1.71 36.42±0.44 36.78±0.52 35.03±0.67	KWS:54.86* p=0.18	29.14±1.20 25.62±0.61 24.14±0.73 21.72±0.85	KWS:18.37* p=0.000	34.28±0.52 34.06±0.34 33.50±0.32 33.18±0.49	KWS:4.06* p=0.25	159.57±3.06 152.17±2.34 146.10±2.50 140.12±3.20	KWS:12.72* p:0.005	43.28±2.87 43.02±1.07 40.82±0.96 41.12±0.94	kWS:3.98* p:0.26
History of previous hospitalizations Yes No	49 64	46.00±1.08 46.20±0.89	MWU:73** p=0.94	36.75±0.40 35.67±0.45	MWU:-1.44** p=0.15	24.40±0.64 24.28±0.60	MWU:18** p=0.85	33.89±0.31 33.51±0.30	MWU:82** p=0.41	148.06±2.16 147.26±2.20	MWU:30** p:0.94	41.04±0.77 42.62±0.85	MWU:1.4** p:0.15
History of being chaperone previously Yes No	59 54	45.94±0.89 46.29±1.05	MWU:20** p=0.83	36.47±0.42 35.77±0.46	MWU:-1.30** p=0.19	24.30±0.54 22.94±0.71	MWU:- .03** p=0.97	33.81±0.31 33.53±0.31	MWU:85** p=0.39	147,44±1.94 147.79±2.49	MWU:77** p:0.91	41.47±0.68 42.44±0.98	MWU:77** p:0.43
*Kruskal-Wallis test **Mann-Whitney U test, SD): Star	idard Deviation											

Akçay Didişen et al. Anxiety Levels and Needs of the Fathers

Coping with the problems arising from the child's admission to an intensive care unit and dealing with the child/family holistically are very important if quality patient care is to be achieved. In meeting the patients' and their parents' needs, primary responsibility lies with health professionals. In this study, conducted to determine the fathers' critical care needs and anxiety status, the vast majority of the fathers stated that their needs were very important or important.

In studies conducted by Stremler et al. (15), anxiety levels of parents with children receiving intensive care were high. In the study conducted by Board (2004), fathers were reported to suffer high levels of anxiety due to the intensive care setting, children's appearance and behavior, and intensive care procedures (23). In Dudley and Carr's study (2004), families were determined to experience feelings of anxiety, shock and uncertainty about their children (18). Chui and Chan (2007) interviewed parents whose children were in the intensive care unit and found that parents' anxiety levels were quite high (6). In the current study, the fathers' status and trait anxiety levels were high. To reduce parents' anxiety levels, environmental arrangements can be made. Currently, in Turkey, parents cannot stay with their children in the intensive care unit. However, in North America, parents can stay with their children (24). In the literature, it has been reported that parents' staying with their child in the intensive care environment reduces their anxiety level (18,19,25). In a study by Colville et al. (26) (2009), parents reported that their anxiety regarding their child's condition was greater than their anxiety regarding their child's condition when they were healthy. The parents also stated that their stress increased when they could not communicate with anybody about their child's progress. In Majdalani et al. (27) study (2014), families stated that they needed to be informed about the condition of their child to reduce their anxiety. Thus, it is very important for families to be regularly informed by health personnel.

There was no significant relationship between the parents' anxiety levels and their critical care needs. The fathers' anxiety levels were high, and their needs were a lot. It is important that caregivers are aware of the needs of the fathers. It is also necessary to consider that the father may be anxious. Initiatives to reduce the anxiety of parents and meet their needs should be planned. Fathers participating in this study rated the item 'the need for information' as very important. This result is similar to previous studies, which identified the importance of information (9,21,28). McKiernan and McCarthy stated the satisfaction of these family members (28).

In Uzun et al. (10) study (2002), the first three needs indicated by family members were "to be assured the best possible care is being given". In Tokur et al. (20) study (2016), while 90% of the patients' relatives wanted to see their patients every day, 96% wanted to be informed about their patient's condition every day. In the present study, the fathers considered the following items very important: "to feel that hospital personnel care about the patient", "to be assured that the best possible care is being given", "to receive information about the patient at least once a day", "to have questions answered honestly", "to feel there is hope", and "to know the facts about the patient's progress".

As the fathers' education levels increased, so did their critical and support/proximity needs. In a study performed by İşeri (2010), no correlation was determined between the participants' educational status and their assurance, support and proximity, information and comfort needs (8). In their study, Medonca and Warren (17) determined that the illiterate participants had a higher expectation of support.

In Maxwell's study (2010), families obtained the highest mean scores from the assurance, proximity, information, comfort and support need subscales respectively (9). In Majdalani et al. (27) study, the families described their experience relating to the intensive care setting, their child's prognosis and expectations of health professionals as a journey into the unknown. Board (2004) reported that the father's communication with health professionals was poor and that they did not know how to help their children (23). In a study conducted by Berube et al. (29) (2014), they concluded that the parents whose children were in the intensive care unit felt exhausted, wanted to feel that they were supported by others and wanted to be informed of their child's condition. Also the families' support and proximity needs were high.

In a study conducted by Carlson et al. (30), of the parents whose children were in intensive care units, 20% were satisfied with their communication with physicians and nurses, being informed about their children's condition, and receiving emotional support. Uzun et al. (10) reported (2002) that many of the patients' families regarded their need to be informed about the patient's condition and to receive psychological support as more important than their personal/physical needs. Clinical protocols should be developed to meet the needs of the father in line with these requirements.

Limitation of the Study

Our study had several limitations. The first one is that the study was performed only in the surgical intensive care

unit in one center. In addition, the majority of the participating fathers' economic status, social security and education levels were good. Therefore, the results of study cannot be generalized to other centers as priorities may change.

Conclusion

In conclusion, the anxiety levels and needs of those fathers whose children were admitted to the pediatric intensive care unit were high. The fathers wanted to know that their child received the best possible care from the hospital staff, and to receive clear, understandable and accurate information about their child. In order to improve the conditions and the quality of care in the existing pediatric surgery intensive care units in Turkey, hospital and/or clinical protocols should be developed to meet the needs of the fathers and to establish effective communication with them.

Ethics

Ethics Committee Approval: This study was approved by the Ege University Nursing Faculty Scientific Ethics Committee of the University (approval number: 2015-110) and the clinic where the study was to be conducted.

Informed Consent: A consent form was filled out by all participants.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Authorship Contributions

Surgical and Medical Practices: S.E., Z.D., Concept: N.A.D., A.K., S.E., Z.D., Design: .A.D., A.K., S.E., Z.D., Data Collection or Processing: S.E., Analysis or Interpretation: A.K., Literature Search: N.A.D., A.K., S.E., Z.D., Writing: N.A.D., A.K.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study received no financial support.

References

- 1. Grandjean C, Latour JM, Cotting J, Fazan MC, Leteurtre S, Ramelet AS. Measurement of parent satisfaction in the paediatric intensive care unit-Translation, cultural adaptation and psychometric equivalence for the French-speaking version of the EMPATHIC-65 questionnaire. Intensive Crit Care Nurs 2017;38:40-5.
- Chien WT, Chiu YL, Lam LW, Ip WY. Effects of a needs-based education programme for family carers with a relative in an intensive care unit: A quasi-experimental study. Int J Nurs Stud 2006;43:39-50.
- Shudy M, de Almeida ML, Ly S, et al. Impact of pediatric critical illness and injury on families: a systematic literature review. Pediatrics 2006;118 Suppl 3:S203-18.

- Wasserfallen JB, Bossuat C, Perrin E, Cotting J. Cost borne by families of children hospitalised in a paediatric intensive care unit: A pilot study. Swiss Med Wkly 2006;136:800-4.
- Young Seideman R, Watson MA, Corff KE, Odle P, Haase J, Bowerman JL. Parent stress and coping in NICU and PICU. J Pediatr Nurs 1997;12:169-77.
- Chui WY, Chan SW. Stress and coping of Hong Kong Chinese family members during a critical illness. J Clin Nurs 2007;16:372-81.
- Hollywood M, Hollywood E. The lived experiences of fathers of a premature baby on a neonatal intensive care unit. J Neonatal Nurs 2011;17:32-40.
- 8. İşeri Ö. Family members' and nurses' perceptions of the needs of intensive care unit patient relatives. Cumhuriyet University Health Sciences Institute 2010.
- Maxwell KE, Stuenkel D, Saylor C. Needs of family members of critically ill patients: A comparison of nurse and family perceptions. Heart Lung 2007;36:367-76.
- Uzun Ö, Özer N, Akyıl RÇ. Needs of patients' families in some surgical clinics and surgical intensive care units. Eurasian J Med 2002;34:39-45.
- Akşit S, Cimete G. The effect of nursing interventions on the anxiety level of mothers after admission of their children to the intensive care unit. Cumhuriyet Nursing Journal 2001;5:25–36.
- 12. Leung K, Chien WT, Mackenzie AE. Needs of Chinese Families of Critically Ill Patients. West J Nurs Res 2000;22:826-40.
- 13. Söderström IM, Saveman BI, Benzein E. Interactions between family members and staff in intensive care units an observation and interview study. Int J Nurs Stud 2005;23:2-30.
- 14. Meyer EC, Snelling LK, Myren-Manbeck LK. Pediatric intensive care: The parents' experience. AACN Clin Issues 1998;9:64-74.
- Stremler R, Haddad S, Pullenayegum E, Parshuram C. Psychological Outcomes in Parents of Critically Ill Hospitalized Children. J Pediatr Nurs 2017;34:36-43.
- Çalışır H, Şeker S, Güler F, Anaç GT, Türkmen M. The anxiety levels and needs of infants' parents in a neonatal intensive care unit. Cumhuriyet Nursing Journal 2008;12:31–44.
- 17. Mendonca D, Warren Nancy A. perceived and Unmet Needs of Critical Care Family Members. Crit Care Nurse 1998;21:58-67.
- Dudley SK, Carr JM. Vigilance: The experience of parents staying at the bedside of hospitalized children. J Pediatr Nurs 2004;19:267-75.
- Matthews EE, Neu M, Cook PF, King N. Sleep in mother and child dyads during treatment for pediatric acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Oncol Nurs Forum 2014;41:599-610.
- Tokur ME, Aydın K, Çalışkan T, Savran Y, Cömert B, Ergan B. Perception of and satisfaction from Intensive Care in Patients' Relatives. Yoğun Bakım Derg 2016;7:57-61.
- 21. Öner L, Le-Compte A. Durumluk-sürekli kaygı envanteri el kitabı (2. Baskı). İstanbul Boğaziçi Üniversitesi Yayınları;1985.
- 22. Molter NC. Needs of the relatives of critically ill patients: A descriptive study. Heart Lung 1979;8:332-9.
- 23. Board R. Father stress during a child's critical care hospitalization. Journal of Pediatric Health Care 2004;18:244-9.

- 24. Stremler R, Wong L, Parshuram C. Practices and provisions for parents sleeping overnight with a hospitalized child. J Pediatr Psychol 2008;33:292-7.
- 25. Smith AB, Hefley GC, Anand KJS. Parent bed spaces in the PICU: Effect on parental stress. Pediatr Nurs. 2007;33:215-21.
- Colville G, Darkins J, Hesketh J, Bennet V, Alcock J, Noyes J. The impact on parents of a child's admission to intensive care: Integration of qualitative findings from a cross-sectional study. Intensive Crit Care Nurs 2009;25:72-9.
- 27. Majdalani MN, Doumit MAA, Rahi AC. The lived experience of parents of children admitted to the pediatric intensive care unit in Lebanon. Int J Nurs Stud 2014;51:217-25.
- McKiernan M, McCarthy G. Family members' lived experience in the intensive care unit: a phemenological study. Intensive Crit Care Nurs 2010;26:254-61.
- Berube KM, Fothergill-Bourbonnais F, Thomas M, Moreau D. Parents' Experience of the Transition with their Child from a Pediatric Intensive Care Unit (PICU) to the Hospital Ward: Searching for Comfort Across Transitions. J Pediatr Nurs 2014;29:586-95.
- Carlson EB, Spain DA, Muhtadie L, McDade-Montez L, Macia KS. Care and caring in the intensive care unit: Family members' distress and perceptions about staff skills, communication, and emotional support. J Crit Care 2015;30:557–61.



The Effect of Mother's Lullaby on Preterm Infants' Physiological Parameters

Elham Shafiei¹
Zahra Daneshvar Ameri²
Hojjat Sheikhbardsiri³
Mahdi Yaseri⁴
Hamideh Baniasadi⁵

¹Tehran University Medical of Sciences Student, Faculty of Nursing and Midwifery, Tehran, Iran

²Tehran university Medical of Science, Faculty of Nursing and Midwifery, Public Health Depatment, Tehran, Iran

³Kerman University of Medical Sciences, Department of Emergency Operation Center, Disasters and Emergencies Management Center, School of Medicine, Kerman, Iran

⁴Tehran Medical University Faculty of Public Health, Department of Research Center for Modeling in Health, Tehran, Iran ⁵Kerman University Medical of Sciences Student, Department of Public Health's Nursing, Razi Faculty of Nursing and Midwifery, Kerman, Iran

ABSTRACT

Aim: Inappropriate auditory stimulants lead to neonatal stress and changes in physiological parameters. Nowadays, particular emphasis is placed on the developmental aspects of the care of preterm infants. The lullaby is a suitable auditory stimulus for preterm infants, which as a subtype of developmental care decreases stress responses. This study investigates the effects of lullabies in the mothers' own voices on preterm infants' physiological parameters.

Materials and Methods: This single group study is a randomized clinical trial. Forty study-qualified hospitalized infants were included in the study, during a lullaby stage and a non-lullaby stage. Their physiological parameters including respiratory rate, heart rate and oxygen saturation level were recorded. Their mothers' lullabies were played for them during the lullaby stage. No intervention was performed in the non-lullaby stage and only the infants' variables were recorded. Infants were assessed for four successive days, two days for each stage. Data was collected and recorded every 2 minute. Data was statistically analysed after gathering and entering into the SPSS.22 by means of Friedman's and paired sample t-test.

Results: In this study of 40 case studies, 45% were female and 55% were male, with an average gestational age of new-borns of 32.43 weeks and mean birth weight of 2,189.36 gr. In the intervention group, during the time that the lullaby was played, mean rates of heart beat were significantly decreased (p=0.03) and SaO₂ was increased (p=0.039), which were significantly different from their base recorded levels at the beginning and those of the control stage, but there was no significant difference between two stages in the mean of respiratory rates (p=0.070).

Conclusion: Since a mother's lullaby has significant effects on physiological parameters, we hope that nurses will tell mothers to use the lullaby as a supportive developmental care for infants to assist improving the physiological state of preterm new-borns.

Keywords: Preterm infant, lullaby, heart rate, respiration rate, oxygen saturation, physiological parameter

Introduction

Birth before the 37th gestational age week is preterm birth (1). Prematurity is an important indicator for a society's health and infant survival has a direct relationship with gestational age and birth weight (2). Preterm infants are very vulnerable due to physiological restrictions (3). Along with the increased infant survival, damage growth is rising. Developmental and cognitive function disorders and

Address for Correspondence

Hamideh Baniasadi MD, Kerman University Medical of Sciences Student, Department of Public Health's Nursing, Razi Faculty of Nursing and Midwifery, Kerman, Iran Phone: +98 913 662 20 59 E-mail: Baniasadi.98po69@gmail.com ORCID: orcid.org/0000-0003-2883-2901

Received: 29.12.2018 Accepted: 10.06.2019

©Copyright 2020 by Ege University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pediatrics and Ege Children's Foundation The Journal of Pediatric Research, published by Galenos Publishing House. sensoneural problems are seen in many of these babies (4).

Many studies show that the cause of these problems is the effect of the neonatal intensive care unit (NICU) environment on the central nervous system (5). Also believes that the preterm infant is hospitalized for a long time at a place that is different from his/her mother's womb and faces many sensory stimuli in the NICU environment. Prolonged care in this new place is beyond the immature nervous system's tolerance (6). At the same time, physical and environmental conditions and inappropriate care in the NICU and also unstable haemodynamic body conditions and challenges to immature organs cause stress in preterm infants (7). Also, separation from the mother's supportive uterine environment and the continuation of this separation by hospitalization of the infant and the mismatch of the NICU environment with uterine conditions cause stress (8). Heart rate disorder, changed skin colour, hypoxia, diminishment of SpO, and apnoea attacks are caused by stress, which lead to prolonged hospitalization and increased costs of hospitalization, and finally have bad effects on parent-infant relationships (9-11). Irritating environmental auditory stimulation is a common concern in NICU wards, which interferes with neonatal development (12).

The auditory environment is considered a part of the structure of the NICU, and its changes can affect neonatal development because the immaturity of vital organs and unfavourable physical and environmental care have great impact on growth and development (13). Then, preterm infants exposed to environmental noise show increased heart rate, blood pressure and respiratory rate as physiological changes. Managing noise in the ward is one of the aspects of developmental care (14) .With this in mind, one can define a programme called developmental care as a supplemental clinical care, providing a similar environment to uterine conditions for the neonate as the most important factor to reduce neonatal stress (15). Music as a subset of developmental care and a desired auditory stimulation can be heard and learnt by the neonate. Before birth, it affects the development process, and after birth, covering noises can facilitate balance and infant neurodevelopmental (12). The use of music to promote health has been proved by recent medical research. The effectiveness of music therapy has been demonstrated to improve mental-physical diseases, pain control, anxiety and stress (16,17). Prolonged auditory stimulation with a harmony-like lullabies acts as a sedative in infants and can lead to unstable physiological parameters like the heart rate being coordinated by the relaxed rhythm of music and so lead to a slow heart rate (18). It is important to note that the most natural sound for an infant is his/her mother's (14). This sound is the first sound that an infant hears and it affects his/her auditory system (19). The infant is completely dependent on his/ her mother for physical and growth health (20). In human research, denial of maternal contact causes increased stress in the neonate (21). In the Discenza (22) study, it was shown that preterm infants fed while listening to a lullaby have more success in learning to and continuing to feed. Also, another study demonstrated that in a period when mothers talk to their infants compared to when this auditory sound did not occur, the level of arterial oxygen saturation is greater and the heart rate is lower in these infants (23), but Wenszell (24) found that after music, heart rate, arterial oxygen saturation and crying in infants with gastroschisis did not demonstrate significant differences.

Given the increasing number of preterm births and long-term hospitalization as a result of this, information can be given to caregivers that this is a harmless and economically affordable method and possible for use in the ward. A lullaby with the mother's sound is considered a choice to improve neurodevelopmental consequences and can lead to diminished stress following the improvement in physiological parameters. To date, very few studies have examined the effect of the mother's lullaby on physiological parameters in preterm infants. In the Iranian context, the lullaby is rooted in popular culture, and no research has examined its effects on infants.

Materials and Methods

This single group study is a randomized clinical trial conducted in Tehran, Iran. The sample of infants in this study was selected from a single hospital under the supervision of Tehran University of Medical Science. Forty study-qualified hospitalized infants were included in the study-once during the lullaby stage and once during the non-lullaby stage. All infants were assessed before intervention. Inclusion criteria were (1) a gestational age of 28-34 weeks at birth, (2) no congenital anomalies, (3) not having undergone surgery, (4) Apgar scores of more than 6 at 5 minute, (5) the accuracy of infant hearing health with confirmed OAE auditory test (this test was performed after the third day after birth to reduce false negative results) and (6) no use of phototherapy or mechanical ventilation for the infant.

Approval was obtained from the heads of NICU prior to the collection of data. The study proposal was also reviewed and approved by the office of the Centre of Research Ethics in Tehran Medical Science University (IRCT-201501296316N5). The parents signed a written informed consent form. The consent form explained that participation was completely voluntary, and that they could withdraw from the study at any time. They were informed about the purpose of study and procedure, both verbally and with written information. For confidentiality, there was no personal information on the scale.

Infants entered the group during the third day after hospitalization. The infant, during the study, was in the differential thermal analyser incubator (YP-9 OA model), and his/her position was supine and such a way that the ears were free for hearing and there were no barriers to hearing sounds (25). Before the observation pulse, an oximeter probe was attached to the right foot of the infant. Two speakers at 30-centimetre distance from the neonate head were placed at two corners of the incubator. The intensity of ambient sound in the double wall incubator was determined with a decibel meter and sound intensity was adjusted to 50 decibels to consider the scope of sound that would be able to cover the ambient sound and also prevent transfer of sound from one neonate to another. A Sony MP3 player was attached to the speakers. Between infant feeding and the start of the observation, there was always a gap of approximately 1 hour, and nursing care was done at least half an hour before intervention. To record the mother's sounds, a fixed text was given to the mother and then her sound was recorded: they were recorded as they emitted sound in another room when they were alone and thinking about their infant. Each infant was studied for four consecutive days, and for this intervention, two stages were considered: one stage with lullaby (2 days) and another stage without lullaby (2 days). Every day, one infant was studied for 40 min and also according to Lubetzky (26) one period (24 hours) wash out considered for did not rest of lullaby affect. Putting infants in the lullaby stage or non-lullaby stage was randomized by the use of two cards (A and B) that were of the same shape and size. Then a person who was not aware of the meanings of the cards was asked to choose one of them; if Card A was chosen, the lullaby was played on the first and second days, and if Card B was chosen, the non-lullaby stage was selected for the first and second days, and two days later, the other stage with the lullaby was applied. In the lullaby stage, the infant was observed 10 minute before, during and 10 minute after playing the lullaby; the playing time was 20 minute. During 40 minute, physiological parameters such as heart rate, respiratory rate and SPO2 were recorded. In the non-lullaby stage, no intervention was made: these parameters were recorded in the checklist every 10 minute. The values were

recorded in the relevant checklist. Data was collected for 5 months.

Statistical Analysis

Data was analysed using SPSS22. Quantitative and qualitative variables were respectively reported as mean (SD) and frequency (percentage). Friedman test for determination of the relationship between them before, during and after interventions was used. P-values less than 0.05 were considered significant.

Results

A descriptive analysis of the background information indicated that the premature infants had a gestational age of 28-34 weeks with a mean age of 32.43 weeks. They were mostly males (52%). Concerning type of delivery, both of normal vaginal delivery (NVD) and cesarean section (CS) were equal (n=20, n=20, respectively). The group's mean birth weight was almost 2,189.36 g. The mean score of Apgar for the group was 7 (Table 1).

Statistical analyses showed a significant difference between oxygen saturation across the two stages (p=0.039). There was no significant difference observed between respiratory rate of the interventional and control groups (p=0.07) but it showed a downward trend, and with respect to heart rate, there was a significant difference between the two stages (p=0.03) (Table2).

Discussion

In infants whose mothers were depressed, there was a delay in the start of change in response to music and heart rate fluctuation were more than in other infants (27), while listening to music, girls receive oral feeding sooner than boys and their mean of hospitalization days was less than for boys (28). If the mother had a history of addiction, there

Table I. Characteristics of the stud	ly sample (n=40)
Characteristics	n (%) or Mean (SD)
Sex	
Male	22 (55%)
Female	18 (45%)
Delivery type	
NVD	20 (50%)
C/S	20 (50%)
Gestational age (weeks)	32.43 (±2.7)
Birth weight (grams)	2,189.36 (±212.53)
Apgar score (5min)	7 (±1.3)

Table II. Ox	kygen S	aturation, re	espiratory ra	te and hear	t rate
before, durin	ng and a	after mother	's lullaby acr	oss 4 days	
Groups		Before Mean (SD)	During Mean (SD)	After Mean (SD)	p
Oxygen	lnt.	89 (±3)	94 (±5)	91 (±2)	0.039
Saturation	Cont.	90 (±1)	90 (±2)	90 (±2)	
Respiratory	lnt.	57 (±2)	55 (±1)	57 (±4)	0.070
Rate	Cont.	57 (±2)	57 (±2)	57 (±2)	
Heart Rate	lnt. Cont.	154 (±6) 156 (±5)	149 (±2) 156 (±8)	151 (±1) 155 (±6)	0.03

were changes in physiological parameters and sleep states. Apnoea, tachypnoea, hypertension, irritability, increase in sudden responses to auditory stimulation, sleep disorders, rapid changes in the waking state and decreased reaction to human sounds were seen in infants of mothers addicted to alcohol and drugs (29). In the current study, based on patient documentation, none of the mothers mentioned addiction or depression, and so, this issue could not affect results.

The mean of heart rate during intervention (20 minute lullaby playing) was observed to be less than the base level before the lullaby stage. It was a significant difference. Also, the heart rate after intervention was observed to be less than the heart rate beforehand, but statistically not significant. According to the results, it can be concluded that the effect of lullabies on heart rate causes it to fall while hearing a lullaby. Possibly, the cause of this lullaby effect is explained by the fact that lullaby affects the nervous system (limbic and autonomic systems), leading to pacification, easiness, a decrease in stress and heart rate, respiratory regulation and an increase of oxygenation.

Music facilitates parasympathetic effects on the sympathetic system and finally, due to diminished heart rate, there is regular deep breathing, sleep and repeated induction of brain alpha waves that are produced in the awakened and aware state. This concept matches with Aron's study that found heart rate is less in a preterm infant group that has live music played to it than in two other groups who heard recorded music. They concluded that live music has more effect than recorded music in preterm infants (30). Also, Amini et al. (25) demonstrated that lullabies can cause a reduction in heart rate during intervention compared to the base level, and this agrees with our results (25).

Accordingly, coping with stress in preterm babies occurs due to improved physiological parameters such as heart rate. This finding is similar to Cevasco's (31) work, in which he had assessed the effect of a mother's lullaby on coping and its relationship with neonatal stress. He found that the infant who heard his/her mother's sound was discharged earlier than the control group by an average of 2 days (31).

Cassidy's (32) study found that music did not affect heart rate, this difference may be due to the music type (Mozart/lullaby), and the short duration of the observation period before and after music (4 minutes before, during and 4 minutes after) (32). Likewise, Hodge and Wilson (33) showed that music did not have any effect on physiological parameters; it could be justified that this incompatibility with our results is due to the time of playing the music, data collection interval, and music type (33).

In Farhat's (34) work, music did not produce any difference with the heart rate either. This difference might have been caused by the lullaby type. The researcher concluded that the mother's sound is the same for the infant and the palliative effect of that is more than a stranger's (another woman's) sound. Another parameter assessed in this study was the respiratory rate: The respiratory rate during intervention and afterwards was diminished. It can be concluded that lullabies can cause a decrease in heart rate. This is compatible with the work of Farhat (34) and Keith (35). They found that music causes a diminished rate of respiration (34,35). However, Coleman (36) found that music leads to an increase in respiratory rate, and the cause of this difference may be that the infants in the control and interventional groups in his study were not homogenous in terms of clinical diagnosis as neonates with different diagnosis could have other hemodynamic conditions that may have affected physiological parameters and disturbed the results (36).

The results of this study showed that SPO₂ increases after hearing a lullaby. This finding may be due to the soothing effect of the lullaby, which causes decreases in the sympathetic system's activity and tension, and this is shown by its calming effect on physiological parameters like respiratory rate, pulse, blood pressure, oxygen consumption, etc. According to the results and the decrease in respiratory rate, this finding may support the idea that lullabies, through the impact of deep breathing and the rate of breathing, leads to respiratory efficiency and finally increases oxygen saturation. It should be noted that reduced oxygen consumption is one of the reasons for the increase in and therefore higher levels of blood oxygen saturation without increases in patient oxygen uptake. This is one important goal that could diminish oxygen complications. Earlier studies supported this finding that infants experienced high level of oxygen saturation after hearing music (12,34,35).

In contrast, some researches indicated that there was no significant difference between music and oxygen saturation: This difference might be caused by the music type and number of participants compared to this study in which it is stated that a mother's sound may exert more effect on physiological parameters.

Conclusion

In this study, attempts were made to assess the effect of a mother's lullaby on the physiological parameters of the preterm neonate. This study found positive effects of such lullabies. Considering the notion that physiological instability is a sign of neonatal stress and autonomic stability is one of the most important factors that affect developmental outcomes, a lullaby is one of the costeffective supplemental cares that we may use in NICU. All information on the risks and benefits as well as the best intervention strategies before this intervention is conducted should be included in the educational programmes. Further studies are suggested to examine NICU nurses' views on this intervention, and its advantages and disadvantages as well.

Ethics

Ethics Committee Approval: The study proposal was also reviewed and approved by the office of the Centre of Research Ethics in Tehran Medical Science University (IRCT-201501296316N5).

Informed Consent: The parents signed a written informed consent form.

Peer-review: Externally and internally peer-reviewed.

Authorship Contributions

Surgical and Medical Practices: E.S., Concept: E.S., Design: Z.D.A., Data Collection or Processing: H.S.B., Analysis or Interpretation: H.B., Literature Search: M.Y., Writing: H.B.

Conflict of Interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest relevant to this article to disclose.

Financial Disclosure: The authors have no financial relationships relevant to this article to disclose.

References

- 1. Martin R, Fanaroff A, Walsh M. Fanarrof and martin neonatalperinatal medicine, mosby. 2010, 9th edit,Philadelphia.
- Namakin K, Sharifzadeh GH, Molki Zade A. To Identify the Risk Factors in Prematurity Birth in Birjand, Iran: A Case – Control Study. Iranian Journal of Epidemiology 2011;7:1-5.
- Vandenberg KA. Individualized developmental care for high risk newborns in the NICU: A practice guideline. Early Hum Dev 2007;83:433-42.

- 4. Hack M. Survival and neurodevelopmental outcomes of preterm infants. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr 2007;45 Suppl 3:S141-2.
- Hack M, Taylor HG, Schluchter M, Andreias L, Drotar D, Klein N. Behavioral outcomes of extremely low birth weight children at age 8 years. J Dev Behav Pediatr 2009;30:122-30.
- Als H. Newborn individualized developmental care and assessment program (NIDCAP): new frontier for neonatal and perinatal medicine. J Neonatal Perinatal Med 2009;2:135-47.
- Post AC, Moree CM. Guidelines for the implementation of developments care for preterm and sick neonates. Pediatrics 2009.
- 8. Conrad AL, Richman L, Lindgren S, Nopoulos P. Biological and environmental predictors of behavioural sequelae in children born preterm. Pediatrics 2010;125:e83-9.
- 9. Kleberg A, Warren I, Norman E, et al. Lower stress responses after newborn individualized developmental care and assessment program care during age screening examinations for retinopathy of prematurity: a randomized study. Pediatrics 2008;121:e1267-78.
- 10. Verklan MT, Walden M. Core curriculum for neonate intensive care nursing. Saunders Elsevier 2010.
- 11. Brown G. NICU noise and the preterm infant. Neonatal Network: the journal of neonatal. Nursing 2009;28:165-73.
- 12. Standley I. Music therapy research in the NICU: an updated meta-analysis. Neonatal Netw 2012;31:311-6.
- 13. Szczepanski M., & Kamianowska M., Evaluation of noise in the neonatal intensive care unit, 2008.
- 14. Turnage C.S., Papile L.A., Developmental supportive care. In: Cloherty JP., Eichen Wald EC., Hansen AR., Stark AR., Manual of neonatal care, 8th edit, Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins; 2012, 166-177.
- Als H, Duffy FH, McAnulty G, et al. NIDCAP improves brain function and structure in preterm infants with severe intrauterine growth restriction. J Perinatol 2012;32:797-803.
- Lai HL, Chen CJ, Peng TC, et al. Randomized controlled trial of music during Kangaroo care on maternal state anxiety. Int J Nurs Stud 2006;43:139-46.
- Hatem TP, Lira PI, Mattos SS. The therapeutic effects of music in children following cardiac surgery. J Pediatr (Rio J) 2006;82:186-92.
- Neal DO, Lindeke LL. Music as a nursing intervention for preterm infants in the NICU. Neonatal Netw 2008;27:319-27.
- 19. Wachman EM, Lahav A. The effects of noise on preterm infants in the NICU. Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed 2011;96:F305-9.
- 20. Labonia M., Pain management for children. The OPBG experience newborn pain. Paediatric and child Health, 2008, 18, 571-574.
- 21. Milgrom J, Newnham C, Anderson PJ, et al. Early sensitivity training for parents of preterm infants: impact on the developing brain. Pediatr Res 2010;67:330-5.
- 22. Discenza D. Prematures and feeding therapy: New lullabypowered Research. Neonatal Netw 2013;32:429-30.
- 23. Filippa M, Devouche E, Arioni C, Imberty M, Gratier M. Live maternal speech and singing have beneficial effects on hospitalized preterm infants. Acta Paediatr 2013;102:1017-20.

- Wenszell M.J., The effect of music therapy on infants born with gastroschisis (Doctoral Dissertation, Colorado state university), 2013.
- Amini E, Rafiei P, Zarei K, Gohari M, Hamidi M. Effect of lullaby and classical music on physiologic stability of hospitalized preterm infants: a randomized trial. J Neonatal Perinatal Med 2013;6:295-301.
- Lubetzky R, Mimouni FB, Dollberg S, Reifen R, Ashbel G, Mandel D. Effect of music by Mozart on Energy expenditure in growing preterm infants. Pediatrics 2010;125:e24-8.
- 27. Hernandez-Reif M, Diego M, Field T. Instrumental and vocal music effects on EEG and EKG in neonates of Depressed and non-depressed mothers. Infant Behav Dev. 2006;29:518-25.
- Cassidy JW, Ditty KM. Gender differences among newborn on a transient otoacaustic emissions test for hearing. J Music Ther 2001;38:28-35.
- Pitts K. Perinatal substance abuse. Core curriculum for neonatal intensive care nursing, 4th edit, 2010, Philadelphia, Saunders, 41-71.
- Arnon S1, Shapsa A, Forman L, et al. Live music is beneficial to preterm infants in the neonatal intensive care unit environment. Birth 2006;33:131-6.

- Cevasco AM. The effects of mothers' singing on full-term and preterm infants and maternal emotional responses. J Music Ther 2008;45:273-306.
- Cassidy JW. The effect of decibel level of music stimuli and gender on head circumference and physiological responses of premature infants in the NICU. J Music Ther 2009;46:180-90.
- Hodges AL, Wilson LL. Effects of music therapy on preterm infants in the neonatal intensive care unit. Altern Ther Health Med 2010;16:72-3.
- Farhat A., Amiri R., Karbandi S., Esmaily H., & Mohammadzadeh A., The effect of listening to lullaby Music on physiologic response and weight gain of premature infants. Journal of Neonatal-Perinatal medicine, 2010, 3(2), 103-107.
- Keith DR, Russell K, Weaver BS. The effects of music listening on in consolable crying in premature infants. J Music Ther 2009;46:191-203.
- 36. Coleman JM, Pratt RD, Stoddard RA, Abel HH. The effects of male and female singing and speaking voices on selected physiological and behavioural measures of premature infants in the intensive care unti. International Journal of Arts Medicine 1998;5:4-11.



Ultrasonographic Screening and the Determination of Risk Factors involved in Developmental Dysplasia of the Hip

● Gizem Ürel Demir¹, ● Eyüp Sarı¹, ● Selmin Karademir², ● Çiğdem Üner³, ● Yasemin Taşcı Yıldız³, ● Ulaş Onay⁴, ● Şenol Bekmez⁴

¹Dr. Sami Ulus Obstetrics and Gynecology Children's Health and Disease Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Pediatrics, Ankara, Turkey ²Dr. Sami Ulus Obstetrics and Gynecology Children's Health and Disease Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Pediatric Cardiology, Ankara, Turkey ³Dr. Sami Ulus Obstetrics and Gynecology Children's Health and Disease Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Radiology, Ankara, Turkey ⁴Dr. Sami Ulus Obstetrics and Gynecology Children's Health and Disease Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Orthopedics and Traumatology, Ankara, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Aim: Developmental dysplasia of the hip is an orthopedic problem which is a spectrum of disorders from the instability of the hip joint to total dislocation. Developmental dysplasia of the hip is frequently seen and has good prognosis when diagnosed and treated early. The aim of our study is to examine the risk factors leading to developmental dysplasia of the hip and to assess the value of hip ultrasonography.

Materials and Methods: In our research, 9.102 imagings of hip ultrasonography from 4.551 infants were analyzed retrospectively. One hundred and fifty-one infants who were diagnosed with developmental dysplasia of the hip and 170 healthy infants as a control group were compared in terms of birth order, being the firstborn, type of delivery, gestational age, birth weight, oligohydramnios, multiple pregnancy, breech presentation, swaddling, family history and existence of foot anomalies.

Results: Prematurity, oligohydramnios and a positive family history were observed to be significant risk factors for developmental dysplasia of the hip.

Conclusion: It is possible to prevent the complications and necessity of surgical treatment with early diagnosis. Therefore, we propose screening for developmental dysplasia of the hip for all infants.

Keywords: Developmental dysplasia of the hip, hip dislocation, hip dysplasia, hip instability, hip ultrasonography

Introduction

Developmental dysplasia of the hip (DDH) is defined as a disruption of the relationship between the acetabulum and the femoral head. The traditional term congenital hip dislocation, suggesting a pathology due to the prenatal malposition, has been replaced by the term DDH, as Klisic proposed, emphasizing the dynamic course of the disease (1).

The estimated incidence of hip instability during the newborn period ranges from 1/1.000 to 3.4/100, whereas

The manuscript has been presented in 4. Çocuk Dostları Congress as a poster (March 24-26,2016 İstanbul).

Address for Correspondence

Gizem Ürel Demir MD, Dr Sami Ulus Obstetrics and Gynecology, Children's Health and Disease Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Pediatrics, Ankara, Turkey Phone: +90 505 256 36 88 E-mail: gizemurel@gmail.com ORCID: orcid.org/0000-0002-9928-3236

Received: 31.08.2018 Accepted: 10.06.2019

©Copyright 2020 by Ege University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pediatrics and Ege Children's Foundation The Journal of Pediatric Research, published by Galenos Publishing House. the prevalence of hip dislocation ranges from 1 to 1.5 per 1.000 live births (2).

Various etiological factors including ligamentous laxity, prenatal positioning, postnatal positioning, and racial predilection may lead to DDH (2). Hormonal, genetic and environmental factors have been described in the etiology. DDH in a first-degree relative, breech presentation, swaddling, and congenital calcaneovalgus foot deformities were identified as the strongest risk factors in DDH, whereas female sex, coexistence of torticollis and being the firstborn child were associated with having weaker effects on DDH (3).

The hip joint should be evaluated during routine examination of the newborn.

Ultrasonography is the most reliable imaging method for the diagnosis of DDH before femoral head epiphyseal nucleus ossification. The aim of the treatment is to maintain the normal relationship between the femoral head and the acetabulum and to sustain the reduction until the pathological changes are over.

The purpose of our study is to examine those risk factors leading to DDH and to assess the diagnostic value of hip ultrasonography.

Material and Methods

In our hospital, 9.102 imagings of hip ultrasonography data performed between January 2012 and January 2013 from 4.551 babies were retrospectively analyzed. The records of 170 babies, diagnosed with DDH, were obtained from our hospital registration system.

ToshibaAplio 800, ToshibaAplio 500, General ElectricsLogiq S6 brand ultrasonography devices and 11 MHz linear probes were used for the ultrasonographic examination of the hip. Ultrasonographic classification of the hip joint was performed according to the Graf method (2,4).

Type I: alpha angle: >60° beta angle: <55°,

Type IIa: alpha angle: 50°-59° beta angle: >55° (less than 3 months),

Type IIb: alpha angle: 50°-59° beta angle: >55° (greater than 3 months),

Type IIc: alpha angle: 43°-49° beta angle: <77°,

Type D: alpha angle: 43°-49° beta angle: >77°,

Type IIIa: alpha angle: <43° beta angle: >77° (hypoechoic cartilage acetabular roof),

Type IIIb: alpha angle: <43° beta angle: >77° (hyperechoic cartilage acetabular roof),

Type IV: alpha angle: <43° beta angle: >77° (Pressed downwards, perichondrium is horizontal or dips caudally).

The physical examination findings of patients were evaluated in terms of 'pili asymmetry' and 'limited abduction'. Interviews were held via telephone with the parents to evaluate the follow-up. Data on birth order, sex, type of delivery, gestational age, birth weight, oligohydramnios, multiple pregnancy, breech presentation, swaddling, family history, and foot anomalies were obtained from the hospital registry system and family interviews. In order to determine the relationship between risk factors and DDH, 170 control cases were randomly selected from those infants who underwent hip ultrasonography between January 2012 and January 2013 in our hospital. The control group were questioned concerning the presence of risk factors of DDH and the information was recorded.

Ethics committee approval was received for this study from the Ethics Committee of Ankara Keçiören Training and Research Hospital (25.01.2017/1301). Verbal informed consent was obtained prior to the interviews.

Statistically Analysis

Statistical analyzes were performed using the SPSS for Windows Version 22.0 package program. Categorical variables were compared by chi-square or Fisher's exact test. The significance level was taken as p<0.05.

Results

The ultrasonographic findings of 9.102 hips of 4.551 cases, who underwent hip ultrasonography for screening, were examined. We identified a total of 170 cases of whom DDH was detected. Among them, follow-up data could not be obtained for 18 patients. Additionally, one patient was excluded because of the diagnosis of spinal muscular atrophy.

One hundred sixty-nine infants were accepted into this study giving a total of 338 hips. Of the total number of patients, 138 (81.7%) were female and 31 (18.3%) were male. Hip ultrasound examination was performed between the ages of 46 and 188 days (80.3±20.3 days). DDH was detected right sided in 89 cases and left sided in 125 cases. In 45 cases, DDH was bilateral. Ultrasonographic type distribution of each hip (338 hips in total) revealed that 124 (36.7%) were type Ia-b (normal), 16 (4.7%) were type IIa-, 133 (39.3%) were type IIa+, 33 (9.8%) were type IIb, 19 (5.6%) were type IIIc, 5 (1.5%) were type D, and 8 (2.4%) were type IIIa. Type IIIb and type IV hips were not detected in any cases (Table I).

In order to evaluate the risk factors, we compared 170 cases constituting the control group with 151 cases who were diagnosed with DDH. Eighty-seven (51.2%) of the control cases were male, and 83 (48.8%) were female. In the control group, hip ultrasound examination was performed between the ages of 54 and 108 days (73±9 days).

On physical examination of those cases diagnosed with DDH, limited abduction was noted in 22 cases (14.6%) and pili asymmetry in 14 cases (9.3%). Physical examination findings of 115 patients (76.1%) were normal. All 7 patients with type IIIa hips had limited abduction, indicating a significant difference. No significant relationship was found between the pili asymmetry and the hip types.

The risk factors commonly associated with DDH including birth order, sex, type of delivery, gestational age, birth weight, oligohydramnios, multiple pregnancy, breech presentation, swaddling, family history, and the

existence of foot anomalies were explored. Among these factors, prematurity, oligohydramnios and a positive family history were demonstrated to have a statistically significant association with DDH. A total of 135 patients had at least one risk factor, of whom 103 cases had positive physical examination signs for DDH. The relation between hip types and risk factors is shown in table II and the effect of risk factors on DDH is summarized in table III.

Follow-up information revealed that 52 of the DDH cases were followed up without treatment, 73 were treated with Pavlik harness, 4 with abduction orthosis, 12 with both Pavlik harness and abduction orthosis, 4 with open reduction, 4 with closed reduction and 2 had an operation plan at the time of writing.

Discussion

DDH is an orthopedic problem which is a spectrum of disorders ranging from the instability of hip joint to

Table I. Ultrasonograp	hic type distributio	on of all hips				
	Right hip		Left hip		All hips	
Туре	Number	%	Number	%	Number	%
la-b	80	47.3	44	26	124	36.7
lla-	8	4.7	8	4.7	16	4.7
lla+	53	31.3	80	47.3	133	39.3
IIb	18	10.7	15	8.9	33	9.8
llc	6	3.6	13	7.7	19	5.6
D	2	1.2	3	1.8	5	1.5
Illa	2	1.2	6	3.6	8	2.4
Total	169	100	169	100	338	100

Table II. The relation betweer	n hip typ	es and risk fact	ors						-			
	Type la	a-Ib (normal)	Type I	la	Type l	Ib	Type II	c	Type D		Type III	а
Risk Factors	n	%	n	%	n	%	n	%	n	%	n	%
Firstborn	75	44.1	50	47.6	8	32	5	45.5	2	66.7	3	42.9
Female sex	83	48.8	86	81.9	21	84	10	90.9	0	0	6	85.7
Caesarean section	83	48.8	44	41.9	17	68	5	45.5	3	100	6	85.7
Prematurity	4	2.4	5	4.8	3	12	1	9.1	2	66.7	1	14.3
Oligohydramnios	8	4.7	10	9.5	4	16	1	9.1	2	66.7	0	0
Multiple pregnancy	2	1.2	4	3.8	1	4	1	9.1	1	33.3	0	0
Breech presentation	6	3.5	11	10.5	1	4	1	9.1	1	33.3	0	0
Swaddling	49	28.8	34	32.4	5	20	5	45.5	0	0	1	14.3
Family history	14	8.2	27	25.7	4	16	4	36.4	0	0	3	42.9
Family history (First degree)	2	1.2	8	7.6	1	4	2	18.2	0	0	1	14.3
Foot anomaly	3	1.8	3	2.8	2	8	0	0	1	33.3	1	14.3

Risk factors	DDH group		Control group		
	n	%	n	%	P
Firstborn	68	45	75	44.1	0.869
Firstborn girl	49	32.5	40	23.5	0.075
Caesarean section	75	49.7	83	48.8	0.880
Prematurity	12	7.9	4	2.4	0.030
Oligohydramnios	17	11.3	8	4.7	0.048
Multiple pregnancy	7	4.6	2	1.2	0.089
Breech presentation	14	9.3	7	4.1	0.101
Swaddling	45	29.8	49	28.8	0.848
Family history	38	25.2	14	8.2	0.000
Family history (First degree)	12	7.9	2	1.2	0.007
Foot anomaly	7	4.6	3	1.8	0.199

total dislocation. DDH is a common deformity among the musculoskeletal system abnormalities and successful outcomes can be obtained with early diagnosis and intervention. If not treated early, the cost of treatment and the need for surgery increases exponentially and the chances of success decline (5).

The incidence of DDH has been reported to be between 0.08% and 5.2% in previous studies (6-8). The estimated prevalence of DDH in Turkey ranges between 0.5% and 1.5% (6). The incidence determined by hip ultrasonography screening ranges between 0.86% and 17% (9-16). In our research, the frequency of DDH was found to be 3.71%.

All newborn infants should be examined for DDH during routine examination. DDH in the neonatal period can be diagnosed by eliciting the Ortolani or Barlow sign. By the second month of life, other signs of DDH might become obvious, including limited abduction, asymmetry of thigh folds, Galeazzi sign and pistoning of the hip (2). We did not regard the Ortolani and Barlow tests because our patients had passed the neonatal period. The most reliable examination finding after the newborn period is limited abduction (6,10,11). In our study, limited abduction was noted in 14.6% of infants.

Demirhan et al. (12) detected the ratio of the coexistence of abnormal ultrasonography and pathologic physical examination findings as 40% whereas the ratio of abnormal ultrasonography without clinical evidence was 60%. In the study of Karapınar et al. (13), 15,000 babies were screened regarding physical examination findings and risk factors. Among them, 482 infants with positive physical examination findings and risk factors were assessed with hip ultrasonography and pathologic ultrasonographic findings were observed in 73 (15.1%) cases. Bache et al. (17) reported that only 20% of those patients with abnormal ultrasound findings at 6 weeks of age were found to have unstable hips in the initial examination. Tönnis (18) stated that all newborns should be screened because many pathologies can be detected by ultrasonography rather than other clinical procedures. In our study, we observed that 76.1% of the patients did not display evidence of hip instability on physical examination. Furthermore, we did not find any clinical evidence on 74.7% of infants with dysplasia who required treatment. This suggests the necessity of ultrasonographic screening for DDH even if physical examination findings are normal.

Imaging methods, such as hip ultrasonography, plain pelvis radiography, computed tomography, magnetic resonance imaging, and arthrography, can be used for the diagnosis and monitoring of DDH (2). The specificity and sensitivity of hip ultrasonography in diagnosing DDH is over 90% (19,20). There are various opinions about the time of the screening and postnatal 6th week is defined as a period in which minor transient anomalies of the hip may resolve spontaneously, and early detection of permanent anomalies can be provided (21). Barlow (22) suggested that 60% of unstable hips noted at birth resolved within the first week and 88% in two months. In our hospital, hip ultrasonography is applied as a routine screening program and is usually performed after the first two months of life.

The etiology of DDH is multifactorial, including mechanical structural, mechanical environmental, and

genetic factors (2). In the study of Ömeroğlu et al. (10), infants who had at least one risk factor conducive to DDH were found to have a three times higher occurrence rate of DDH compared to those who did not carry any risk factors. In the same study, breech presentation and positive family history were determined to be the most common risk factors associated with DDH. The incidence of DDH was 27% in infants with at least one risk factor and 9% in infants without any risk factors. (10) In the study of Akman et al. (23), female gender, oligohydramnios, and swaddling were defined as risk factors for DDH. Uslu et al. (24) found that the frequency of hip immaturity among a group of patients exposed and unexposed to the risk factors at 25.2% and 9.9%, respectively. The same study also indicated that the incidence of hip dysplasia was 5.29% in the risk group, whilst no hip dysplasia was encountered in the control group. Furthermore, they demonstrated a correlation between the number of risk parameters and the incidence of immature or dysplastic hips during the newborn period. According to a study by Çakır et al. (5), the most frequent risk factor was identified as being a firstborn girl, followed by breech presentation, multiple pregnancy, and oligohydramnios. Breech presentation, oligohydramnios, female sex, and primiparity were determined to be risk factors for DDH in the study of Chan et al. (25). The meta-analysis of De Hundt et al. (26) indicated that breech presentation, female sex, positive family history, and clicking hips at physical examination were the most potent risk factors for DDH. In our study, prematurity, oligohydramnios, and positive family history were confirmed as statistically significant risk factors. Birth order, being a firstborn, type of delivery, birth weight, multiple pregnancy, breech presentation, swaddling, and the presence of foot anomalies were not found to be statistically significant for DDH.

In the literature, DDH is found to be 4-6 times more common among girls than boys (17,27,28). In our study, the female/male ratio was 4.4/1, which is consistent with the literature.

Delays in diagnosis and treatment resulting in sequelae increase the cost of treatment. Furthermore, total hip arthroplasty may be necessary owing to the development of coxarthrosis. This condition prolongs the treatment process and leads to serious labor force loss. In cases of early diagnosis and conservative treatment, the necessity of surgical treatment can be reduced. Therefore, hip ultrasonography has been included in the screening program and adopted as a health policy in various countries. In our country, within the national early diagnosis and treatment program for DDH, it is aimed to perform a routine hip examination during the newborn period, identify high risk and clinically suspected groups and to initiate early and appropriate treatment (29). Additionally, in our hospital, hip ultrasonography is applied to all infants as a part of the routine screening program.

Study Limitations

The limitations of our study include the small number of patients and the presence of patients whose followup information was not available. Additionally, there is a possibility that the information received from the parents of the patients may be incorrect due to misremembering.

Conclusion

Hip joint evaluation with regard to DDH in each visit, careful follow-up of infants with risk factors and family education about the influence of swaddling are important measures to prevent the development of DDH. Awareness concerning DDH among health professionals and parents plays a key role in preventing this condition. Training of health personnel in the identification of those high-risk babies is required for the early diagnosis and treatment of DDH.

Ethics

Ethics Committee Approval: Ethics committee approval was received for this study from the Ethics Committee of Ankara Keçiören Training and Research Hospital (25.01.2017/1301).

Informed Consent: Verbal informed consent was obtained prior to the interviews.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Authorship Contributions

Surgical and Medical Practices: G.Ü.D., S.K., Concept: G.Ü.D., S.K., E.S., Design: G.Ü.D., Y.T.Y., U.O., Ş.B., Data Collection or Processing: E.S., U.O., Ş.B., Analysis or Interpretation: G.Ü.D., S.K., Ç.Ü., Y.T.Y., Literature Search: G.Ü.D.,U.O., Ş.B. E.S., Writing: G.Ü.D., E.S., S.K., Ç.Ü., Y.T.Y., U.O., Ş.B.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study received no financial support.

References

- 1. Klisic P. Congenital dislocation of the hip: a misleading term. J Bone Joint Surg Br 1989;71:136.
- 2. Herring JA (editor). Developmental Dysplasia of the Hip. In: Tachdjian's Pediatric Orthopedics from the Texas Scottish Rite

Hospital for Children. 5th edition. WB. Saunders Co. 2014, 483-579.

- Fitch R. Ultrasound for screening and management of developmental dysplasia of the Hip. N C Med J 2014;75:142-5.
- Graf R. The diagnosis of congenital hip-joint dislocation by the ultrasonic Combound treatment. Arch Orthop Trauma Surg 1980;97:117-33.
- Çakır Çuhacı B, Kibar AE, Çakır HT, Arhan E, Cansu A, Yakut Hİ. Ultrasonographic examination of developmental dysplasia of the hip in 300 infants. Turkish J Pediatr Dis 2009;3:5-9.
- Tümer Y, Ömeroğlu H. Prevention of developmental hip dysplasia in Turkey. Acta Orthop Traumatol Turc 1997;31:176-81.
- Mitchell GP. Problems in the early diagnosis and management of congenital dislocation of the hip. J Bone Joint Surg Br 1972;54:4–12.
- 8. Wilkinson JA. A post-natal survey for congenital displacement of the hip. J Bone Joint Surg Br 1972;54:40–9.
- Doğruel H, Atalar H, Yavuz OY, Uraş İ, Günay C, Şaylı U. An Evaluation of Developmental Hip Dysplasia Frequency and Screening Programs in Turkey: Review Turkiye Klinikleri J Med Sci 2008;28:357-60.
- Ömeroğlu H, Koparal S. The role of clinical examination and risk factors in the diagnosis of developmental dysplasia of the hip: a prospective study in 188 referred young infants. Arch Orthop Trauma Surg 2001;121:7-11.
- Köse N, Ömeroğlu H, Özyurt B, et al. Our three-year experience with an ultrasonographic hip screening program conducted in infants at 3 to 4 weeks of age. Acta Orthop Traumatol Turc 2006;40:285-90.
- Demirhan M, Şar C, Aydınok HÇ, Çakmak M, Çoban A. Ultrasonography in the Diagnosis of Congenital Dislocation of the Hip (Is Newborn Screening Necessary?) Acta Orthop Traumatol Turc 1994;28:8-14.
- Karapınar L, Öztürk H, Sürenkök F, Us MR. Evaluation of results of an orthopaedic screening program of 15.000 newborns. Joint Dis Rel Surg 2001;12:139-43.
- 14. Dogruel H, Atalar H, Yavuz OY, Sayli U. Clinical examination versus ultrasonography in detecting developmental dysplasia of the hip. Int Orthop 2008;32:415–9.
- Okur A, Nakışlar F, Karsan O, Alparslan B. The value of ultrasound examination in the diagnosis and screening for congenital dislocation of the hip. Acta Orthop Traumatol Turc 1996;30:107-12.

- Söyüncü Y, Özdemir H, Akyıldız FF, Ürgüden M, Altınel E. Searching of developmental dysplasia of hip in Antalya and surrounding. Acta Orthop Traumatol Turc 1999;33:105-9.
- 17. Bache CE, Clegg J, Herron M. Risk factors for developmental dysplasia of the hip: ultrasonographic findings in the neonatal period. J Pediatr Orthop B 2002;11:212-8.
- Tönnis D, Storch K, Ulbrich H. Results of newborn screening for CDH with and without sonography and correlation of risk factors. J Pediatr Orthop 1990;10:145–52.
- Rosenberg N, Bialik V, Norman D, Blazer S. The importance of combined clinical and sonographic examination of instability of the neonatal hip. Int Orthop 1998;22:185–8.
- Lowry CA, Donoghue VB, Murphy JF. Auditing hip ultrasound screening of infants at increased risk of developmental dysplasia of the hip. Arch Dis Child 2005;90:579-81.
- 21. Harcke HT, Kumar SJ. The role of ultrasound in the diagnosis and management of congenital dislocation and dysplasia of the hip. J Bone Joint Surg Am 1991;73:622–8.
- 22. Barlow T. Early diagnosis and treatment of congenital dislocation of the hip. J Bone Joint Surg 1962;44-B:292-301.
- Akman A, Korkmaz A, Aksoy MC, Yazıcı M, Yurdakök M, Tekinalp G. Evaluation of risk factors in developmental dysplasia of the hip: results of infantile hip ultrasonography. Turk J Pediatr 2007;49:290-4.
- Uslu HS, Karatekin G, Uslu A, Kadıoğlu A, Nuhoğlu A. Evaluation of risk factors for developmental dysplasia of the hip in neonatal period. T Klin J Pediatr 2002;11:139-43.
- Chan A, McCaul KA, Cundy PJ, Haan EA, Byron-Scott R. Perinatal risk factors for developmental dysplasia of the hip. Arch Dis Child 1997;76:94–100.
- de Hundt M, Vlemmix F, Bais JMJ, et al. Risk factors for developmental dysplasia of the hip: a meta-analysis. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod 2012;165:8-17.
- 27. Dunn PM. Perinatal observations on the etiology of congenital dislocation of the hip. Clin Orthop Relat Res 1976;119:11-22.
- Clausen I, Nielsen KT. Breech position, delivery route and congenital hip dislocation. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand 1988;67:595-7.
- 29. Köse N, Ömeroğlu H, Dağlar B. Gelişimsel Kalça Displazisi Ulusal Erken Tanı ve Tedavi Programı 2013.



Professional Values and Job Satisfaction Levels of Pediatric Nurses and Influencing Factors: A Crosssectional Study

Ayla Kaya¹, Derya Çelik², Ayşegül İşler Dalgıç¹

¹Akdeniz University Faculty of Nursing, Department of Pediatric Nursing, Antalya, Turkey ²Akdeniz University Hospital, Antalya, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Aim: The aim of this cross-sectional study was to investigate the perceptions of professional values and job satisfaction levels of pediatric nurses and their influencing factors.

Materials and Methods: This study was conducted with 134 nurses working in the pediatric clinics of three hospitals in Turkey. Nurses' Professional Values scale and Minnesota Job Satisfaction Questionnaire were used to collect the data.

Results: It was found that the pediatric nurses had high professional values and that job satisfaction scores were moderate. It was further noted that pediatric nurses who were single, received their education in a nursing high school, had professional experience of 11-15 years in pediatric clinics, were working as clinical responsible nurse, and were working during the day shift regularly had higher scores of professional values. It was found that the job satisfaction of the pediatric nurses who were married, received their education in a nursing high school, had professional experience of 11-15 years in pediatric clinics, were working as clinical responsible nurses, and were working as clinical responsible nurse, and were working as clinical responsible nurse, and were working as clinical responsible nurse, and were working as clinical responsible nurse, and were working at day shift regularly, was significantly higher than the others. The results also indicated a positive and high correlation between pediatric nurses' perception of professional values and job satisfaction levels.

Conclusion: It was concluded that promoting professional values among nurses would eventually result in increasing levels of job satisfaction. We believe this study provides substantial data in this particular field in Turkey and it is hoped that it may be used to guide nursing managers to design well-established and unbiased programs for pediatric nurses.

Keywords: Pediatric nursing, professional values, job satisfaction, cross-sectional study

Introduction

Today, globalization, migration, nursing scarcity, new diseases, the aging population, and high quality care are complex issues that result in ethical problems for nurses (1,2). For this reason, it is expected that nurses should be aware of professional values and use them in decision making processes while dealing with ethical problems (2,3).

Professional values are standard guidelines, directions for professional actions, and clinical decision-making (4).

Contemporary nurses are expected to pay attention to professional values and reflect such values in their care practices (5-7). The results of several studies have shown that professional values enable nurses to assess care quality sensitively and enhance their care performances

Address for Correspondence

Ayla Kaya PhD, Akdeniz University Faculty of Nursing, Department of Pediatric Nursing, Antalya, Turkey Phone: +90 536 321 00 29 E-mail: aylakayaakdeniz@gmail.com ORCID: orcid.org/0000-0002-0281-0299 **Received:** 20.03.2019 **Accepted:** 10.06.2019

©Copyright 2020 by Ege University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pediatrics and Ege Children's Foundation The Journal of Pediatric Research, published by Galenos Publishing House. (3,8-10). Therefore, it is extremely important to enhance professional values among nurses in order to improve and professionalize nursing practices (10). When nurses raise awareness of professional values, they can successfully transfer these values into their professional practices, which eventually results in enhanced patient care and increased job satisfaction (11-13).

Job satisfaction is characterized by the rapport between professional expectations and gains and this primarily signifies the professional attitudes, beliefs, knowledge, emotions, behaviors, and judgements of employees (14,15). Job satisfaction is important in a nurse's work life (15). Nurses constitute the majority of human resources in medical care with 24-hour medical service. As nurses spend most of their days in their workplaces, job dissatisfaction will absolutely lead to life dissatisfaction in turn. In this case, physical, mental and social well-being might be impaired in the long-term. Consequently, nurses may experience job dissatisfaction and Burnout syndrome that manifests itself as distraction from their professional responsibilities, intentions to leave the profession, and high turnover rates (12,16). It has been recently revealed that nurses with high levels of job satisfaction report more positive feelings and professional attitudes (14,15,17).

Pediatric nurses support children by addressing important issues and dealing with their problems. In addition to meeting the child's needs, nurses communicate and collaborate with families and also fight with them. Pediatric nurses are responsible for enabling and facilitating ethical decision making in both children and their parents (9) as well as providing counseling and support to children and their parents to promote and maintain their health (1). Pediatric nursing is a special field of nursing that focuses on providing medical care particularly for children and their parents from infancy to late adolescence (3,18,19). Especially pediatric nurses may be at higher risk due to the fact that children are usually seen as helpless and vulnerable (17). The major concerns that may affect job satisfaction in pediatric nurses are the difficult work conditions and the relatively more intensive care needed for pediatric patients (20). Therefore, pediatric nurses should raise awareness concerning professional values in order to ensure developed nursing practices, quality nursing care, professionalization, and enhanced job satisfaction. Studies to date have examined mainly nurses working with adult patients and their professional values and job satisfaction (11,12,15).

It has been widely determined that the perception of professional values and job satisfaction play a great role in

the professional careers of nurses. It has also been reported that developing professional values significantly improves the care satisfaction of patients and job satisfaction of nurses, enhances care quality and decreases the intent to leave the profession (11,12). Although recent studies have suggested a correlation among the concepts such as job satisfaction, professional values, and care quality, there is still a need for evidence-based studies to elaborate these correlations. This study also was conducted to pave the way for further studies by providing comprehensive data in this field. It is essential for nurses to integrate professional values into their professional practices in order to ensure professionalization and enhanced job satisfaction (11,12). However, professional values of pediatric nurses had not been thoroughly investigated to date. The aim of this study, therefore, was to provide data and pave the way for future studies and focus on perceptions of professional values and job satisfaction levels of pediatric nurses in particular and their influencing factors.

Materials and Methods

Research Design

This study was conducted with a cross-sectional design.

Participants and Setting

The study was conducted with 134 pediatric nurses working in three public hospitals in Turkey. All pediatric nurses (Total=175) in the city were included in the study. Therefore, no sampling method was used. Some nurses said that they were too busy and so did not want to participate in the study. The response rate was 93.7%.

Data Collection

The data were collected between February 2016 and August 2016. Before the data collection, the participants were informed about the aim of the study. Given that their participation in the study would be voluntary, their written consents were obtained. The researchers distributed and collected the data forms on the same day. There was no time limitation for the participants to complete the forms.

Data Collection Tools

The personal information form, the Nursing Professional Values scale (NPVS), and the Minnesota Satisfaction Questionnaire (MSQ) were administered. The personal information form included questions about the descriptive characteristics of the participants such as age, gender, marital status, and their number of children as well as their educational status, current position at work, duration

of service in the pediatric unit, and their shift work. The NPVS was used to analyze the professional values of the pediatric nurses. Developed by Weis and Schank (21), the NPVS is a five-point Likert scale with five subscales. In 2005, Orak adapted the scale into Turkish and conducted its reliability and validity testing (22). The scale has a total of 36 items and five subscales, namely dignity, responsibility, taking action, security and autonomy (22). The arithmetic mean was used to evaluate the total scores of the scale. An average score above 3.5 indicates high professional values. Higher scores signify that pediatric nurses place a great emphasis on professional values. The Cronbach's Alpha coefficient of the scale was found to be 0.95 (22). In the present study, the Cronbach's Alpha coefficient of the scale was found to be 0.92. The MSQ was used to assess job satisfaction levels of the pediatric nurses. Its original version with three subscales was developed by Weiss, Dawis and England (23). The reliability and validity study of the Turkish version of the questionnaire was conducted by Baycan (24). The Cronbach's alpha coefficient of the questionnaire was found to be 0.77. The total score of the scale and subscales were evaluated using the arithmetic mean. An average score above 3.5 indicates high job satisfaction. Sabanciogullari and Dogan (15) reported that the Cronbach's Alpha coefficient of the questionnaire was 0.90 (15). In the present study, the Cronbach's alpha coefficient of the scale was 0.88.

Statistical Analysis

The data were analyzed using the Statistical Program, version SPSS 23.0. The demographic characteristics of the pediatric nurses in the study were assessed. Professional values and job satisfaction scales were tested for reliability with Cronbach's Alpha coefficient. The data analysis was conducted with frequency, percentage distribution, arithmetic mean, analysis of variance, t-test, Tukey test, and Pearson correlation analysis. The analysis of the results was predicated on the basis of a significance level of 0.05. Ethical principals were followed in the study.

Ethical Considerations

Ethical approval for this study was given by Akdeniz University Clinical Trials Ethics Committee (approval number: 70904504-23). The participants were informed about the study. Written permission from the hospitals and written consent from the participants were obtained.

Results

The results of the study revealed that the average age of the pediatric nurses was 32 ± 0.77 years (min=18 max=51), the

average duration of working in the professional service was 15 ± 1.44 years (min=2, max=32), and the average duration of working as pediatric nurse was 7 ± 1.36 years (min=1, max=18). It was also found that 97.8% of the participants were female and 45.5% were aged between 26-36 years. While 73.1% of the participants were married, 38.1% had no child. It was also reported that 71.6% of the participants received education in a nursing high school. 87.3% of the participants were clinical nurses, 75.4% had been working as a pediatric nurse for 10 years or less, and 59% were working in day and night shifts.

It was concluded that the professional values scores of the pediatric nurses were high; whereas, the job satisfaction scores were at moderate levels. Table 1 shows the NPVS and MSQ scores of the pediatric nurses. Table 2 shows the factors influencing the professional values and job satisfaction levels of the pediatric nurses.

The results also indicated a positive and high correlation between pediatric nurses' perception of professional values and their job satisfaction levels (Table 3).

Discussion

As a result of the study, it was found that the pediatric nurses perceived their professional values as high. This was satisfying in terms of reflecting the professionalism of the pediatric nurses. In a limited number of studies conducted with pediatric nurses, it was determined that the professional values scores of the nurses were high (3,9,25). Professional values are important in the development of nursing care quality (3,8-10). In addition, pediatric nurses

Scales	Mean	SD	Min	Max
NPVS				
Total score	3.87	0.58	2.47	5.00
Dignity	3.99	0.64	2.27	5.00
Responsibility	3.89	0.89	2.44	5.00
Taking action	3.94	0.94	2.38	5.00
Security	4.10	0.64	2.50	5.00
Autonomy	4.08	0.75	1.75	5.00
MSQ				
Overall satisfaction	3.40	0.71	1.60	5.00
Internal satisfaction	3.53	0.53	1.58	5.00
External satisfaction	3.20	0.78	1.38	5.00

are responsible for supporting the families of the patients in many cases (1,9). Pediatric nurses can provide effective care by being aware of the needs of the children and their families as well as the means of optimum healthcare services and opportunities of families under all circumstances.

Table II. Factors influencing the professional values and jobsatisfaction levels of pediatric nurses (n=134)						
Descriptive characteristics	n	%	NPVS X ± SD	MSQ X ± SD		
Marital status						
Married	98	73.1	3.65±0.51 3.69±0.39			
Single	36	26.9	3.91±0.58	3.33±0.69		
			p=0.01	p=0.04		
Educational level						
Vocational high school of nursing	12	9.0	3.75±0.54	3.39±0.71		
Vocational college	14	10.4	3.78±0.70	3.25±0.79		
BSN	96	71.6	4.20±0.16	3.54±0.68		
MSN	12	9.0	3.87±0.57	3.14±0.93		
			p=0.01	p=0.02		
Total service as pediatric nurse (years)						
≤10	81	60.4	3.71±0.57	3.34±0.73		
11-15	36	26.9	4.06±0.64	3.59±0.79		
≥16	17	12.7	3.56±0.63	3.50±3.64		
			p=0.01	p=0.03		
Position at work						
Clinical nurse	117	87.3	3.86±0.60	3.54±0.72		
Chief nurse	17	12.7	4.08±0.29	3.39±0.72		
			p=0.02	p=0.04		
Work type						
Daytime	48	35.8	3.98±0.58	3.62±0.64		
Night	7	5.2	3.77±0.41	3.50±0.62		
Shift	79	59.0	3.72±0.60	3.31±0.75		
			p=0.01	p=0.04		
p<0.05, SD: Standart deviation, NPVS: Nursing Professional Values scale, MSQ: Minnesota satisfaction questionnaire						

Table III.Nursing Professional Values Scale, MinnesotaSatisfaction Questionnaire (n=134)				
		NPVS		
	r	0.831		
MSQ	р	0.01		
p<0.05, NPVS: Nursing Professional Values scale, MSQ: Minnesota satisfaction questionnaire				

Children are different from adults in terms of biological, psychological, and social aspects and they are also more vulnerable than adults in terms of exposure to violations of rights. Ethical issues caused by all of these main differences in pediatric nursing have brought new discussions into the open (26). At this point, it is important for pediatric nurses to perceive professional values as high in order to make correct decisions. Therefore, it is thought that pediatric nurses perceive professional values as high, reflect them in practices and implement them in order to protect and promote the child's health. In the present study, the job satisfaction level of the pediatric nurses was found to be moderate. According to studies in different countries, job satisfaction levels of nurses are moderate (12,13,20,27). In a limited number of studies conducted with pediatric nurses, it was determined that their job satisfaction scores were moderate (14,17,28). Our results are compatible with the literature.

The pediatric nurses who were single, had a bachelor's degree, had been working in child nursing for 11-15 years, were in the position of clinical nurse specialist and working on the daytime shift had higher professional value scores. There are different statuses for nursing education in Turkey. Pediatric nurses with 4 years of university education may be considered to have higher professional values than others. In the study conducted by Yazıcıoğlu Sorucuoğlu and Güdücü Tüfekci (3) with 224 pediatric nurses, they stated that the professional values of those nurses who were single and nursing nurses were significantly higher (3). In another study conducted with pediatric nurses, professional value scores of post-graduate and day shift nurses were found to be high (25). The results of the present study are partially consistent with the literature. Those pediatric nurses who were married, had a bachelor's degree, had been working in child nursing for 11-15 years, in the position of clinical nurse specialist and working on the daytime shift had higher a job satisfaction level. In studies on the job satisfaction levels of pediatric nurses (14), job satisfaction levels of nurses who were working continuously in daytime work and were graduates (27) were higher than others.

The fact that nurses strive to provide quality care to patients, look out for them, advocate for them, and support them to make conscious decisions can be achieved only with an adoption of professional values and high job satisfaction (13,29). The results of this study also suggested a positive and moderately significant correlation between the perception of professional values and job satisfaction. In the study conducted by Yarbrough et al. (11), they found that attempts to improve the professional values of nurses resulted in enhanced job satisfaction. Similarly, it was reported that there was a positive significant correlation between professional values and job satisfaction in nurses (12). This result was compatible with the results of previous studies. It can be reasonably suggested that raising awareness concerning professional values will improve the job satisfaction of nurses.

Study Limitations

The present study has several limitations. One of the limitations is that the data were obtained only from three public hospitals in Antalya, Turkey. Future studies with larger sample groups are needed in Turkey. Another limitation of this study is that the majority of the participants were female. For this reason, the results of this study cannot be generalized to mixed gender groups.

Conclusion

The mean scores of the professional values of the pediatric nurses were high and their job satisfaction scores were moderate. Marital status, education level, working duration in pediatric nursing, working position, and shift were related to the professional values of pediatric nurses and their job satisfaction. It was found that there was a positive and moderate correlation between the perception of professional values and job satisfaction in pediatric nurses.

In the light of the results of this study, it is recommended that the professional values and job satisfaction of pediatric nurses are improved. Additionally, it is considered to be crucial to implement new strategies to maintain professional values in order to increase job satisfaction levels. Nevertheless, there is still an urgent need to conduct further studies investigating the professional values of pediatric nurses. It is also suggested that the factors that influence the professional values of pediatric nurses are analyzed, and thus the professional values of pediatric nurses are improved. Further studies are needed to validate the results of this study and to evaluate the possible impacts of interventions to enhance professional values and job satisfaction. It is recommended that educational and promotional programs are designed to enhance the pediatric nurses' perceptions concerning professional values.

The results of this study will be valuable for nursing managers of pediatric units to understand current levels of professional values and job satisfaction. These have significant implications for policy makers in re-examining aspects of management and nursing practice. These findings can guide pediatric nursing managers to highlight the importance of awareness on professional values among pediatric nurses as caregivers with high job satisfaction. Nursing managers play an important role in the formation of safe working environments and the enhancement of job satisfaction due to their tasks and responsibilities as well as their authorizations. This study, therefore, is thought to provide substantial data in this field in Turkey and to guide the Ministry of Health, nursing managers, hospital management, and non-governmental organizations to design well-established and unbiased programs for pediatric nurses. Finally, it is recommended that similar studies with pediatric nurses in different medical settings are conducted so that nursing managers can evaluate the validity of the test results.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank all participants in this study.

Ethics

Ethics Committee Approval: Ethical approval for this study was given by Akdeniz University Clinical Trials Ethics Committee (approval number: 70904504-23).

Informed Consent: Written permission from the hospitals and written consent from the participants were obtained.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Authorship Contributions

Concept: A.K., D.Ç., A.İ.D., Design: A.K., D.Ç., Data Collection or Processing: A.K., D.Ç., Analysis or Interpretation: A.K., A.İ.D., Literature Search: A.K., D.Ç., Writing: A.K., D.Ç., A.İ.D.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study received no financial support.

References

- Esenay FI, Yigit R, Binay S, Erdoğan S. Occupational satisfaction and implementation of roles and functions: a national survey of pediatric nurses in Turkey. Intern Ref J Gynaecol Dis Matern Child Health 2017;10:1-17.
- Poorchangizi B, Farokhzadian J, Abbaszadeh A, Mirzaee M, Borhani F. The importance of professional values from clinical nurses' perspective in hospitals of a medical university in Iran. BMC Med Ethics 2017;18:20.
- Yazıcı-Sorucuoğlu A. Güdücü-Tüfekçi F. Çocuk hemşirelerinde mesleki profesyonel değerler. ACU Sağlık Bil Derg 2015;6:105-9.
- Parandeh A, Khaghanizade M, Mohammadi E, Mokhtari Nouri J. Factors influencing development of professional values among

nursing students and instructors: a systematic review. Glob J Health Sci 2014;7:284-93.

- 5. Kaya A, Boz İ. The development of the Professional Values Model in Nursing. Nurs Ethics 2019;26:914-23.
- Riklikiene O, Karosas L, Kaseliene S. General and professional values of student nurses and nurse educators. J Adv Nurs 2018;74:666-76.
- Al Shammari F, Grande RAN. Vicencio DA. Al Mutairi S. Nurses' professional values on patient care provisions and decisions. J Nurs Educ Pract 2017;7:78-84.
- Lyneham J, Levett-Jones T. Insights into registered nurses' professional values through the eyes of graduating students. Nurs Educ Pract 2016;17:86-90.
- Gallegos C. Sortedahl C. An exploration of professional values held by nurses at a large freestanding pediatric hospital. Pediatr Nurs 2015;41:187-95.
- Moon S, Kim DH, Kim EJ, Kim YJ, Lee S. Evaluation of the validity and reliability of the Korean version of the Nursing Professional Values Scale—Revised. Nurs Educ Today 2014;34:325-30.
- Yarbrough S, Martin P, Alfred D, McNeill, C. Professional values, job satisfaction, career development, and intent to stay. Nursing Ethics 2017;24:675-85.
- Kantek F, Kaya A. Professional values, job satisfaction, and intent to leave among nursing managers. J Nurs Res 2017;25:319-25.
- Ravari A, Bazargan-Hejazi S, Ebadi A, Mirzaei T, Oshvandi K. Work values and job satisfaction: A qualitative study of Iranian nurses. Nurs Ethics 2013;20:448-58.
- Akman O, Ozturk C, Bektas M, Ayar D, Armstrong MA. Job satisfaction and burnout among paediatric nurses. J Nurs Manage 2016;24:923-33.
- Sabanciogullari S, Dogan S. Relationship between job satisfaction, professional identity and intention to leave the profession among nurses in Turkey. J Nurs Manage 2015;23:1076-85.
- Barutcu E, Serinkan C. Burnout syndrome: an important problem today and a research study conducted in Denizli. Ege Academic Review 2008;8:541-61.
- 17. Meyer RM, Li A, Klaristenfeld J, Gold JI. Pediatric novice nurses: examining compassion fatigue as a mediator between stress

exposure and compassion satisfaction, burnout, and job satisfaction. J Pediatr Nurs 2015;30:174-83.

- Enskär K, Huus K, Björk M, Granlund M, Darcy L, Knutsson S. An analytic review of clinical implications from nursing and psychosocial research within Swedish pediatric oncology. J Pediatr Nurs 2015;30:550-9.
- Teksöz E, Ocakcı AF. Çocuk hemşireliğinde sanat uygulamaları. Dokuz Eylül Üniversitesi Hemşirelik Yüksekokulu Dergisi 2014;7:119-23.
- 20. Sekol MA, Kim SC. Job satisfaction, burnout, and stress among pediatric nurses in various specialty units at an acute care hospital. J Nurs Educ and Pract 2014;4:115-24.
- 21. Weis D, Schank, MJ. An instrument to measure professional nursing values. J Nurs Sch 2000;32:201-4.
- 22. Orak SN. Analysis of factors affecting and professional nursing value of nurses in the province of Istanbul (Doctoral dissertation). Istanbul, Turkey: Marmara University/Institute of Health Sciences 2005.
- Weiss DJ, Dawis RV, England GW. Manual for the Minnesota Satisfaction Questionnaire. Minnesota Studies in Vocational Rehabilitation 22, Minneapolis, MN: University of Minnesota 1967.
- Baycan AF. Analysis of Several Affects of Job Satisfaction Between Different Occupational Groups (Master's dissertation). Istanbul, Turkey: Bogazici University/Institute of Health Science 1985.
- Zengin M, Yayan EH, Yıldırım N, Akın E, Avşar Ö, Mamiş E. Pediatri hemşirelerinin profesyonel değerlerinin profesyonel tutumlarına etkisi. Sağlık Bilimleri ve Meslekleri Dergisi 2018;5:316-23.
- Tazegün A, Çelebioğlu A. Ethical sensitivity levels of pediatric nurses and the factors affecting this sensitivity. İzmir Dr. Behçet Uz Çocuk Hast. Dergisi 2016;6:97-102.
- Aytekin A. Yılmaz Kurt F. Yenidoğan Yoğun Bakım Kliniği'nde çalışan hemşirelerde iş doyumu ve etkileyen faktörler. İzmir Dr. Behçet Uz Çocuk Hast Dergisi 2014;4:51-8.
- Adwan JZ. Pediatric nurses' grief experience, burnout and job satisfaction. J Pediatr Nurs 2014;29:329-36.
- Gurkova E, Cap J, Ziakova K, Duriskova M. Job satisfaction and emotional subjective well-being among Slovak nurses. Int Nurs Rev 2012;59:94-100.


Mortality Rate and Causes of Death in Children Aged 1-59 Months in Northeastern Iran During 2011-2017

Mehdi Safarpour¹
Amir Tiyuri²
Parvin Mohamadzade³
Maryam Dadjoo³
Seyed Ahmad Hashemy³
Masume Mohamadzade⁴
Ehsan Shahrestanaki⁵

¹Iran University of Medical Sciences, Faculty of Public Health, Department of Epidemiology, Tehran, Iran

²Student Research Committee, Iran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

³Health Deputy, North Khorasan University of Medical Sciences, Bojnurd, Iran

⁴Health Deputy, Babol University of Medical Sciences, Babol, Iran

⁵Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Faculty of Public Health, Department of Epidemiology and Biostatistics, Tehran, Iranw

ABSTRACT

Aim: The mortality rate indicator for children is one of the important indicators of population health and socioeconomic development of countries. In addition, to reduce the mortality in children, it is essential to determine causes of death. This study aims to determine the mortality causes in children aged 1-59 months in Northeastern Iran.

Materials and Methods: This population-based cross-sectional study was conducted based on data from the child mortality surveillance system, from March 2011 to March 2017. The mortality rate was evaluated according to demographic variables (sex, place of residence and mother's education). Causes of death were coded according to the International Classification of Diseases. Chi-square and Mann-Whitney U tests were applied to investigate the relationships.

Results: The mortality rate in children aged 1-59 months was 8.2 per 1,000 live births (CI 95%: 7.6-8.8) from 2011 to 2017. Totally 53.2% of mortalities occurred in boys (p=0.07). The frequency of death in the age group of 1-11 months was 1.7 times more than the age group of 12-59 months. The highest mortality rates occurred in rural areas and among children with illiterate mothers. During the study period, on average, the mortality rate decreased by 0.7 per 1,000 live births every year. The most common causes of death were unintentional accidents (33.8%) and congenital or chromosomal abnormalities (22.1%).

Conclusion: Improving maternal education is among the key strategies for reducing child mortality. Therefore, it is necessary to raise the level of education and awareness regarding childhood mortality, especially in rural areas.

Keywords: Children, mortality rate, causes of death, maternal education, Iran

Introduction

The mortality rate for children has received more attention as an indicator of population health and a country's development especially in the last decade (1). This issue holds great importance which has led to the Millennium Development Goals (MDGs) aim to reduce child mortality with a target of reducing under-five mortality rates by two thirds over the period 1990-2015 (2). The child

Address for Correspondence

Masume Mohamadzade MD, Babol University of Medical Sciences, Health Deputy, Babol, Iran Phone: +989155847626 E-mail: masume_mohamadzade@yahoo.com ORCID: orcid.org/0000-0002-4911-2017 **Received:** 28.01.2019 **Accepted:** 01.08.2019

©Copyright 2020 by Ege University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pediatrics and Ege Children's Foundation The Journal of Pediatric Research, published by Galenos Publishing House.

mortality rate in communities has been decreased due to economic and social developments and carrying out effective interventions (3). According to the World Health Organization (WHO), substantial global progress has been made in reducing child deaths since 1990. Worldwide, the number of under-5 deaths declined from 12.5 million in 1990 to 5.6 million in 2016. In other words, 35,000 deaths per day in 1990 compared with 15,000 in 2016. During these years, the under-5 mortality rate dropped by 56% worldwide, in other words, 93 deaths per 1,000 live births in 1990 to 41 in 2016 (4). According to the results of the global burden of disease study, lower respiratory infections (20.1%), diarrheal diseases (17.4%), malaria (11.8%), other no communicable diseases (8.1%), and nutritional deficiencies (6.7%), were reported to be the most important causes of death in children aged 1-11 months. Furthermore, malaria (20.8%), lower respiratory infections (12.4%), diarrhea (11.9%), chronic non-communicable diseases (9.9%) and nutritional disorders (7.2%) were the most prevalent causes of death among children aged 1-4 years old (5). According to the WHO, more than half of these early child deaths are due to conditions that could be prevented or treated with access to simple, affordable interventions. Strengthening health systems to provide such interventions to all children will save many young lives (4). The results of a variety of studies in Iran indicate that the under-five mortality rate has decreased in recent years (6,7). Given that reducing the mortality rate of this age group has been consistent with international goals as a national and academic priority, and due to the lack of data in this regard, this study was conducted to determine the mortality rate and causes of death in children aged 1-59 months in North Khorasan province, northeastern Iran, from March 2011 to March 2017.

Materials and Methods

In this population-based cross-sectional study, we considered all actual and recorded deaths through the child mortality surveillance system, from March 2011 to March 2017, to investigate the mortality rate and causes of death in children aged 1-59 months in North Khorasan Province, Located in Northeastern Iran, which had a population of 863,092 according to the 2016 national census. This province covers an area of 28,434 square kilometers and contains 8 counties with Bojnurd as its provincial capital. Due to the importance given to the registering of child mortality in the health care system of Iran, all deaths should be reported and reviewed by the child death committee. Therefore, the database of child deaths in the health department is a comprehensive and valid source. Iranian nationality and

residence in North Khorasan province were the eligibility criteria, in contrast, inadequate and misleading information were considered as exclusion criteria (however, there were no missed cases). In this study, we performed a secondary analysis of the data collected by the health department of North Khorasan University of Medical Sciences. These data were obtained from the health department de-identified and without the confidential information of individuals. Therefore, informed parental consent was not obtained due to the design of this study.

The data needed for this study including gender, age, place of residence, mother's education and cause of death were extracted from the standard checklist of the Children's Health Department of the Ministry of Health in the health department of North Khorasan University of Medical Sciences. This checklist investigates the history of each child death since the beginning of the first signs of risk to death and includes four sections: an overview of family health status, outpatient medical measures, hospitalized medical measures and a specialized checklist examines the cause of the death of each child aged 1 to 59 months, which is completed by a Pediatrician after reviewing the previous checklists. The process of recording and reporting a child's mortality is as follow: when the death has occurred in the hospital, the main criterion for the leading cause of death in hospitals is under the supervision of the death committee, but when the death is reported by a physician at a health center in cases where death occurred outside the hospital, reports were examined by relevant experts at the health department and causes of death were coded according to the International Classification of Diseases. The mortality rate was estimated in each year as deaths which occurred in the age group of 1-59 months per 1,000 live births. To report the results, the frequency was used to describe qualitative variables and the mean and 95% CI for quantitative variables. Pie charts are used to display the causes of death in each age group (1-11 months and 12-59 months).

Statistically Analysis

The frequency of mortality is represented in a table according to demographic variables. Chi-square and Mann-Whitney U tests were applied to examine the relationship between qualitative variables and comparison of median age at death. The statistical significance level was set at less than 0.05. Additionally, the mortality trend was also investigated using linear regression, which was the line gradient considered as the average of the changes in mortality during the period.

Safarpour et al.
Mortality Rate and Causes of Death in Children Aged 1-59 Months

Table I. Distribution of deaths by demographic characteristics						
Age groups (months)						
Variable	1-11	12-59	1-59	р		
Gender n (%)						
Male	256 (52.0)	158 (55.2)	414 (53.2)	0.07		
Female	236 (48.0)	128 (44.8)	364 (46.8)			
Place of residence n (%)						
Urban	149 (30.3)	82 (28.7)	231(29.7)	<0.001		
Rural	343 (69.7)	204 (71.3)	547 (70.3)			
Mother's education n (%)						
Illiterate	159 (32.3)	88 (30.8)	247 (31.7)			
Elementary	134 (27.2)	97 (34.0)	231(29.7)	<0.001		
Secondary	106 (21.5)	48 (16.7)	154 (19.8)	<0.001		
High school	73 (14.8)	42 (14.6)	115 (14.8)			
Academic	20 (4.2)	11 (3.9)	31 (4.0)			





Figure 1. a) Distribution of deaths among children age 1-11 months, by cause. b) Distribution of deaths among children age 12-59 months, by cause. c) Distribution of deaths among children aged 1-59 months, by cause

Results

According to the table I, 778 deaths were recorded in children aged 1-59 months and that 414 (53.2%) of them

occurred in boys and 364 (46.8%) in girls (p=0.07). Totally, 63.2% of deaths (492 cases) occurred in the age group of 1-11 months. In other words, the mortality rate in the age



Figure 2. Trend of mortality rate with confidence interval 95% children 1-59 months in the study period

group of less than one year (1-11 months) was 1.7 times more than the age group of 12-59 months. The median age at death for boys and girls was 7 months (Interquartile: 16.0) and 6 months (Interguartile: 14.3) respectively (p=0.8). The childhood mortality in the rural areas (547 cases) was 2.3 times more than in urban areas (p<0.001). This significant difference was observed in both age groups and death cases in rural areas in the age groups of 1-11 and 12-59 months was 2.3 and 2.4 times more than urban areas respectively. The mortality rate of children with illiterate mothers was higher than children with mothers with elementary and academic education (p<0.001). In addition, 31.7% of mothers were illiterate and 81.3% of them lived in rural areas. Regarding the records of 94,501 new birth cases during the study period, totally, the mean annual mortality rate for children was estimated to be 8.2 per 1,000 live births (95% CI: 7.6-8.8). Figure 1 show the causes of death in age groups. Unintentional accidents, congenital and chromosomal abnormalities, cardiovascular diseases, respiratory diseases, and nervous system diseases are noted as the top five leading causes of death in the age group of 1-11 months. The top five leading causes of death in the age group of 12-59 months were unintentional accidents, congenital and chromosomal abnormalities, nervous system diseases, cardiovascular diseases, and respiratory diseases respectively. Also, in the top ten causes of death, the median of age of death was lower than 12 months except for cancers and hematopoiesis system diseases.

Figure 2 indicates the mortality rate from 2011 to 2017; the highest and lowest mortality rates occurred during 2013 and 2014, with 10.8 and 5.9 deaths per 1,000 live births, respectively. From 2011 to 2017, the mortality rate declined in the age group of 1-59 months, from 9.3 deaths per 1,000 live births in 2011 to 6.9 in 2017. Figure 3 shows that the frequency of deaths for boys was higher than for girls in the study period, except in 2013 and 2016.



Figure 3. Frequency of deaths among children aged 1-59 months by gender in the study period

Discussion

The findings of the present study suggests that child mortality in rural area was higher than urban areas. In contrast, according to a study of Izadi et al.(8) in Kermanshah province, child mortality was higher in urban areas. Also, according to the results of the present study, unintentional accidents were the leading cause of death in children aged 1-59 months, whereas Rahbar et al. (7) in their study reported that the most common cause of mortality were the congenital and chromosomal abnormalities in Iran.

With the end of the era of the MDGs, the international community agreed on a new framework, the sustainable development goals (SDGs). The SDGs target for child mortality represents a renewed commitment to the world's children: with an end date of 2030, all countries aim to reduce neonatal mortality to at least as low as 12 deaths per 1,000 live births and under-five mortality to at least as low as 25 deaths per 1.000 live births for preventable mortality (9). In the last few decades, childhood mortality rates have decreased in most countries (10). Despite the significant improvements made in reducing child mortality, child survival remains an urgent concern. In spite of the availability of interventions to preserve life, it is unacceptable that 15,000 children die from preventable and treatable diseases every day. Furthermore, according to the 6th development plan of the Islamic Republic of Iran, by 2021, the aim is to reduce the mortality rate of children under five years to at least as low as 11.3 deaths per 1,000 live births, while this rate was 15.1 according to the latest report of the Ministry of Health in 2017 (11). The results of the present study showed that there was a decline in the trend of mortality in children aged 1-59 months in the North Khorasan province, which is consistent with the results of other studies in other provinces of Iran (8,12,13). Although the results of the study indicated that there is a relative success in achieving the SDGs, unfortunately, the death rate of children aged 1-59 in

this province is higher than the national average (5.1 deaths per 1,000 live births) and the second lowest rank belongs to this province after Sistan and Baluchestan province (11). Soori et al. (6) compared the rates and causes of under-five mortality in Iran with the Eastern Mediterranean region and the world. Between 1990 and 2012, the under-five mortality rate in Iran dropped from 56 deaths per 1,000 live births to 18 deaths per 1,000 live births, and so ranked 11th among the 21 Eastern Mediterranean countries.

Based on the results, the death rate reached its highest level (10.8 deaths per 1,000 live births) in 2013. Under further scrutiny, it was found that the main contributing cause was due to the increase in central nervous system diseases and opioid poisoning along with traffic accidents compared to the previous year. In contrast, this rate unexpectedly dropped by 46% in the next year (5.8 deaths per 1,000 live births). This decline perhaps was due to low reporting or a lack of sufficient sensitivity of the health system in recording deaths due to shifting and relocation of experts on children's programs at health centers and health department. As well as this, the reduction may be actual and attributable to the effect of the rapid interventions by the health system such as increasing awareness, improvements in the care system and so on, which should be specifically investigated in other studies.

According to the study of Frey and Field (14), improvements in socioeconomics, education, housing, nutrition, health care, and sanitation have contributed to reducing childhood mortality. According to the results, a major part of the deaths occurred in rural areas, which is consistent with the results of previous studies (7,15). Koffi et al. (16) in their study entitled the social determinants of mortality among children aged 1-59 months reported that three quarters of deaths occurred in rural areas. Based on another study in Iran (17), the mortality for children in rural areas was higher than in urban areas. Unequal income distribution and facilities between the rural and urban areas which may affect mortality in children through a number of factors including low maternal education, malnutrition in both the mother and child, a lack of proper access to health services and facilities especially during pregnancy and the low quality of medical services particularly infant medical care can account for the difference between these two areas (18). In addition, the results of the present study showed that the educational level of mothers in rural areas was lower than in urban areas. Evidence suggests that girls with minimal primary education when they reach adulthood, compared to illiterate girls, are likely to better manage their desired family size based on their capacity and there is a strong probability that they provide better care for their children (19). The distribution of mother's educational levels among deceased children in the present study showed that more than three guarters of deaths were found in children of mothers who were illiterate mothers or only had elementary education, which is consistent with the results of other studies (7,15,17). It has been proven by several studies that maternal education plays an important role in increasing health awareness, adopting appropriate fertility behaviors, the better use of health services related to pregnancy, child nutrition, and health and medical care (20,21). Similar to the results of other studies, the frequency of deaths in boys was higher than in girls in our study (8,15-17). According to some previous studies, gender differences in child mortality are due to complex interactions of biological, genetic, social, and environmental factors (22,23). However, the causes of gender differences in childhood mortality can be explained by two biological and environmental mechanisms. According to the biological perspective, higher rates of mortality in boys can be attributed to their poor biological structure (22) that was confirmed by a report from the United Nations (23) on the existence of some biological factors favorable to female survival compared to males. Girls are less vulnerable to perinatal conditions, such as intrauterine injuries, intrauterine hypoxia, choking, prematurity, Respiratory Distress syndrome, intestinal and lower respiratory tract infections compared to boys. In the environmental factors approach, there is the emphasis on modifiable external factors that affect under-five morbidity and mortality, including mother and infant feeding, gender preference, infant care, breastfeeding, environmental health threats at home and socioeconomic levels (24). In our study, five factors including unintentional accidents, congenital and chromosomal anomalies, cardiovascular diseases, respiratory diseases, and neurological diseases have been noted as the leading causes of death in children aged 1 to 59 months. In addition, more than two-thirds of the deaths were also attributable to the three leading causes of death, and that the contribution of unintentional accidents was 50 percent. Unintentional accidents and congenital and chromosomal anomalies were the main causes of death in both age groups (7). However, according to the 2017 report from the United Nation Inter-agency Group for Child Mortality Estimation, the leading causes of death in this age group were malaria, diarrhea, injury, pneumonia and others (9). In other studies in Iran, similar to the results of the present study, congenital and chromosomal anomalies and unintentional accidents were reported as the leading causes of death in this age group. The low

mortality rate due to infectious diseases in comparison with some studies reflects the relative success of children's infectious disease prevention programs. Furthermore, since non-communicable diseases became the leading cause of death in children aged 1 to 59 months, it seems that a variety of interventions and strategies are needed to reduce the mortality rate in these children.

Study Limitations

Despite being population-based and having full coverage of the deaths as the strengths of the present study, our study has several limitations worth noting: the inability to access other variables that affect child death, such as birth weight, birth order, maternal age, pregnancy status, pre and postnatal care and environmental factors including the family's socioeconomic status. Other limitations of this study were due to its retrospective design and the use of secondary data that can affect the data quality as incorrect records may cause misclassification or the low quality of recorded data may lead to classification bias. A further limitation and a potential source of bias in our study was the change in the population of urban and rural areas due to changes in country divisions that made it difficult to calculate the death rate. In addition, the shifting and relocation of experts on children's programs at health centers and health departments is one of the sources of bias that may have affected the quality of data.

Conclusion

Considering the causes of death among children is very important for the development of health plans, the assessment of ongoing programs and monitoring and prioritizing interventions. Improving maternal education is among the key strategies for reducing childhood mortality. Therefore, it is necessary to raise the level of education and awareness regarding childhood mortality, especially in rural areas.

Acknowledgments

Words of thanks are offered to the health deputy of North Khorasan University of Medical Sciences for their assistance in this article.

Ethics

Ethics Committee Approval: In this study, we performed a secondary analysis of the data collected by the health department of North Khorasan University of Medical Sciences. These data were obtained from the health department de-identified and without the confidential information of individuals.

Informed Consent: Informed parental consent was not obtained due to the design of this study.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed

Authorship Contributions

Concept: M.S., A.T., M.D., E.S., Design: M.S., A.T., P.M., M.M., Data Collection or Processing: P.M., M.D., S.A.H., M.M., Analysis or Interpretation: A.T., E.S., Literature Search: M.S., S.A.H., M.M., Writing: M.S., P.M., M.D.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study received no financial support.

References

- Murray CJ, Laakso T, Shibuya K, Hill K, Lopez AD. Can we achieve Millennium Development Goal 4? New analysis of country trends and forecasts of under-5 mortality to 2015. Lancet 2007;370:1040-54.
- WHO. WHO | Newborn death and illness: World Health Organization; 2011 [Available from: http://www.who.int/ pmnch/media/press_materials/fs/fs_newborndealth_illness/ en/.
- 3. UNICEF. Levels and Trends in Child Mortality, 1990–2012. Report 2013. 2013.
- WHO. Children: reducing mortality: WHO; 2018 [updated October 2017. Available from: http://www.who.int/ mediacentre/factsheets/fs178/en/.
- 5. Lozano R, Naghavi M, Foreman K, et al. Global and regional mortality from 235 causes of death for 20 age groups in 1990 and 2010: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2010. Lancet 2012;380:2095-128.
- Soori H, Rafiei E, Entezami N, Hasani J, Hossaini SM. A comparison study on rate and causes of under 5 years old deaths in Iran, eastern Mediterranean region and the world. J Safety Promot Injury Prev 2016;4:1-8.
- Rahbar M, Ahmadi M, Lornejad H, Habibelahi A, Sanaei-Shoar T, Mesdeaghinia A. Mortality causes in children 1–59 Months in Iran. Iran J Public Health 2013;42(Supple1):93.
- Izadi N, Shetabi H, Bakhtiari S, Janat AM, Parabi M, Ahmadi K. The Rate and Causes of Infant Mortaliry in the Hospitals of Kermanshah Province During 2011-2014. J Rafsanjan Univ Med Sci 2016;15:129-38.
- UNICEF, WHO, World Bank. Levels and trends in child mortality 2017 [cited 2018. Available from: http://www.who.int/ maternal child adolescent/en/-2013/en/pdf.
- Rajaratnam JK, Marcus JR, Flaxman AD, et al. Neonatal, postneonatal, childhood, and under-5 mortality for 187 countries, 1970–2010: a systematic analysis of progress towards Millennium Development Goal 4. Lancet 2010;375:1988-2008.
- Health Department-Population and Family Health Office. Report of the national system of death surveillance of children 1-59 months. Tehran: Ministry of Health of the Islamic Republic of Iran; 2017.

- 12. Ahmadi A, Javadi A. Trends and Determinants of Infant Mortality Rate in Fars Province during 2001-2011. J Rafsanjan Univ Med Sci 2015;14:37-46.
- Sharifian R, Ghanbari Jahromi M, Khammarnia M, Shokrpour N, Kasani A. The Comparison of Maternal and Child Health Indicators before and after the Family Physician Program in Shiraz, from 2001 to 2012. J Health Sci Surveillance Sys January 2017;5:15-21.
- 14. Frey RS, Field C. The determinants of infant mortality in the less developed countries: a cross-national test of five theories. Soc Indicat Res 2000;52:215-34.
- Hossain MM, Mani KK, Islam MR. Prevalence and determinants of the gender differentials risk factors of child deaths in Bangladesh: evidence from the Bangladesh demographic and health survey, 2011. PLoS Neglected Trop Dis 2015;9:e0003616.
- Koffi AK, Kalter HD, Loveth EN, Quinley J, Monehin J, Black RE. Beyond causes of death: The social determinants of mortality among children aged 1-59 months in Nigeria from 2009 to 2013. PLoS One 2017;12:e0177025.
- Motlagh ME, Kelishadi R, Barakati SH, Lornejad HR, Poursafa P. Distribution of mortality among 1-59 month-old children across Iranian provinces in 2009: the national mortality surveillance system. Arch Iran Med 2013;16:29.

- Yi B, Wu L, Liu H, Fang W, Hu Y, Wang Y. Rural-urban differences of neonatal mortality in a poorly developed province of China. BMC Publ Health 2011;11:477.
- 19. Veneman AM. Education is key to reducing child mortality: the link between maternal health and education. UN Chronicle 2007;44:58-9.
- 20. Raghupathy S. Education and the use of maternal health care in Thailand. Soc Sci Med 1996;43:459-71.
- 21. Kravdal Ø. Child mortality in India: the community-level effect of education. Popul Stud 2004;58:177-92.
- 22. Pongou R. Why is infant mortality higher in boys than in girls? A new hypothesis based on preconception environment and evidence from a large sample of twins. Demography 2013;50:421-44.
- United Nations. Sex Differentials in Childhood Mortality New York: Department of Economic and Social Affairs Population Division; 2011 [cited 2018. Available from: http:// www.un.org/esa/population/publications/SexDifChildMort/ SexDifferentialsChildhoodMortality.pdf.
- 24. Rosenstock S, Katz J, Mullany LC, et al. Sex differences in neonatal mortality in Sarlahi, Nepal: the role of biology and environment. J Epidemiol Community Health 2013;67:986-91.



The Effectiveness of Heated Humidified High-flow Nasal Cannula in Children with Severe Bacterial Pneumonia in the Emergency Department

Ali Yurtseven¹, Eylem Ulaş Saz¹

¹Ege University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pediatrics, İzmir, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Aim: The provision of appropriate respiratory support has a great role in outcome of patients presenting to the emergency department (ED) with respiratory distress (RD) associated with severe pneumonia. In recent years, heated humidified high-flow nasal cannula (HHHFNC) therapy has become one of the most popular non-invasive respiratory support modalities in all pediatric settings. In this study, we aimed to assess whether the use of HHHFNC therapy is associated with reduced RD and improvements in hypoxemia among children with severe bacterial pneumonia (SBP) presenting to the ED.

Materials and Methods: We performed a prospective observational study of patients with SBP admitted to a tertiary children's hospital pediatric ED who received HHHFNC therapy within the 2 year study period. The primary outcome was accepted as treatment failure (It was defined as a clinical escalation in respiratory status) and an increase in peripheral capillary oxygen saturation (SpO₂). Secondary outcomes covered a decrease of respiratory rate (RR), heart rate (HR), and rates of weaning, intubation and intensive care unit (ICU) admission.

Results: Fifty-six patients were included in this analyses. Treatment failure was 21.5% (12/56). Among these patients, 9 (16%) were intubated and 3 (5.5%) placed on bilevel positive airway pressure. The mean initial RR values were significantly higher in the non responders group than the responder group (p=0.027). Significant variation in the intubation rate or the ICU admission rate was not determined. At the 2^{nd} hour, the fall in RR (p<0.001), HR (p<0.001), and the increase of SpO, (p<0.001) were significantly evident when compared with the beginning.

Conclusion: HHHFNC therapy reached treatment success in a majority of the patients with SBP and provided an early effect. Patients with higher RRs responded less to HHHFNC. Further larger studies are needed to assess the impact of HHHFNC compared with other possible therapies.

Keywords: Pediatric emergency department, hypoxia, oxygenation, pneumonia, high-flow nasal cannula

Introduction

Severe bacterial pneumonia (SBP) is a common lifethreatening disease for the pediatric population, and is more common in infants and young children (1). Respiratory distress (RD) due to SBP, which is one of the most common reasons for emergency department (ED) presentations, causes millions of hospital admissions and hundreds of thousands of deaths every year worldwide (1-3). In the 1980s, the World Health Organization (WHO) developed a case management strategy aiming to reduce deaths from pneumonia (4). While it suggests that in severe pneumonia cases, the cornerstones of management are antibiotic and supportive therapy, the most important basis for the

Address for Correspondence

Ali Yurtseven MD, Ege University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pediatrics, İzmir, Turkey Phone: +90 505 205 21 44 E-mail: aliyurtseven1605@gmail.com ORCID: orcid.org/0000-0002-8302-0204 **Received:** 16.08.2019 **Accepted:** 09.09.2019

©Copyright 2020 by Ege University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pediatrics and Ege Children's Foundation The Journal of Pediatric Research, published by Galenos Publishing House. management strategy was hypoxemia which is common and potentially associated with increased risk of death (4-7). Early detection of hypoxemia, and administration of oxygen therapy also improves the outcome of children with SBP (7). The most effective way to treat hypoxemia is oxygen supplementation (6). There have been various oxygen treatment options for a long time but these may be insufficient. Heated humidified high-flow nasal cannula (HHHFNC) therapy has recently started to become an alternative oxygen giving method for the treatment of acute RD due to pneumonia (7).

HHHFNC can be set up quickly and is a reliable noninvasive respiratory support therapy method (8). Even though HHHFNC delivers high flow oxygen, owing to humidification and heating it doesn't damage the respiratory mucosa (9). HHHFNC also creates a positive-end expiratory pressure (8,9).

HHHFNC oxygen treatment, which has been reported to be more effective than standard oxygen, decreases the rate of intubation/invasive ventilation in severe pneumonia (10-12). Although it probably has some helpful effects, there is limited evidence on using this treatment option in patients with pneumonia (8,9).

There are already a few studies which evaluate the treatment success of HHHFNC for children with SBP with almost all of them being conducted in the intensive care unit (ICU) (13,14). The goal of this prospective clinical study was to determine whether the use of HHHFNC therapy is associated with a reduction in severity among children with SBP presenting to the ED.

Materials and Methods

This study was done as a prospective observational study in a pediatric ED. The study period was between May 2017 and April 2019. The ED is a tertiary-care teaching center and approximately 80,000 patients are admitted annually. The local Institutional Review Boards approved the study, and we obtained written informed consent for each patient. We maintained patient confidentiality during all processes of the study.

The diagnosis and the severity of pneumonia were made based on the Pediatric Infectious Diseases Society clinical practice guideline (15). All patients who were included in the study had fever or fever history, tachypnea, alveolar infiltration or consolidation on chest X-ray and high serum biomarkers values (procalcitonin level >0.25 ng/mL and/or C-reactive protein level >40 mg/L and/or absolute neutrophil count >10,000/mm³) supporting bacterial infection (16-18). Patients who were diagnosed with bacterial pneumonia, aged between 0-18 years and having at least one of clinical features of severe pneumonia [1- Moderate to severe RD (RR >70 breaths/minute for infants, RR >50 breaths/minute for older children, moderate/severe suprasternal, intercostal, or subcostal retractions (<12 months), severe difficulty breathing (≥12 months), grunting, nasal flaring, apnea, significant shortness of breath) 2- Cyanosis 3- Altered mental status 4- Hypoxemia (sustained oxygen saturation <90 percent in room air at sea level) 5- Not feeding (infants) or signs of dehydration (older children) 6- Capillary refill \geq 2 seconds) with temperature \geq 38.5°C and tachycardia were included in this study.] Patients who were intubated and/or admitted to the ICU on arrival at the ED; patients who had PCO₂ (venous) greater than 55 prior to HHHFNC initiation; patients who presented with severe septic shock; and patients who were complicated with pneumothorax or nasal trauma were excluded.

Pediatric emergency medicine specialists examined the patients for acute life-threatening conditions caused by pneumonia after the triage assessment. Following this stage, a nurse monitored vital signs [SpO₂, blood pressure, RR, heart rate (HR)], achieved vascular access, and obtained venous blood gas. After obtaining parental consent and confirmation of eligibility for study inclusion, HHHFNC therapy was initiated. Initially, a flow rate of 10 kg 2-L/kg/ min and thereafter a flow rate of 0.5 L/kg/min for every kilogram was delivered via nasal cannula. The total flow range was arranged as 6-50 L/min. FiO, was adjusted to a minimum value to ensure SpO, within a range of 94-99% and the humidifier was auto-set at 37°C. Optiflow of Fisher & Paykel Healthcare Auckland, New Zealand which is a heated and humidified HHHFNC delivery system was used. The optiflow junior nasal cannula (neonatal, infant and pediatric size) and the optiflow nasal cannula (adult size) which provides up to 50 L/min flow rate were utilized on all participants. All children also received standard management for bacterial pneumonia, including parental antibiotics and supportive care treatment. In addition, if necessary, patients were given therapy for comorbidities.

After HHHFNC initiation, the nurse and ED physician recorded hourly the clinical parameters (RR, HR and SpO₂). Achievement of all of the following criteria was accepted as weaning criteria. The criteria were: decreased RR (for infants ≤ 2 months < 60 bpm, 2-12 months < 50 bpm, 1-5 years < 40 bpm and > 5 years < 20 bpm); absence of dyspnea including accessory muscle use, retractions, nasal flaring, and grunting; SpO₂ reached $\geq 90\%$ with FiO₂ < 30%; no confusion. If severe RD and/or SpO₂ < 90% with FiO₂ > 50%

continued, ICU admission was required. HHHFNC therapy was continued in patients who had HHFNC failure or insufficient response, until their transfer to the ICU. If needed, intubation was performed at any stage of observation. The protocol continued for at least 24 hours and all stages of treatment [requirement of another modality of non-invasive ventilation (NIV), invasive ventilation, weaning, restart of HHHFNC therapy] were observed.

If one or more of the following criteria within 24 hours of initiation HHHFNC therapy were observed, it was considered as treatment failure. These criteria were; SpO, <90% continued even if FiO, >50%; persistent tachypnea (patients aged 0-12 months with RR >70 bpm and for >12 months >50 bpm); development of hypoventilation; PCO sustained over 50 mmHg. Patients who had treatment failure received bilevel positive airway pressure (BiPAP) or intubation. The primary outcome was defined as treatment failure within 24 hours after HHHFNC initiation and recovery in SpO₂ (after two hours of the treatment). It was reported that the highest risk of failure is within the first 24 hours of the therapy and the expected potential benefits of HHHFNC therapy are improvement in RR and HR, achievement of weaning and the avoidance of intubation or ICU admission (9,19). Additionally, secondary outcomes were reduction of RR and HR, a rise of SpO, and the rate of weaning after two hours of the treatment; rates of intubation and ICU admission within the first 24 hours.

The investigators trained the ED nurses and physicians about HHHFNC therapy before starting the study. This study was approved by Ethics Board of Ege University (approval number: 17-4/6).

Statistical Analysis

SPSS for Windows (ver. 22.0 SPSS Inc., IL, USA) was used for all analyses. Wilcoxon's test was performed to compare the changes in SpO₂, RR, HR, and the rate of weaning. Student's t-test, chi-squared and Mann-Whitney U test were used to analyze the differences of the baseline characteristics of responder and non-responder groups (age, sex, admitted season, comorbidity, the initial values of SpO2, RR, HR, PCO₂, PO₂, and pH) as appropriate. A twotailed probability value (p) of less than 0.05 was accepted as significant.

Results

During the study period, 92 patients presented to the ED with a diagnosis of SBP and 56 of them (61%) were assessed as eligible for the final analysis (Figure 1). The mean age was 45.3 ± 41.2 (2-168) months, and 55.4% (n=31) were male. In

the study group, 30 (53%) patients had chronic illnesses; 11 (20%) neuromuscular diseases, 8 (14%) chronic lung diseases, 5 (9%) chronic cardiac disease, 4 (7%) immunodeficiency, 1 (2%) malignancy and 1 (2%) malnutrition. The mean initial RR values of the non-responder group were significantly higher than the responder group (p=0.027). The other baseline characteristics of the responder group were similar to non-responder group (Table 1).

Among the 12 (21.4%) patients with treatment failure, 9 (16%) were intubated. BiPAP was successfully used to treat the remaining 3 patients. A total of 12 (21.5%) patients were admitted to the ICU. There was no statistical difference between patients who had chronic illnesses and others in terms of intubation rate, ICU admission rate and treatment failure.

At the second hour of the therapy, 21 (37.5%) patients received the weaning protocol, HHHFNC therapy continued in 23 patients (41%). The reductions in RR (p<0.001), and in HR (p<0.001), and the increase in SpO_2 (p<0.001) were significantly higher at the second hour of evaluation when compared with the baseline (Table 2).



Figure 1. Flowchart of the study population and the primary outcomes

Table I. Comparison of patient characteristics at admission between responder and non-responder groups						
	Responder group (HFNC therapy success) (n=44)	Non-responder group (HFNC therapy failure) (n=12)	Total (n=56)	р		
Sex						
Male (%)	24 (54.5)	7 (58.3)	31 (55.3)	0.540		
Mean age (months) (± SD)	45.7 (20)	43.7 (26)	45.3 (21)	0.878		
Prematurity (<37 weeks)	9 (20.4)	3 (25)	12 (21.4)	0.707		
Chronic illnesses	23 (52)	7 (58)	30 (53)	0.755		
Admitted season						
Winter	22 (50)	4 (33)	26 (46)			
Spring	9 (20)	4 (33)	13 (23)	0.451		
Autumn	7 (16)	1 (9)	8 (14)	0.451		
Summer	6 (14)	3 (35)	9 (16)			
Initial respiratory rate (breath/min)	59.7 (10.4) (40-80)	67.2 (9.1) (46-82)	61.3 (10.5) (40-82)	0.027		
Initial heart rate (beat/min)	157.8 (21.9) (106-208)	157.1 (18.1) (135-211)	157.6 (21.1) (106-211)	0.918		
Initial SpO ₂ ł (%)	91.3 (3.8) (75-100)	91 (3.6) (72-100)	91.2 (3.8) (72-100)	0.836		
Initial venous PCO ₂ ‡ (mmHg)	42.3 (7.5) (29-54)	43.2 (6.3) (33-54)	42.5 (7.5) (29-54)	0.707		
Initial venous PO ₂ † (mmHg)	59.5 (14.4) (25-85)	56.7 (17.5) (33-87)	57.5 (15.5) (25-87)	0.622		
Initial venous pH	7.35 (0.1) (7.21-7.52)	7.36 (0.1) (7.22-7.50)	7.35 (0.1) (7.21-7.51)	0.525		

SD: Standard deviation, HFNC: High-flow nasal cannula, PCO‡: Partial carbon dioxide, PO†: Partial oxygen, iPeripheral capillary oxygen saturation

Table II. Secondary outcomes in the study cohort

	Initial values	At the 2 nd hour of HFNC therapy	р	Mean difference		
Reduction in RR‡	61.3 (10.5)	50.6 (11.8)	<0.001	-10.7 (-7.9, -13.5)		
Reduction in HR ⁺	157.6 (21.1)	141.4 (24.2)	<0.001	-16.2 (-11, -21.4)		
Rise in SpO ₂ *	91.2 (3.8)	96.4 (4.3)	<0.001	5.2 (2.2-8.2)		

Ranges in parentheses are SDSs, Values are mean, HFNC: High-flow nasal cannula, ‡Respiratory rate (breath/min), †Heart rate (beat/min), *Peripheral capillary oxygen saturation

No patient died and therapy-related side effects such as pressure injuries or pneumothorax had not developed within 24 hours.

Discussion

In this prospective observational study, we investigated the effectiveness of HHHFNC therapy and affecting factors in children with RD due to SBP in a tertiary care academic pediatric ED. The results of our study have shown that HHHFNC is a safe and effective form of noninvasive respiratory support method for patients with SBP. HHHFNC therapy was significantly efficient for RR, HR and SpO_2 at the second hour of the therapy, while treatment success was achieved in 78.5 % of patients. Therapy failure was more common in patients with a higher respiratory rate.

Although appropriate antibiotics and supportive care treatment are indispensable for children with pneumonia, it is stated that hypoxemia is one of the most important risk factors for mortality and morbidity in these patients (6,20). As shown in meta-analysis, hypoxemia, which is defined with a cut-off for SpO_2 below 90%, is associated

with significantly increased odds of death from acute lower respiratory infections (odds ratio: 5.47, 95%, confidence interval: 3.93 to 7.63) in children (21). Previously published data indicates that delays in diagnosis or management of hypoxemia due to pneumonia may be the main cause of these high rates in low-income countries (22,23). As expected NIV methods such as HHHFNC use are limited in these countries (23). Since our results indicate early and significant improvement in hypoxemia due to pneumonia, we can conclude that good outcomes are associated with HHFNC use. If HHFNC were used in low-income countries, death and disability could be prevented (24).

In recent years, HHHFNC has been preferred commonly for children with bronchiolitis/pneumonia/asthma in many pediatric departments around the world (9,25). However, there are still limited studies which have been conducted in the ED setting on the use of HHHFNC as a respiratory support method for children with pneumonia (8,9). Although the majority of patients included in these studies were infants with acute bronchiolitis, it has been reported that HHHFNC is also effective in children with pneumonia (10-12). In a unique, randomized controlled study, only including children with severe pneumonia, conducted in the ICU, comparing HHHFNC with nasal continuous positive airway pressure (nCPAP), Chisti et al. (24), have determined that there was no difference in treatment failure and intubation rate between an nCPAP group and HHHFNC group. In another study, Er et al. (26) evaluated 64 children aged 0-18 years with bacterial pneumonia receiving HHHFNC in an ED and found that the therapy success rate was 80%. Our findings are similar to the results of these studies.

It is very important to predict the determining factors of HHHFNC therapy failure in children with RD (13,14). That will enable us to identify patients who will not respond, and thus other treatment options will not be delayed. In our study group, non-responders had a higher respiratory rate at the beginning than responders which is consistent with previous studies (12,27). This may be a reason why HHFNC should not be selected in children with more severe RD.

Early response to HHHFNC is essential when treating a patient with RD and it also can be used as predictor for the main outcomes. A decline in HR and RR have been commonly considered as early signs of a good response to HHHFNC (10,28). Davison et al. (29) found that the surrogate markers (HR and RR) of RD decreased significantly after the first hour of HHHFNC treatment. Similarly, we found that there was a manifest improvement in RR and HR from the initial values to the second hour of therapy. Since it has been reported that HFNC reduced the rate of intubation and ICU admission in children with RD, it has become increasingly popular in all pediatric settings (25). Our findings showed that the intubation rate for the present cohort was 16%. In a large study conducted with children with RD in an ED, Wing et al. (11), showed that there was an 83% reduction in the likelihood of intubation in patients receiving HFNC compared with patients who did not get HHFNC. A prospective pilot study has shown that PICU admission is four times less likely in children receiving HHFNC than the standard treatment group (30). In the study by Chisti et al. (24), a total of 79 patients with severe pneumonia were treated with HHHFNC and it was found that among these patients the rate of intubation was 13%.

Study Limitations

We have some limitations in this study. First, the findings of this study may not be generalizable to other settings because it was a single center study and had an insufficient number of cases. Second, since the study was performed in an ED, we thought 24-hour follow-up was enough. However, because of this decision, we may have lost some data. Third, due to time limitations, we could not evaluate possible confounding variables such as antibiotics, supportive care and so on. Lastly, the study was not a comparative study, hence the efficacy of HFNC therapy versus other treatment options could not be interpreted.

Conclusion

This study showed that HHHFNC therapy was clinically effective and well tolerated and led to an early impact on patients with SBP in an ED. Treatment failure was higher in patients with a higher respiratory rate. Multicenter, randomized controlled large studies are needed to confirm efficacy of this therapy more accurately for children with pneumonia.

Ethics

Ethics Committee Approval: This study was approved by Ethics Board of Ege University (approval number: 17-4/6).

Informed Consent: All of the parents of the patients gave their informed consent prior to their child's inclusion in the study.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Authorship Contributions

Medical Practices: A.Y., E.U.S., Concept: A.Y., E.U.S., Design: A.Y., E.U.S., Data Collection or Processing: A.Y., E.U.S., Analysis or Interpretation: A.Y., E.U.S., Literature Search: A.Y., E.U.S., Writing: A.Y., E.U.S. **Conflict of Interest:** None of the authors had conflict of interest.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study received no financial support.

References

- 1. Neuman MI, Shah SS, Shapiro DJ, Hersh AL. Emergency department management of childhood pneumonia in the United States prior to publication of national guidelines. Acad Emerg Med 2013;20:240-6.
- 2. Kronman MP, Hersh AL, Feng R, Huang YS, Lee GE, Shah SS. Ambulatory visit rates and antibiotic prescribing for children with pneumonia, 1994-2007. Pediatrics 2011;127:411-8.
- WHO. Estimates Developed by the UN inter-agency group for child mortality estimation, report 2015. Geneva: World Health Organization, 2015.
- 4. Wardlaw T, Johansson EW, Hodge M. Pneumonia: The Forgotten Killer of Children. UNICEF's Division of Communication. New York: World Health Organization, 2006.
- 5. Duke T, Wandi F, Jonathan M, et al. Improved oxygen systems for childhood pneumonia: a multihospital effectiveness study in Papua New Guinea. Lancet 2008;372:1328-33.
- 6. Subhi R, Adamson M, Campbell H, Weber M, Smith K, Duke T; Hypoxaemia in Developing Countries Study Group. The prevalence of hypoxaemia among ill children in developing countries. Lancet Infect Dis 2009;9:219-27.
- Vanoni NM, Carugati M, Borsa N, et al. Management of acute respiratory failure due to community-acquired pneumonia: a systematic review. Med Sci (Basel) 2019;7. pii: E10.
- Mikalsen IB, Davis P, Øymar K. High flow nasal cannula in children: a literature review. Scand J Trauma Resusc Emerg Med 2016;24:93.
- 9. Wang J, Lee KP, Chong SL, Loi M, Lee JH. High flow nasal cannula in the emergency department: indications, safety and effectiveness. Expert Rev Med Devices 2018;15:929-35.
- 10. Long E, Babl FE, Duke T. Is there a role for humidified heated high-flow nasal cannula therapy in paediatric emergency departments? Emerg Med J 2016;33:386-9.
- 11. Wing R, James C, Maranda LS, Armsby CC. Use of highflow nasal cannula support in the emergency department reduces the need for intubation in pediatric acute respiratory insufficiency. Pediatr Emerg Care 2012;28:1117-23.
- Kelly GS, Simon HK, Sturm JJ. High-flow nasal cannula use in children with respiratory distress in the emergency department: predicting the need for subsequent intubation. Pediatr Emerg Care 2013;29:888-92.
- 13. Hansen G, Hochman J, Garner M, Dmytrowich J, Holt T. Pediatric early warning score and deteriorating ward patients on high-flow therapy. Pediatr Int 2019;61:278-83.
- Kamit Can F, Anil AB, Anil M, Zengin N, Durak F, Alparslan C, Goc Z. Predictive factors for the outcome of high flow nasal cannula therapy in a pediatric intensive care unit: Is the SpO2/ FiO2 ratio useful? J Crit Care 2018;44:436-44.
- 15. Bradley JS, Byington CL, Shah SS, et al; Pediatric Infectious Diseases Society and the Infectious Diseases Society of America. The management of community-acquired pneumonia in infants

and children older than 3 months of age: clinical practice guidelines by the Pediatric Infectious Diseases Society and the Infectious Diseases Society of America. Clin Infect Dis 2011;53:e25-76.

- Schuetz P, Wirz Y, Sager R, et al. Procalcitonin to initiate or discontinue antibiotics in acute respiratory tract infections. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2017;10:CD007498.
- Korppi M, Kroger L. C-reactive protein in viral and bacterial respiratory infection in children. Scand J Infect Dis 1993;25:207-13.
- Korppi M, Kröger L, Laitinen M. White blood cell and differential counts in acute respiratory viral and bacterial infections in children. Scand J Infect Dis 1993;25:435-540.
- 19. Shein SL, Slain KN, Rotta AT. High flow nasal cannula flow rates: New data worth the weight. J Pediatr 2017;189:9-10.
- 20. Duke T, Frank D, Mgone J. Hypoxaemia in children with severe pneumonia in Papua New Guinea. Int J TB Lung Dis 2000;5:511-9.
- Lazzerini M, Sonego M, Pellegrin MC. Hypoxaemia as a mortality risk factor in acute lower respiratory infections in children in low and middle-income countries: Systematic review and metaanalysis. PLoS One 2015;10:e0136166.
- Agweyu A, Lilford RJ, English M; Clinical Information Network Author Group. Appropriateness of clinical severity classification of new WHO childhood pneumonia guidance: a multi-hospital, retrospective, cohort study. Lancet Glob Health 2018;6:e74-e83.
- Von Saint André-Von Arnim AO, Okeyo B, Cook N, Steere M, Roberts J, Howard CRA, et al. Feasibility of high-flow nasal cannula implementation for children with acute lower respiratory tract disease in rural Kenya. Paediatr Int Child Health 2018;19:1-7.
- 24. Chisti MJ, Salam MA, Smith JH, et al. Bubble continuous positive airway pressure for children with severe pneumonia and hypoxaemia in Bangladesh: an open, randomised controlled trial. Lancet 2015;386:1057-65.
- 25. Kalburgi S, Halley T, Kolaitis IN, Hood K, Mittal V. A Review of Heated High-Flow Nasal Cannula in Pediatrics From Critical Care to Ward Use. Curr Treat Options Peds 2018;4:319-29.
- Er A, Çağlar A, Akgül F, et al. Early predictors of unresponsiveness to high-flow nasal cannula therapy in a pediatric emergency department. Pediatr Pulmonol 2018;53:809-15.
- 27. Abboud PA, Roth PJ, Skiles CL, Stolfi A, Rowin ME. Predictors of failure in infants with viral bronchiolitis treated with high-flow, highhumidity nasal cannula therapy. Pediatr Crit Care Med 2012;13:343-9.
- Kepreotes E, Whitehead B, Attia J, et al. High-flow warm humidified oxygen versus standard low-flow nasal cannula oxygen for moderate bronchiolitis (HFWHO RCT): an open, phase 4, randomised controlled trial. Lancet 2017;389:930-9.
- 29. Davison M, Watson M, Wockner L, Kinnear F. Paediatric highflow nasal cannula therapy in children with bronchiolitis: A retrospective safety and efficacy study in a non-tertiary environment. Emerg Med Australas 2017;29:198-203.
- Mayfield S, Bogossian F, O'Malley L, Schibler A. High-flow nasal can- nula oxygen therapy for infants with bronchiolitis: pilot study. J Paediatr Child Health 2014;50:373-8.

Original Article



Open Globe Injury in Children

Sevinç Şahin Atik

Katip Çelebi University Atatürk Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Opthalmology, İzmir, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Aim: To evaluate retrospectively the epidemiologic data and outcomes of pediatric open globe injury (OGI).

Materials and Methods: The medical records of all pediatric cases (<16 years old) diagnosed with OGI in İzmir Katip Çelebi University Atatürk Teaching and Research Hospital, Clinic of Ophthalmology between January 2009 and December 2018 were screened. Age, sex, history, cause of trauma, treatment received, visual acuity (VA) at presentation, and final VA were recorded.

Results: A total of 48 patients were included in this study. The mean age at the time of injury was 10.72 ± 4.74 years, ranging from 1 to 16 years. Game-related accidents were the most common cause of all pediatric OGI patients with a frequency of 58.3% (n=28). Of the OGIs 56.3% (n=27) were in zone I, followed by zone II (39.5%; n=19), and zone III (4.2%; n=2). Patients with vitreous hemorrhage or retinal detachment at admission were found to have a higher risk of poor prognosis. The principal predictor for a good visual outcome was found to be initial best-corrected VA over 20/200.

Conclusion: To predict the prognosis in the best way, every patient with OGI should be carefully evaluated both at the time of admission and during the follow-up period.

Keywords: Children, open globe injury, trauma, visual acuity

Introduction

Open globe injury (OGI) is defined as the complete laceration of the cornea or sclera, depending on trauma or other condition. It is one of the main causes of preventable monocular blindness in childhood. Despite the many important developments in ophthalmic surgery, the complete visual recovery after an OGI is almost impossible and OGIs often cause permanent visual loss. In underdeveloped and developing countries, the incidence of OGI in children is higher (1,2).

In this study, we aim to evaluate the visual outcome of OGI in pediatric cases and to analyze the epidemiologic data retrospectively.

Materials and Methods

After obtaining informed consent from patients and their families, the medical records of all patients aged 16 years or younger at the time of injury diagnosed with OGI in İzmir Katip Çelebi University Atatürk Teaching and Research Hospital, Clinic of Ophthalmology between January 2009 and December 2018 were retrospectively analyzed.

Demographic features including age, gender, cause and place of injury, date of injury, and eyes involved, were evaluated based on the clinical records. Initial visual acuity (VA), zone of injury, clinical signs, and associated features (hyphemia, lens injury, endophthalmitis, retinal detachment, laceration of eyelid/eyebrow, and vitreous hemorrhage) were recorded. Management, follow-up data including need for

Address for Correspondence

Sevinç Şahin Atik MD, Katip Çelebi University Atatürk Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Opthalmology, İzmir, Turkey Phone: +90 505 261 78 22 E-mail: drsevincsahin@yahoo.com ORCID: orcid.org/0000-0003-2566-8691 **Received:** 19.10.2019 **Accepted:** 21.11.2019

> ©Copyright 2020 by Ege University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pediatrics and Ege Children's Foundation The Journal of Pediatric Research, published by Galenos Publishing House.

additional surgery, and the final VA were noted.

The zone of injury was defined by the location of the globe opening: zone I injuries were confined to the cornea and limbus, zone II involved the anterior 5 mm of the sclera, and zone III injuries involved full-thickness scleral defects >5 mm posterior to the limbus. Initial and final VAs were classified as no light perception, light perception, hand motion, 1/200-19/200, 20/200-20/50, and \geq 20/40. According to the differences between initial and final VAs, the patients were grouped into those with or without improvement in VA.

Statistical Analysis

Statistical analysis was performed on IBM Statistical Package for Social Sciences (SPSS) software (version 22, SPSS, Inc, Chicago, IL, USA). Continuous and categorical variables were displayed as mean ± standard deviation and percentages, respectively. The student's t-test was used to assess the differences between means. Differences between categorical variables were analyzed by chi-square test and the analysis of variance for continuous variables. P values <0.05 were considered to be statistically significant.

Results

A total of 48 patients, diagnosed with OGI, were included in the study. The mean age at the time of injury was 10.72 ± 4.74 years, ranging from 1 to 16 years. This was 10.57 ± 4.73 years for boys and 11.15 ± 4.95 years for girls. Thirty-five of the cases were male (72.9%). Of the patients with OGI, 18 (37.5%) involved the right eye, and 30 (62.5%) involved the left eye.

Game-related accidents were the most common causes of all pediatric OGI patients with a frequency of 58.3% (n=28). Injuries resulted from home accidents in 18.7% (n=9), traffic accidents in 8.3% (n=4), work accidents in 6.2% (n=3), fighting in 6.2% (n=3) and falls in 2% (n=1). Of all cases, 91.6% (n=44) were admitted to our hospital within the first 24 hours of injury. Of the OGIs, 56.3% (n=27) were in zone I, followed by zone II (39.5%; n=19), and zone III (4.2%; n=2). Injuries were most often caused by glass (29.2%; n=14), wood (18.8%; n=9), pencils (8.3%; n=4), and knives (6,3%; n=3).

Hyphemia and iris prolapses were the most common signs on admission (58.3%, n=28 and 58.3%, n=28, respectively), followed by vitreous hemorrhage (25%; n=12), laceration on eyelid and/or eyebrow (16.7%; n=8), and retinal detachment (10.4%; n=5).

The mean follow-up time of the patients (n=48) was

232.37 days (median: 90 days; min 1- max 1.710 days). Traumatic cataract was noted in 39.6% (n=19) of cases during the follow-up period. No intraocular foreign bodies were detected in our cohort. In 3 eyes (6.3%), phthisis bulbi was noted. Nine patients (18.7%) required an additional operation after the primary repair.

The initial and final best-corrected visual acuity (BCVA) could be measured in 46 of 48 patients. The association between initial BCVA and final visual outcome is shown in Table 1. Patients with vitreous hemorrhage or retinal detachment at admission were found to have a higher risk of poor prognosis (Table 1).

Discussion

Disintegrity of the eye globe after a trauma is known as OGI. Rapid diagnosis and referral to a specialist for OGI is essential to improve the prognosis of the affected eye. This is also important for the pediatric age group. The overall incidence of OGI has been reported to be 2.8 to 3.9 per 100,000 (1,3-5). There are a few studies that report the incidence of pediatric OGIs in the literature. Batur et al. (1) reported that the annual incidence rates of OGI in the pediatric population was 5.16 per 100,000.

The incidence of OGIs in pediatric ages is generally reported to range from 6.6 years to 11.6 years. In our study, it was found to be 10.72 years. There was no statistically significant difference in mean age between girls and boys. In the literature, it was reported that boys were more susceptible to OGI than girls (1). The ratio of boys to girls with OGI ranges from 1.66:1 to 5.25:1. In accordance with this data, 72.9% of the cases were male in this study and the ratio of boys to girls was 2.69:1.

It was also reported that game-related accidents were the most common cause of pediatric OGIs. Consistent with the literature, in 58.3% of cases, game-related accidents were found to be responsible for the OGI in our study (6-9). The most common causative objects of the injuries were glass and pencil in this study. Both objects causing OGIs cumulatively accounted for 48% of all cases. Although some previous studies have reported similar results about causative objects (8), many of them have determined that knives and scissors were responsible for most cases (6,10,11).

The results of the studies regarding which eye is more commonly affected in OGIs suggests that pediatric OGI affects both eyes at similar rates (1,7,8,12,13). In our study, we showed only a slight difference between the right and left eyes. The left eye was more commonly affected than the right eye.

<20/200		Final visual outcome				
			≥20/200	р		
Initial VA	<20/200 (n=15)	11	4	<0.001		
	≥20/200 (n=32)	4	28			
Ocular findings		No improvement in VA (n=15)	Improvement in VA (n=32)	P		
· · · ·	Yes	8	20	0.751		
Iris prolapses	No	7	12	0.751		
Hyphemia	Yes	9	19	1 0 0 0		
	No	6	13	1.000		
Traumatic cataract	Yes	8	10	0.201		
	No	7	22			
(itus sus la sus such s se	Yes	8	4	0.000		
vitreous nemorrnage	No	7	28	0.009		
	Yes	5	0			
Retinal detachment	No	10	32	0.002		
	Yes	5	3	0.05(
Laceration on eyelid and/or eyebrow	No	10	29	0.056		
	1	6	20			
Zone of injury	11	7	12	0.056		
		2	0			

Table I. The according between initial best connected viewel equity and final viewel outcome, and viewel outcome in nationate with various

Despite significant advances in microsurgery, pediatric OGI continues to cause visual morbidity. After an OGI, 30.4% of pediatric cases in this study were found to have a poor visual outcome. The main goal of this study was to define the factors that determine the final VA in pediatric patients with OGIs. The effects of all parameters evaluated in this study on prognosis were statistically analyzed. The principal predictor for a good visual outcome was found to be initial BCVA over 20/200. Vitreous hemorrhage and retinal detachment were also predictors of a poor visual outcome (Table 1). Lesniak et al. (6) reported that the presenting VA is the best predictor of final vision, which is consistent with our study.

In 2002, Kuhn et al. (14) developed an Ocular Trauma score (OTS). They suggested that final VA could be predicted using clinical features such as initial VA, the presence of globe rupture or perforating injury, endophthalmitis, retinal detachment, and/or relative afferent pupillary defect. However, Pediatric OTS was then developed because it was difficult to evaluate the afferent pupil defect in children (15). As one of the limitations of our study, we did not calculate OTS in our cohort.

In conclusion, here we report some clinical features and their indicating potential on visual outcome after an OGI in pediatric patients. To predict the prognosis most effectively, every patient with OGI should be carefully evaluated both at the time of admission and during the follow-up period. Appropriate safety measures and adult supervision may be recommended to reduce the incidence of ocular trauma in children.

Ethics

Ethics Committee Approval: Ethics committee approval was received.

Inform Consent: Retrospective study.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Financial Disclosure: This research received no specific grant from any funding agency, commercial or not-forprofit sectors.

References

- Batur M, Seven E, Akaltun MN, Tekin S, Yasar T. Epidemiology of Open Globe Injury in Children. J Craniofac Surg 2017;28:1976-81.
- Sahin Atik S, Ugurlu S, Egrilmez ED. Open Globe Injury: Demographic and Clinical Features. J Craniofac Surg 2018;29:628-31.
- Knyazer B, Bilenko N, Levy J, et al. Open globe eye injury characteristics and prognostic factors in southern Israel: a retrospective epidemiologic review of 10 years experience. Isr Med Assoc J 2013;15:158-62.
- 4. Schrader WF. Open globe injuries: epidemiological study of two eye clinics in Germany, 1981-1999. Croat Med J 2004;45:268-74.
- Casson RJ, Walker JC, Newland HS. Four-year review of open eye injuries at the Royal Adelaide Hospital. Clin Exp Ophthalmol 2002;30:15-8.
- Lesniak SP, Bauza A, Son JH, et al. Twelve-year review of pediatric traumatic open globe injuries in an urban U.S. population. J Pediatr Ophthalmol Strabismus 2012;49:73-9.
- Choovuthayakorn J, Patikulsila P, Patikulsila D, Watanachai N, Pimolrat W. Characteristics and outcomes of pediatric open globe injury. Int Ophthalmol 2014;34:839-44.
- Behbehani AM, Lotfy N, Ezzdean H, Albader S, Kamel M, Abul N. Open eye injuries in the pediatric population in Kuwait. Med Princ Pract 2002;11:183-9.

- Schörkhuber MM, Schneider MR, Riedl R, Wackernagel W, Brandner M, Wedrich A. Gender differences in open globe injuries in children. Spektrum Augenheilkd 2013;27:305–10.
- Sari A, Adiguzel U, Dinc E, et al. Epidemiologic evaluation of childhood penetrating eye injuries. Turk J Ophthalmol 2008;38:504–9.
- Soylu M, Demircan N, Yalaz M, Işigüzel I. Etiology of pediatric perforating eye injuries in southern Turkey. Ophthalmic Epidemiol 1998;5:7-12.
- Lee C-H, Lee L, Kao L-Y, Lin K-K, Yang M-L. Prognostic indicators of open globe injuries in children. Am J Emerg Med 2009;27:530-5.
- Bunting H, Stephens D, Mireskandari K. Prediction of visual outcomes after open globe injury in children: a 17-year Canadian experience. J AAPOS 2013;17:43-8.
- Kuhn F, Maisiak R, Mann L, Mester V, Morris R, Witherspoon CD. The ocular trauma score (OTS). Ophthalmol Clin North Am 2002;15:163-5, vi.
- Schörkhuber MM, Wackernagel W, Riedl R, Schneider MR, Wedrich A. Ocular trauma scores in paediatric open globe injuries. Br J Ophthalmol 2014;98:664-8.



Occurrence of Unexpected Adverse Reactions to Vaccines in Children with Mastocytosis

🛛 Hanna Abuhay, 🔿 Alicia S. Clark, 🖾 Melody C. Carter

A Laboratory of Allergic Diseases, National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases, National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, MD

ABSTRACT

Aim: Children with cutaneous or systemic mastocytosis may experience severe manifestations of mast cell mediator release including anaphylaxis. The perceived risk for adverse vaccine reactions creates concern among parents and pediatricians regarding modification of the routine vaccine schedule for safety.

Materials and Methods: Using the National Institutes of Health (NIH) Biomedical Translational Research Information System and Clinical Research Information System, we conducted a retrospective chart review of 94 children ≤18 years of age, evaluated at NIH with mastocytosis. Based on the recommended childhood immunization schedule, we estimated that these 94 patients received approximately 2,136 vaccinations. Post vaccination reactions were determined as expected or unexpected according to the centers for disease control (CDC) parameters for vaccine-associated events.

Results: Eighty-four patients (89.4%) had no reports of moderate-severe post-vaccination reactions. Eleven reactions after vaccination were reported in 10 of 94 patients (10.6%), of which four patients had unexpected reactions (4.3%). Unexpected reactions included facial swelling, flushing and exacerbation of skin lesions which are not reported as possible vaccine reactions by the CDC. One patient was treated for anaphylaxis 2 hours post-varicella vaccine administration. Five patients with a history of anaphylaxis and a mean tryptase level of 115 ng/mL did not report vaccine-induced reactions.

Conclusion: Children with mastocytosis in this study did not experience a higher rate of adverse vaccine reactions compared to the general population. Anaphylaxis to other causes was not a risk factor for an untoward vaccine response. In patients that experience a severe postvaccination reaction such as anaphylaxis, a modified schedule with single vaccine administration is a safer approach.

Keywords: Pediatrics, mastocytosis, vaccines

Introduction

Mastocytosis is a disease of many variants characterized by abnormal aggregates of mast cells in tissues, most commonly the skin, bone marrow, liver, spleen, and lymph nodes (1). The clinical manifestations of disease include flushing, urticaria, pruritus, diarrhea, and abdominal pain (2). Disease onset may occur both in the pediatric and adult populations, with varying prognoses. Mastocytosis is classified into cutaneous and systemic mastocytosis (SM) based on the presence of mast cell infiltrates in the skin and/or extracutaneous organs, respectively. The serum tryptase value is usually a reflection of total mast cell burden and can range from normal (<11.4 ng/mL to significangly elevated in cutaneous and systemic disease. SM, which is commonly seen in adult-onset mastocytosis, may also present in the pediatric age group (1). Cutaneous

Address for Correspondence

Melody C. Carter, A Laboratory of Allergic Diseases, National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases, National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, MD Phone: 240-476-0872 E-mail: mcarter@niaid.nih.gov ORCID: orcid.org/0000-0003-0379-5366 Received: 04.10.2019 Accepted: 02.12.2019

©Copyright 2020 by Ege University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pediatrics and Ege Children's Foundation

The Journal of Pediatric Research, published by Galenos Publishing House

mastocytosis is most common in pediatric onset mastocytosis (3). There are three variants of cutaneous mastocytosis: mastocytoma (MTOMA), maculopapular cutaneous mastocytosis (MPCM), and diffuse cutaneous mastocytosis (DCM) (4). Some common non-immunologic triggers of disease symptoms include stress, change in temperature and exercise (2). Vaccines have been reported as possible triggers of symptoms which has created some concerns regarding the vaccination of patients with mastocytosis (5-7).

There have been a limited number of studies exploring the eliciting nature of vaccines resulting in excessive mast cell degranulation in patients with mastocytosis. Anaphylaxis after vaccination in a patient with DCM has been reported (8). There is a recent report of a patient with DCM that experienced blistering and urticaria following the administration of a live viral vaccine, which prompted a recommendation for premedation before live viral vaccines for patients with DCM (9).

In a separate study, there was a report of nine patients with mastocytosis who experienced mast cell activation triggered by vaccines (5). There have also been two reports of the development of a MTOMA at the site of injection (10,11). In another study, the occurrence of an adverse reaction due to the first administration of a hexavalent vaccine was reported in four patients and these included bullous lesions, urticaria and bronchospasm, which was not seen in the comparison control population (6). On this basis, the first administration of a vaccine to a patient with mastocytosis has been recommended to be done under additional clinical supervision (6). Premedication and single component vaccine administration has also been suggested for patients with DCM, as a preventive measure (6,7).

Previous reports of adverse reactions in patients with mastocytosis associated with vaccination did not identify specific components of vaccines responsible for triggering the release of mast cell mediators. With the exception of the hexavalent vaccine in one study, (6) there are no reports of a particular vaccine more commonly associated with adverse reactions in patients with mastocytosis. The rate of post-vaccination reactions in the general population depends on the type of vaccine. Symptoms such as swelling and redness at the site of injection for the diphtheria, tetanus, and pertussis (DTaP), pneumococcal conjugate vaccine (PCV), human papillomavirus (HPV)- GardasilO9, Td, and Tdap vaccines, range from 0.2 to 90% of all children (12).

Our current study examines the occurence of postvaccination reactions in children with mastocytosis compared to the data available for the general pediatric population. In order to evaluate whether children with mastocytosis exhibit more reactions due to vaccination, we reviewed the relationship between the number, severity and type of reported reactions to vaccines in patients with mastocytosis. In addition, we looked for correlations with onset and variant of the disease, as well as the type of vaccine associated with the reactions.

Materials and Methods

Using the NIH Biomedical Translational Research Information System and the NIH Clinical Research Information System, we conducted a retrospective chart review of 94 children evaluated at NIH from 1984 to 2018 with mastocytosis. The age of the patients when vaccine history was deteremined was \leq 18 years of age. Informed consent to participate in the IRB-approved and NIH Ethicsapproved protocol (NCT00044122) was obtained from all parents and also children \geq 6 years of age. Mastocytosis variant was determined according to the WHO criteria for cutaneous and systemic disease (4). We queried using the search terms "immunizations", "vaccination" and "vaccines".

The total vaccines administered to patients born between 1994 to 2018 obtained from annual visit questionnaire while at NIH, was determined using the centers for disease control (CDC)'s recommended childhood immunization schedule of the patient's date of birth (13). The vaccine count for patients born between 1984 to 1988 and 1989 to 1993 was determined according to the 1984 and 1989 CDC's immunization schedule, respectively. Haemophilus influenzae type b vaccine (HbCV/Hib) was only counted for patients born after 1989. For patients born in 1989, one administration of HbCV was counted. The third administration of Hib administered at six months was counted for patients born in 1994 and patients born after 2007. Hepatitis B was counted for patients born after 1990. The second administration of measles, mumps and rubella (MMR) was counted for patients born after 1994. The third administration of Hib was counted for patients born in 1994 and patients born after 2007. The first administration of the varicella vaccine was counted for patients born after 1996 and the second administration was counted for patients born after 2007. Rotavirus vaccine was counted for patients born in 1999 and patients born after 2007. PCV was counted for patients born after 2001. Hepatitis A was counted for patients born after 2006. The changes made in CDC's recommended age for administration of specific vaccines between 1984-2018 was taken into account for the vaccine count of patients. Newly added vaccines to the immunization schedule were counted for patients that were of age to receive the vaccine by the time it was administered (Supplemental Figure).

Using the CDC reports, we identified possible side effects to vaccinations based on data from the general population and designated these as expected or as unexpected, the latter of which are reactions not listed in the CDC's report of possible mild or moderate side effects for a given vaccine. Common mild symptoms include fever (100 °F), redness or swelling at the injection site, extended swelling beyond the injection site, fussiness, headache or tiredness. Moderate symptoms are those associated with an interference of usual activities and include fever (102 °F), nausea and vomiting. Based on CDC reports, severe adverse allergic reactions are those that require medical attention such as a serious allergic reaction, can be caused by any medication and are estimated to occur at about 1 in a million and thus, classified as unexpected for our study.

Statistical Analysis

A univariate analysis was used to describe the distribution of mean age in years for each disease group and measure the standard deviation.

Results

Ninety-four patients with macular papular cutaneous mastocytosis (MPCM) (59%), DCM (14%), MTOMA (5%) and indolent systemic mastocytosis (ISM) (22%) were estimated



1983-1988: DTP,OPV, MMR, and Td were administered

Supplemental Figure. Changes in CDC Vaccination Schedule 1989-2018

1983-1988: DTP, OPV, MMR, and Td were administered. Six new vaccines, HbCV/Hib, HepB, VAR, RV, PCV, and HepA have been added since 1988. Administration of the RV vaccine was discontinued between 2000 to 2007. A second administration of the MMR and Varicella vaccines was added in 1994 and 2007, respectively.

RV: Rotavirus vaccine, PCV: Pneumococcal conjugate vaccine, MMR: Measles, mumps and rubella, OPV: Oral poliovirus vaccine, CDC: Centers for disease control to have received a total of 2136 separate administrations of vaccines. When considering adverse vaccine reactions, overall there was no difference in gender distribution amoung those with mild-severe reactions; and patients with MPCM had fewer reported reactions based on total number of vaccines received (Table I). Eighty-five patients (90%) had the onset of mastocytosis before the age of two years old, of which nine (10%) patients had reported reactions to vaccines (Table IIA). Nine patients had onset of the disease after two years of age, of which one patient (11%) reported a reaction to a vaccination. Twenty-three patients at the time of their annual visit and vaccinaiton questionnaire were less than two years old, 15 patients were between the age of 2-6 years old and 56 patients were between the age of 6-18 years old (Table IIB). According to the current

Table I. Demographics of	pediatric	patients	with	mastocytosis
who received vaccination				

Variant	мрсм	DCM	мтома	ISM	Total
Number of patients	55	13	5	21	94
Gender F/M	28/27	4/9	1/4	8/13	41/53
Current age in years (mean ± SD)	17.13±7.3	11.27±7.4	14.40±7.7	15.54±7.1	15.84±7.3
Number of patients with reported reactions	4	3	1	2	10

 $\mathsf{MPCM}:$ Maculopapular cutaneous mastocytosis, DCM: Diffuse cutaneous mastocytosis,

MTOMA: Mastocytoma, ISM: Indolent systemic mastocytosis, SD: Standard deviation

Table IIA. Age of onset of mastocytosis						
Age of onset	Before 2 years	After 2 years				
Number of patients	85	9				
Number of patients with reactions	9	1				

Table IIB. Vaccine history related to age

1	0		
Age Group	Birth -2 years	2-6 years	6-18 years
Number of patients	23	15	56
Total Vaccine doses/patient	23	6	1
Total Vaccine types/patient	8*	5 †	1‡

Various ages are represented in each age range and not reflective of total vaccines administered. * :DTaP, IPV, Hep A, Hep B, Hib/HbCV, MMR, PCV, VAR; †: Hep A DTap, IPV, MMR, VAR; [‡]: Tdap

DTaP: Diphtheria, tetanus, and pertussis, IPV: Inactivated polio vaccine, MMR: Measles, mumps and rubella, VAR

vaccination recommendation, a total of 23 administrations of eight different vaccines are to be given before age 2 years. Between the two groups (2-6 and 6-18 years), a total of seven administrations of six different vaccines are recommended (Table IIB). At the time of data collection, patients through age 6 years (60%) had received 96% of the recommended vaccines and thus the data reflects the majority of possible reported events.

Eighty-four (89.4%) of the 94 patients did not have any moderate-severe reactions to vaccinations. Ten patients were reported to have a total of 11 expected and unexpected reactions associated with vaccination after onset of



Figure. Total Vaccine administrations and vaccines associated with unexpected reactions (URs)

2136 vaccines were administered to 94 patients (Total bar), of which 4 administrations were associated with URs (remaining bars). In 3 patients with

URs, DTap was associated with one alone; MMR and HPV with DTaP in one and VAR with one. In the fourth patient, the eliciting

vaccine was not identified (data not shown), MMR: Measles, mumps and rubella, HPV: Human papillomavirus, DTaP: Diphtheria, tetanus, and pertussis, VAR:

mastocytosis. The time of occurrence of a post-vaccination reaction was specified for one reaction associated with anaphylaxis. The mastocytosis variant of the six patients with expected reactions included MPCM, DCM, ISM and MTOMA, with tryptase levels ranging from 3.4 -139 ng/mL (data not shown). The four patients that experienced unexpected vaccine reactions had tryptase values ranging from 5.1-62.9 ng/mL (Table III). Thus, the serum tryptase level was not predictive of an adverse reaction in our cohort.

Four patients (4%) had reactions that were associated with unexpected symptoms including anaphylaxis, urticaria or exacerbation of skin lesions, flushing, facial swelling and GI symptoms beyond the common expected side effects enlisted by the CDC, such as fever, redness and swelling at the site of injection (Table III). Four vaccinations (DTaP, MMR, HPV and Varicella) out of the 2136 (0.18%) administered were reported as responsible for the unexpected reactions (Figure). Patient 1 with MPCM was reported to have experienced flushing, abdominal pain, vomiting, wheezing, dizziness and to have had an anaphylactic episode two hours after receiving the second varicella vaccine. The patient was treated with epinephrine. A second patient (patient 2) with MPCM, experienced eye swelling and flushing with the DTaP vaccine. Similarly, a patient 3 who had ISM experienced facial swelling, flushing and accentuation (swelling) of lesions of MPCM following the administration of HPV, DTaP and MMR. A patient with DCM, patient 4, reported mild flushing and urticaria, but the eliciting vaccine was unknown (Table III). These reactions were unique to patients with mastocytosis and not reported as common adverse reactions in the general population.

There were five other patients with a history of anaphylaxis who did not have any vaccine-induced reactions (Table IV). One of these patients had experienced anaphylaxis

Table III. Clinical data of patients with unexpected reactions to vaccination							
Patient	Age of disease onset	Tryptase level (ng/mL)	Variant	Reaction inducing vaccine	Reaction	Treatment	
1	Birth	5.1	МСРМ	varicella	flushing, abdominal pain, vomiting, wheezing and dizziness (anaphylaxis)	epinephrine	
2	5 months	6.1	МСРМ	DTaP	eye swelling, flushing	N/A	
3	15 years	62.9	ISM	HPV DTaP MMR	facial swelling, flushing and exacerbation of MPCM lesions	N/A	
4	Birth	23.4	DCM	N/A	mild flushing and urticaria	N/A	

NA-not available; Normal serum tryptase £11.4 ng/mL,

MCPM: Maculopapular cutaneous mastocytosis, ISM: Indolent systemic mastocytosis, DCM: Diffuse cutaneous mastocytosis, DTaP: Diphtheria, tetanus, and pertussis, HPV: Human papillomavirus, MMR, Measles, mumps and rubella

Table IV. Anaphylaxis history						
	Number of patients	Trigger	Age at time of episode			
Non-vaccine associated anaphylaxis	5	Idiopathic anaphylaxis* Fire Ant ı	≥2 years			
Vaccine associated anaphylaxis	1	Varicella vaccine	5 years			

*: One episode each of idiopathic anaphylaxis in four patients; +: Two episodes of fire ant-induced anaphylaxis in one patient

to fire ant and the remaining four were diagnosed with idiopathic anaphylaxis. Although previous anaphylaxis to a vaccine is reported to be associated with an increased risk of subsequent severe reactions, anaphylaxis to other causes was not associated with the same increase risk in our study.

Discussion

The prevalence of vaccine-induced reactions was not greater in our patients with mastocytosis compared to the general population and the unexpected reactions occurred in 4.2% of our patients. With the exception of anaphylaxis, the unexpected reactions in patients with mastocytosis were illustrative of mast cell-medicated symptoms associated with their primary disease and therefore not reported in the general population. Eighty-nine percent of the patients in this study did not have a history of post-vaccination reactions and only 0.18% of vaccine administrations were associated with unexpected reactions (Figure). Most pediatric vaccines (77%) are administered before the age of two. Since 75% of our patients are in the age group (>age 2 years) that received most of the recommended vaccines, we feel this data is reflective of a low risk for unexpected postvaccination reactions.

Expected reactions to vaccines are reported in the general population. The mild and moderate symptoms associated with specific vaccines occur at varying prevalence reported as 0.2% to 90% depending on the vaccine (12). Only seven patients (7.4%) in our cohort had reports of symptoms such as fever, localized rash, swelling and redness at site of injection, which are expected reactions identified by the CDC as commonly reported side effects. Thus, the safety profile in our patients with mastocytosis did not suggest an increased risk of severe reactions to vaccines.

Unexpected reactions were reported in four patients (4.2%), of which one patient had a report of second expected reaction as well. Four vaccines, HPV, DTaP, MMR, and Varicella were reported to be associated with these

unexpected reactions (Figure). Although the adverse event to the second dose of varicella in patient one was severe enough to require administration of epinephrine, the patient suffered no prolonged or residual side effects and was able to tolerate subsequent vaccines. Anaphylaxis to vaccines reportedly identifies patients as high risk for subsequent vaccinations (14). Vaccine components such as, yeast, egg, gelatin, and latex have been linked to some post-vaccination allergic reactions in the general population (14). Thus, it has been suggested that patients with anaphylaxis to vaccines be evaluated for the responsible allergen as a preventive measure (14). Additionally, the administration of single vaccines has been widely recommended for patients with mastocytosis to include extended post-vaccination medical supervision for 30 minutes to 2 hours (6,14). Based on our experience, we think a post-vaccination observation period, as recommened in previous studies, is a reasonable approach.

Five patients reported episodes of anaphylaxis that were not attributed to any vaccines. These reactions in these patients were noted to have occurred at \geq 2 years, after they had received the majority of their vaccines. According to the risk assessment for adverse vaccine reactions published by the European Academy of Allergy and Clinical Immunology (14), patients who have experienced anaphylaxis unrelated to vaccines are not thought to be at higher risk to an adverse vaccine response (14). Our data also supports this observation and these patients do not have to opt out of receiving vaccines.

There was no particular trend with respect to mastocytosis variant or serum tryptase level noted amongst patients with post-vaccination reactions. Patients with extensive cutaneous involvement such as DCM and elevated serum tryptase levels have been reported to be at a higher risk for severe mast cell activation episodes (5). Although patients with DCM represent a smaller number (14%) in our study, the number of reactions was similar to the patients with MPCM (59%) (Table 1). It is, however, important to note that the most severe reaction occurred in a patient who would not have been predicted to be at high risk for severe mast cell activation reactions. This patient has MPCM, a tryptase level of 5.1 ng/mL and no previous adverse reaction to vaccine administration. On the contrary, the five patients with a history of anaphylaxis and a mean tryptase level of 115 ng/mL had no reports of reactions due to vaccines.

Our study limitations are based on limited sample size for the variant, DCM, MTOMA and ISM and thus a quantitative comparison in the number of reactions was not

made between variants as a result. The vaccine responsible for the unexpected reaction in patient 4 was not available in our medical chart. In addition, the temporal association between three of the unexpected reactions and vaccine administration was not precisely identified.

Conclusion

Collectively, our data agrees with the literature and does not indicate patients with mastocytosis to be at an overall greater risk for vaccine-induced reactions. Patients with DCM may be at higher risk for more severe reactions to a variety of triggers including vaccines as noted in several case reports (5,7,9). However, vaccines were not a trigger in several of our patients indicated to be at higher risk for severe mast cell activation episodes. Nonetheless, precaution such as prolonged medical supervision (30 minutes-2 hours) following vaccination should be taken when vaccinating as there are a few reports of patients with unexpected reactions, which can be severe. This is particularly important in patients with a history of a previous expected moderate reaction or an unexpected reaction of any severity.

Acknowledgements

Dean D Metcalfe, MD - Critical review and editing of the manuscript. Linda Scott and Daly Cantave-coordinated and supervised data collection.

Ethics

Ethics Committee Approval: National Institutes of Health Ethics- approved protocol (NCT00044122)

Informed Consent: Informed consent to participate in the IRB-approved protocol (NCT00044122) was obtained from all parents and also children ≥ 6 years of age.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Authorship Contributionss

Design: A.S.C., H.A., M.C.C., Data Collection or Processing: H.A., Analysis or Interpretation: A.S.C., H.A., M.C.C., Writing: H.A., M.C.C

Conflict of Interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest relevant to this article to disclose.

Financial Disclosure: This work was supported by the Division of Intramural Research, National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases, National Institutes of Health.

References

- Valent P, Akin C, Escribano L, et al. Standards and standardization in mastocytosis: Consensus Statements on Diagnostics, Treatment Recommendations and Response Criteria. Eur J Clin Invest 2007;37:435-53.
- 2. Broesby-Olsen S, Carter M, Kjaer HF, et al. Pediatric Expression of Mast Cell Activation Disorders. Immunol Allergy Clin North Am 2018;38:365-377.
- Hartmann K, Escribano L, Grattan C, et al. Cutaneous manifestations in patients with mastocytosis: Consensus report of the European Competence Network on Mastocytosis; the American Academy of Allergy, Asthma & Immunology; and the European Academy of Allergology and Clinical Immunology. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2016;137:35-45.
- Akin C, Valent P. Diagnostic criteria and classification of mastocytosis in 2014. Immunol Allergy Clin North Am 2014;34:207-18.
- Alvarez-Twose I, Vañó-Galván S, Sánchez-Muñoz L, et al. Increased serum baseline tryptase levels and extensive skin involvement are predictors for the severity of mast cell activation episodes in children with mastocytosis. Allergy 2012;67:813-21.
- Parente R, Pucino V, Magliacane D, et al. Evaluation of vaccination safety in children with mastocytosis. Pediatr Allergy Immunol 2017;28:93-5.
- Bankova LG, Walter JE, Iyengar SR, Lorenzo ME, Hornick JL, Castells MC. Generalized Bullous Eruption after Routine Vaccination in a Child with Diffuse Cutaneous Mastocytosis. J Allergy Clin Immunol Pract 2013;1:94-6.
- Brockow K, Jofer C, Behrendt H, Ring J. Anaphylaxis in patients with mastocytosis: a study on history, clinical features and risk factors in 120 patients. Allergy 2008;63:226-32.
- Gupta M, Akin C, Sanders GM, Chan MP, Ross CW, Castells MC. Blisters, Vaccines, and Mast Cells: A Difficult Case of Diffuse Cutaneous Mastocytosis. The Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology: In Practice 2019;7:1370-2.
- 10. Koh MJ, Chong WS. Red Plaque After Hepatitis B Vaccination. Pediatr Dermatol 2008;25:381-2.
- 11. Poulton JK, Kauffman CL, Lutz LL, Sina B. Solitary mastocytoma arising at a hepatitis B vaccination site. Cutis 1999;63:37-40.
- 12. Center for Disease Control and Prevention. Possible Side-effects from Vaccines. Vol 2019. ed2018.
- 13. Center for Disease Control and Prevention. Resource Library: Prior Years' Child/Adolescent Immunization Schedules. Vol 20182018.
- Nilsson L, Brockow K, Alm J, et al. Vaccination and allergy: EAACI position paper, practical aspects. Pediatr Allergy Immunol 2017;28:628-40.

Erratum

DOI: 10.4274/jpr.galenos.2020.e1

Tekgül N, Yamazhan M. The Effects of Maternal Anemia in Pregnant Women with Respect to the Newborn Weight and the Placental Weight in the Delivery Room. J Pediatr Res 2019;6(4):342-6

References

- 7. Goudet S, Murira Z, Torlesse H, Hatchard J, Busch-Hallen J. Effectiveness of programme approaches to improve the coverage of maternal nutrition interventions in South Asia. Matern Child Nutr. 2018;14; 12699, 2018
- 8. Lebrun A, Plante AS, Savard C, Dugas C, Fontaine-Bisson B, Lemieux S3, Robitaille J, Morisset AS. Tracking of Dietary Intake and Diet Quality from Late Pregnancy to the Postpartum Period. Nutrients, 3;11-19, 2019.
- 9. Bailey RL, Pac SG, Fulgoni VL, Reidy KC, Catalano PM. Estimation of Total Usual Dietary Intakes of Pregnant Women in the United States. JAMA Netw Open. 5;2-6, 2019
- 10. Hahn KA, Wesselink AK, Wise LA, Mikkelsen EM, Cueto HT, Tucker KL, Vinceti M, Rothman KJ, Sorensen HT, Hatch EE. Iron Consumption Is Not Consistently Associated with Fecundability among North American and Danish Pregnancy Planners. J Nutr 49(9):1585-1595,2019.